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February 14, 2001

The U. S. General Services A dministration, known throughout the Federal community as GSA, has grown
with the times to become an agent for change in our Government.  No longer a mandatory source, GSA has
become increasingly attentive to the needs of Federal employees and the citizens they work for.  We have
committed ourselves to bringing best practices and the latest technology to the Federal workplace, while
leveraging the large Federal market to provide the Government the best va lue ava ilable for commercia l -
qua lity goods and services.

In the past few years, GSA has become adept at using the Internet, transacting business electronica lly

and helping others do so.  Federal agencies can easily get the support they need to do their work.  A nd

A mericans wishing to do business with the Government now can avoid traveling to Government offices,

wa iting in line, or ma iling paper forms. 

This FY 2000 A nnual Report highlights the many ways in which GSA is helping the Government save time

and money by doing business online.  It testifies to the agency ’s ability to meet the cha llenges of a rapidly

changing economic, technological and regulatory environment.  I would like to acknowledge the

lea dership role played in this arena by former A dministrator David J. Barram, who gave all GSA

employees access to the Internet in 1996 and left the agency in December 2000.

The other important story set forth in this A nnual Report is that of GSA’s financial soundness.   With

annual business volume of over $16 billion, more than the 108th ranked Fortune 500 company, GSA

manages an extensive and complex array of financial transactions.  This year, for the 13th year in a row,

we received an unqua lified opinion from our independent auditors.  This long, strong and unblemished

record is unmatched by any major Executive Branch agency in the Federal Government.  

I am proud of GSA’s tra dition of customer- centered service and fiscal conservatism, and I am confident

we will carry it into the years to come.

Thurman M. Davis, Sr.
Acting Administrator
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L etter from the A cting A dministrator



The 2000 GSA A nnual Report is an

A ccountabil ity Report produced under the

gui del ines of the Governm e nt M a nagem e nt

R eform A ct of 1994.  The report pro v i des a

3 6 0 - deg ree view of the U.S. General

S erv i ces A dm ini stration by augm e nting 

t he traditional audited consol i dated

fina nci al information, as required under 

t he Chief Fina nci al Offi cers A ct of 1990,

w ith performa nce information and 

rev iews of ma nagem e nt controls .
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H aving integrated the Internet into all GSA progra m s ,
we have stepped to the fo refront in the dri ve to enable 
all A m e ricans to interact with their Government online

O ve r v i e w



GSA is taking the lead in bringing electronic innovation to the Federa l

G overnment.  Known for building beautiful and monumental courthouses, border

stations and other Federal facilities, GSA has become equa lly impressive at building

connections. S till the primary provider of space, products, services, technology

and policy lea dership for Federal agencies, GSA is increasingly using Internet - age

technology to do so.  

H aving integrated the Internet into all GSA programs, we have stepped to the

forefront in the drive to enable all A mericans to conduct secure and private online

transactions with their Government. GSA has a large role to play in ensuring the

integrity of online Government processes, the ease and speed of Government -

citizen interaction, the consistency of communication, and the protection of

individual privacy and security of Government information.  We are particularly

proud to have taken the lead in several areas that put the "e" in e-Government :

■ C reating and managing First G o v. go v, the portal to all Federal Web sites 

■ Facilitating the online acquisition of Federal workplace staples on GSA.gov

■ P roviding e-Government policy lea dership

■ P rotecting the security and privacy of online information 

■ P roviding state - of - the - art technology solutions

■ E nsuring accessibility of the online environment.

FirstGov.gov, the portal to all Federal Web sites

On June 24, 2000, the President announced a drive to build a single, customer-

focused Web site, where citizens can find every online resource offered by the
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Federal Government.  He tasked GSA with expanding a prototype system we ha d

developed and tested into a fully functioning public site within 90 days. 

The new Web site, dubbed First G o v, was launched at www. First G o v. go v exactly 

90 days later.

First G o v takes a major step toward a high - speed, high - tech, user- friendly

G overnment.  It's a Web site that ’s easy for people to use to find the public

information they need.  It provides online interaction with Federal agencies, 24

hours a day, 7 days a week.  As it grows in popularity, one of First G o v ' s greatest

measures of success is that it allows for faster and better searches of one of the

largest and most useful collection of Web pages in the world.  Built around a

search engine provided free by an Internet entrepreneur, First G o v takes advantage of

the best in current commercial technology.  With more than 27 million civilian and

military Web pages ava ilable online, First G o v has broken new ground as a single -

stop source of Government services and information.

In the future, GSA will lead the team that ma inta ins First G o v.  A lthough

this may seem to be a non - tra ditional role for GSA, it para llels our long -

standing service as a central source for Federal information to the

public.  For more than 30 years, we have operated a "1-800" nationa l

contact center through GSA's Federal Consumer Information Center,

giving answers to ca llers seeking information about Federa l

programs, benefits and services.  The Center also distributes low -

cost and free Federal publications by ma il through its facility in

P ueblo, CO.  The full text of these publications, along with other

helpful consumer information is ava ilable online at

www. pueblo . gsa . go v.  GSA has also been involved in managing the

Federal Web presence in many other behind - the - scenes ways.  We

control the use of the Government's ".gov" doma in names, for instance,

and we provide the technology to ensure that Federal Web - based

transactions are private and secure.

O ur role in keeping the First G o v portal up - to - date rea lly is not so different from 

that of GSA and its predecessor agencies which, for 150 years, designed and built
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Federal buildings and courthouses where the public has tra ditiona lly interacted

with the Government.  Like a downtown Federal building, this Web portal lets you

conduct all your Government business in a single place.  In fact, First G o v has been

compared to the lobby of a skyscraper, which provides entrée through a handsome

foyer and access to dozens of stories of Government offices.

GSA.gov, the Federal Center for Online Business 

If First G o v can be seen as a skyscraper, then GSA's Web site, G S A . go v, can be

compared to a shopping ma ll.  GSA has pioneered the use of Internet - based

ordering systems that permit users to identify, select, order and pay for workplace

items online.  We ' re so far ahead in this area that we ' re setting the pace for the

rest of Government in online procurement systems.  At the same time, we continue

to expand our use of the Internet to bring many of our other processes online.

R ecognized as one of the world ’s largest online ordering and tracking systems,

G S A A dvan ta ge !™ lets Federal employees order more than a million items using a

purchase order number or a charge card (we provide those, too).  This year, GSA

A dvan ta ge !™ logged its first $1 million sa les days.  Over $125 million in transactions

were conducted over the Web, 46% more than in FY 1999, and evidence of the rapid

growth in the Government ’s use of technology to conduct business.  This rate of

increase will rise as GSA makes more of its contracts ava ilable online.  By the end

of 2001, we expect to have 95% of our GSA Schedules contracts accessible through

GSA A dvan ta ge ! ™.  GSA's Internet - based E - B uy makes it easier to use these

S chedules contracts by enabling customers to seek competitive price quotes online.

The success of this new electronic medium has spurred the use of other online

transaction systems in GSA.  Our I nformation Technology Solutions Shop a llows

Federal purchasers to review the large technology contracts we offer and to find

ways to get solutions for their own complex technology needs.  Vendors, customers,

and GSA contracting personnel work together seamlessly over the Internet to meet

customers’ technology needs and provide centra lized order- tracking and financia l

information.  The GSA Wireless Store a lso offers wireless products and services

online, a line of business that is expected to expand dramatica lly in the next few years.

GSA has pioneered the use of Internet-based ord e ri n g
systems that permit users to identify,s e l e c t ,o rder and pay
for wo rkplace items online



S till, GSA continues to explore the electronic frontier.  We are finding ways to use

the Internet for negotiating lower prices for Federal agencies and to find buyers for

our surplus real estate and personal property.  Our own Web site, G S A . go v, offers

specific information on what surplus real estate is for sa le, whom to contact, and

how to bid on ava ilable property.  In FY 2000, we pioneered online real estate auctions,

for customers such as the U. S. Marsha ls Service, the Internal Revenue Service, 

the Navy, and the Department of Defense, holding 22 auctions in one region alone.

Total sa les reached $3.2 million with winning bids ranging from 16% to 180% above

fa ir market va lue.

We launched B uyers . go v in FY 2000 as a Web - based Government business and

auction exchange.  This format drives down prices by letting Federal agencies come

together online to combine their needs for information technology.  Doing so

qua lifies them for volume discounts they would not have received on their own.  

We adapted commercial e-commerce software to Federal standards and introduced

" reverse auctioning," — a practice which allows customers to lay out a quick -

turnaround requirement online and lets vendors compete to offer the best prices

through sea led bids.  Private citizens interested in bidding on used Federa l

vehicles, office furniture and a wide assortment of other items ranging from

jewelry to aircraft, can do so at G S A Au ct ions . go v. 

The tenants in our Federal buildings and leased space are also served through the

online environment.  New Web - based applications ma de ava ilable in FY 2000 allow

our customers to track the status of their rent payments and reimbursable work

orders online through password - protected sites.

A iming at the 2003 target date for eliminating all paperwork requirements in

G overnment transactions, GSA also makes all standard Government forms

ava ilable on the Web, where they can be downloa ded and filled out, or filled out and

submitted online.  

GSA Puts The “E” in E-Government8
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A ll of GSA's online offerings will soon be ava ilable within a few clicks of a single

Web page.  In FY 2000, GSA initiated a massive restructuring of G S A . go v.  We ’re

currently revamping it to make it more customer- friendly and easy for customers,

vendors and other users to access the Web pages and information they need.

O ne great advantage of the new Web site is that it allows customers to view all

of GSA’s online ordering systems on a single page and instructs them when

the use of one system would be preferable to another.  It also offers choices for

customers who seek information online but who also wish to speak to a customer

representative or contact a vendor directly. 

E-Government Policy Leadership

A few years ago, when most of the Internet development was focused on e-

commerce, GSA was tapped to lead the Federal effort in that area.  We used

our policy - making authority and our experience in online ordering to bring

agency experts together to develop e-commerce tools, standards and best

practices.  Our lea dership in interagency committees guarantees the

G overnment will be consistent, coordinated and up - to - date in its e-commerce

practices.  We target specific e-commerce - related applications and help locate

funding for coordinated development programs.  In partnership with the

D epartment of Defense (DoD) and other agencies, we have sponsored a number of

smart card pilots and initiatives, setting the stage for what promises to be one of

the most useful tools for citizens transacting business with the Federa l

G overnment.  Today, these cards are used by military personnel as well as civilians

to draw pay and make purchases, access facilities and systems, compile manifests

of passengers and supplies, facilitate travel, make phone ca lls and for many other

uses.  DoD recently announced it would use GSA's smart card contract to provide

over 2 million pass - holders with multi - purpose smart cards that have digita l

signature capability for completing electronic transactions.  In the future, smart

cards will be used increasingly by citizens to access Federal services and to carry

personal medical and hea lth insurance records, make student loan payments, and

draw Social Security benefits.
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A nother interagency pilot program created a single online point of entry for

G overnment contracting.  Developed as the Electronic Posting System under GSA's

lea dership, it is now ca lled Federal Business Opportunities, or Fed B iz O pps . go v.  It is

the electronic version of the venerable C ommer ce B usi ness Dai ly (CBD), long used

by private firms to do business with the Government, and it will replace the

hardcopy CBD in December 2000.  Fed B iz O pps . go v offers a clearinghouse where

Federal agencies can post their contract solicitations, and where contractors

can submit formal proposa ls, all without using a single piece of paper.

S eventeen Federal contracting shops were using the system at the end of

FY 2000.  The rema ining 63 organizations are expected to join by the end of

the ca lendar year.

This year, GSA expanded its e-commerce lea dership role to encompass

a ll Government online efforts, not just the ones involving commerce.

Through its lea dership in the Federal Commons effort, GSA will

coordinate the automation of the $300 billion in Federal grants programs.

GSA will play an essential role in coordinating the development of a

nationa l Web - based grants program.  We will bring agencies together to

jointly acknowledge the need for automation, ra ise seed money from

participating agencies, develop standards, conduct pilot tests to find

commercial solutions and identify model systems that can be expanded

throughout the Federal sector.  By taking the lea dership in these e-Government

functions, GSA will more than double its influence to cover nearly $500 billion in

Federal spending.

Protecting the Nation's Critical Infrastructure 
and Citizens’ Online Privacy

S ecurity and privacy will continue to be the big issues confronting e-Government

( and e-commerce, as well).  We played a significant role in coordinating the

G overnmentwide effort to ensure that the nation's electronic infrastructure

survived the turn of the Y2K millennium.  We identified Y 2 K - compatible equipment

for agency upgra des; managed a Y2K Web site for the Government; regularly
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shared information with Government officia ls in all jurisdictions; and provided

access to the best advice on business continuity and contingency planning to

a lleviate any possible disruption.  In addition, hundreds of GSA employees worked

round - the - clock on New Year's Eve, at computer centers, telecommunications

networks, Federal buildings, and in the Federal Y2K command center.  The

effectiveness of GSA's planning, coordination and information - sharing is an

important part of the reason that the year 2000 came in without incident.

O ur work on computer security and privacy issues will have even more impact in

the future, as more and more business is done online and more and more security

issues arise.  Protecting the information that is critica lly important to the nation

and its people could quickly become one of our most important missions.

P residential Decision Directive (PDD) 63 ca lls for a national effort to assure the

security of increasingly vulnerable interconnected public and private

infrastructures of the United States.  Since the issuance of PDD63 in 1998, GSA

has been developing a full range of professional services and unique products to

strengthen the nation's defenses aga inst unconventional threats to the U. S.

including terrorist attacks, attacks on our critical infrastructure, and cyber

attacks.

The President also charged GSA with helping agencies develop private, secure, and

effective communication with other agencies and the public through the use of

digital signature technology.  The Government must be able to protect the

confidentia lity of citizens' information, authenticate the identity of the parties to a

transaction, guarantee that information is not altered in an unauthorized way, and

provide access when needed. These serious concerns ca ll for new methods of

identification and authentication.

To meet this charge, GSA awarded the first contracts under our new A ccess

C ertificates for Electronic Services (ACES) program in FY 2000. ACES uses digita l

signature technology to ensure the security of electronic transactions.  This ability

to identify the senders of electronic messages and ensure the integrity of the

messages themselves is a prerequisite for greater Federal use of the Internet in
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doing business.  ACES will permit users to execute agreements and contracts

online, eliminating the need for paper documentation of even the most sensitive

transactions.  

O ver 110,000 electronic certificates were awarded in FY 2000 — to the

P resident, the Department of Veterans A ffa irs, the Federa l

E mergency Management A gency, and the Department of

E ducation.  M any Federal agencies are also offering AC E S

certificates free to the public and business partners to enable

them to authenticate electronic digital signatures to deal with the

G overnment electronica lly in a secure and protected way.

Providing State-of-the-art Technology Solutions

A fter repeal of the Brooks A ct in 1996, GSA assumed the role of

providing tools and support for Federal information technology programs

and relinquished our oversight authority.  Federal agencies acquired nearly $5

billion in state - of - the - art technology products and services from GSA in FY 2000.

Viewing our mission as more than simply procurement of commodities, we offer

agencies va lue - a dded services, advising them of various contracting options and

ta iloring solutions to meet their needs.  We develop and package products and

services, using a variety of contracts from GSA and other sources to provide

comprehensive solutions to meet our customers' needs.  These include computer

hardware, software, cabling, wireless, local and long - distance telecommunications,

ca ll centers, data centers, Internet access, e-ma il, systems integration and other

products and services.  Federal customers can a lso buy the IT equipment they need

from GSA Schedules contractors, who are listed in the online e-library and

accessible through GSA A dvan ta ge ! ™.

Ensuring Accessibility of the Online Environment

GSA never forgets its role in serving the needs of all A mericans, by extending the

benefits of the Federal Government's massive buying power to help less -

a dvantaged people and groups.  One way we do this is by ensuring that all Federa l

electronic and information technology — and all Federal Web sites — are accessible
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to individua ls with disabilities.  Designated as the executive agent for implementing

S ection 508 of the Rehabilitation A ct, GSA develops the standards to ensure that all

Federal online information can be received by more than one sense.  Videos, for

example, must be captioned.  Graphics - heavy Web sites must also be ava ilable in

text - only versions that can be read by voice technology.  GSA is coordinating a

massive Section 508 awareness and tra ining campa ign in partnership with

technology enterprises.  In addition, through its ma intenance of the Federa l

A cquisition Regulation, GSA will ensure that the IT equipment purchased for use

by the Federal Government is adaptable for use by people with disabilities.  Just as

it provides a market that will encourage the manufacture of environmenta lly

friendly automobiles and the use of recycled paper, GSA's lea dership in ensuring

the accessibility of the online environment helps extend the power of the Internet to

a ll groups in our society.

Modernizing GSA Supply Distribution 

The para digm - shifting technology of e-Government has had a significant impact on

GSA's old - line businesses as well.  In FY 1999, confronting declining sa les trends, 

a cha llenging array of customer demands, and the rea lity of e-commerce's impact

on our rea l - time supply distribution operations, we recommended closing GSA's

rema ining distribution centers and forward supply points.  Recognizing that the

role of the middleman is being redefined in the Internet age, GSA is considering

reducing its role in the inventory management business to focus on facilitating

direct transactions between agencies and vendors.  Under a proposal being

discussed at the end of the fiscal year, GSA would close six of its eight distribution

centers to adjust for excess capacity, while keeping two open for the time being to

provide a continuous distribution service for rema ining customers.

Helping People Find Government Services Online 

For those who don't have rea dy access to computers, GSA makes Government

information ava ilable through other technology.  GSA-built intergovernmenta l

kiosks around the country provide touch - screen access to Federa l, State, and loca l

G overnment services listed by topic.  We are working with shopping ma lls, large

department stores, and Federa l, state, and city officia ls to establish locations for

a dditional kiosks.  For those who prefer to let their fingers do the wa lking, we have

worked for years with local phone companies and telephone - book publishers to make

the Government listings in over 6,000 telephone books more user- friendly.  Our blue

pages project uses common - sense categories and icons to make it easy to find

G overnment services in the telephone book.  Now we are working to put the blue

pages online.

S ince striking an agreement to provide long - distance service to the Tribal Nations 

a few years ago, GSA has helped bridge the "digita l divide" that impedes the

extension of Internet access and other online services to remote Tribal locations
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throughout the country.  In FY 2000, we brought online medical assistance to the

N avajo Nation through the Native A merican Broad Band H igh Speed Network.  We

identified the contracts needed to develop a telemedicine project, insta ll a

mammography unit, improve the transmission of x-ray films and hea lthcare data,

and develop a virtual collaborative hea lth environment.

H ousing Federal Workers in Real Space 

A lthough GSA is moving by leaps and bounds into the virtual space of the

I nternet, it's important to remember that the biggest service we provide is

in housing over 100 Federal agencies and furnishing their workspace.  We

earned $5.7 billion in rent and other income in FY 2000 for over

3 3 4 million square feet of rentable space, and provided almost $1 billion

in reimbursable space alterations and services.  We provided billions of

dollars' worth of furniture, appliances, paper, pens, copiers and other

supplies.  We coordinated space, furnishings and supplies for 1,380

S tate and District offices for S enators and Members of Congress.  We

built courthouses.  In FY 2000, we completed five, renovated two and had 16

courthouses in process as part of a $3.7 billion deca de -long courthouse

construction program.  While continuing to bring design excellence to the

Federal buildings in A merican communities, we have strengthened performance

measurement in the construction and management of all the 8,300 facilities under

our stewardship.  Though it has been in place for only two years, our L inking

B udget to Performance program has alrea dy shown significant improvements in

G S A’s customer satisfaction scores and the efficiency of our building operations.

As one more example of how far we ' ve come from the mandatory environment of

our early years, GSA is helping rewrite Federal property laws to let agencies make

their own decisions about subleasing, out - leasing, exchanging, conveying or selling

their property — and to allow them to keep the proceeds.  This major legislation

providing incentives and fielding a program that will vastly improve Federal asset

management practices and public / private partnerships is expected to receive early

consideration by the 107th Congress.

GSA Puts The “E” in E-Government14

GSA-built interg o vernmental kiosks around the country 
provide touch-screen access to Fe d e ra l ,S t at e , and local
G o vernment services listed by topic



GSA's ground - breaking partnership with the U. S. Census Bureau was our most

notable interagency collaboration in recent years.  Initiated by an agencywide team

of experts representing GSA, this partnership was forma lized in February 1998, just

in time to build a network of local offices for nearly 800,000 census - takers in FY 2000.

GSA provided supplies, telecommunications and 4.5 million square feet of office

space — equal to more than two Empire State Buildings — to support the decennia l

census.  By Census Day in April 2000, GSA had negotiated separate leases for

1,027 offices — ranging from 500 to 8,000 square feet each — in all 50 states and

P uerto Rico.  In all, GSA provided 900 miles of telephone wire; 26,000 phone jacks ;

17,000 telephones; 37,000 telephone service orders; 113,365 pieces of furniture; 663

copiers; 1,311 fax machines; 700 million pounds of printed materia ls; and 520

typewriters, shredders and hand trucks.  When the census had been completed,

the facilities were shut down and GSA efficiently disposed of the equipment,

furniture, supplies and space.

Making Quality Child Care Affordable 

In its support of family - friendly workplaces, GSA took a giant step in 

FY 2000 toward making child care affordable to more Federal employees.

GSA oversees 113 child care centers in Federal facilities that serve

around 8,000 children.  N early 88% of the GSA centers are accredited by

the National A ssociation for the Education of Young Children, significantly

higher than the national average.  A general provision in GSA's FY 2000

appropriations legislation allowed Federal agencies for the first time to

provide tuition assistance for lower- income employees' child care needs.  GSA

was one of a handful of employers to develop a subsidy program, and, in FY

2000, over 50 GSA families received child care subsidies.  More than twice

as many families will benefit in FY 2001.  We continue to work to

strengthen legislation requiring background checks for all employees

in Federa lly licensed child care facilities.

Supporting Small Business

As the Government's procurement expert, GSA has a responsibility to ensure

that the sma ll business community is given every possible opportunity to take

a dvantage of Federal contracting opportunities.  Our goal is to ensure that a fa ir
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proportion of the agency's contract dollars is awarded to sma ll, minority, women,

hub Z one and veteran business owners.  GSA reaches out to this community

through seminars, workshops, publications, and sma ll - business representatives

located in GSA regional offices throughout the country.  We also participate in

procurement fa irs and conferences sponsored by Members of Congress, tra de

associations and other organizations.  In FY 2000, GSA awarded about $3.2 billion

in contracts to sma ll businesses.  This represents 39% of the contract obligations

reported by GSA to the Federal Procurement Data System.  It includes $373 million

for women - owned businesses and over $1.5 billion for minority - owned businesses.

Providing Environmental Leadership  

On Earth Day 1998, we created PlanetGSA to inspire GSA employees to 

keep environmental principles in mind in everything they do.  Planet G S A

supports five pillars: B uild Green, Buy Green, Drive Green, Save Green,

and M anage Green, which represent everything "environmental" that

GSA does. 

M any aspects of GSA's work are encompassed in the Planet G S A

construct.  We use our unique position as the Government ’s building

manager, procurement specia list, transportation provider and

supplier to promote environment - friendly practices in all Federa l

agencies.  We have adopted energy - saving measures and recycling

in our buildings.  We employ susta inable design principles in all

phases of Federal construction, including initial design, remodeling,

renovation, and construction waste management.  The GSA Fleet has

created a demand and infrastructure for electric and alternative - fuel

vehicles that minimize the environmental impact of Federal vehicles.  The GSA

supply program offers a wide variety of recycled - content products, ranging from

copier paper to carpeting.  

From a modest start, PlanetGSA has had an impact well beyond just our agency.

We now have 20 agreements with other agencies and even, remarkably, with Disney.

Through these agreements, GSA is promoting environmental consciousness,

reducing greenhouse - gas emissions and the release of dangerous chemica ls into

the environment, minimizing waste disposal needs, and conserving energy.

Presenting a Unified GSA to Se rve our Customers Better

While reaching out to adopt innovative technology and techniques to improve

service to our customers in this continuously changing environment, GSA has also

been consolidating its own internal processes to become a stronger, more unified

presence on the Federal scene.  
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We entered the Information A ge in a big way, undertaking agency - wide efforts to

consolidate our many sources of data and generate information of use in serving our

customers.  We were among the first agencies to name a Chief Knowledge Officer

who will enable us to share information from across the agency.  We developed a

data warehouse, which, for the first time, offers rea l - time desktop access to many

sources of GSA customer data.  We are investigating the use of agency - wide

C ustomer Relationship Management to consolidate customer knowledge

developed by individua ls throughout GSA.  To fill out the picture, we instituted a

corporate Marketing Council that weaves in customer information garnered from

our front - line customer representatives throughout the country, and develops

marketing strategies to address our customers' needs.  It sponsors customer forums

that bring together customer- agency decision - makers in frank conversations with

GSA customer representatives.  These forums show us how we can better meet all

of our customers’ needs by cutting across our own stovepipe organizations. 

The GSA Marketing Council has become a strategic guide to building

G S A’s corporate presence throughout the Federal community.

B ringing together marketing programs from all its regions and

services, the Marketing Council leverages the agency's strengths

to make GSA an enduring, responsive, up - to - the - minute

organization that adds va lue by providing smarter solutions to

meet all Federal workplace needs quickly, easily and at the

lowest prices ava ilable. 

GSA completed a major branding initiative in FY 2000, wrangling

with some sacred cows to bring all agency operations together

under a single brand.  We adopted the "one look and feel" of a single

visual system, highlighted by the GSA star mark, and a tagline,

" S marter Solutions."  Like many corporations, such as IBM and Motorola,

and Federal agencies like the Department of A griculture and the Centers for

D isease Control and Prevention, GSA hopes to communicate a compelling message

that will inspire our customers to trust our lea dership in those areas where we are
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strong.  The new brand highlights GSA employees’ professiona l expertise and

personal commitment to guide their Federal colleagues through the maze of

procurement procedures.  Its promise is that GSA will provide the highest -

qua lity administrative services Federal agencies need so they

can be free to pursue their own missions.  Further, GSA will

do so without neglecting the G overnment ’s social and

environmental responsibilities.  The new brand and

visual system will help Federal agencies understand

they can get a ll the workplace support they need

through a single agency.

In the past several years, GSA has met the changing

environment with a pioneering spirit.  It has

undergone a metamorphosis from being the mandatory

source for Federal workplace essentia ls to competing for

Federal business aga inst the sharpest competitors in the

world, developing new competencies and building on its strengths

to meet new cha llenges.  GSA has become an agency with a vision, one

that will lead the Federal Government to provide the smartest, fastest, cheapest

and best service possible to all A mericans.
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GS A’s tra dition of receiving unqua lified opinions on its consolidated financia l

statements continued in FY 2000.  For the 13th consecutive year, our independent

auditors provided an unqua lified opinion.  A mong large Federal agencies, GSA’s

record is unsurpassed. 

While we take great pride in this accomplishment, we recognize that there is more

to successful financial management than clean audit opinions.  The first years of

this new century will bring great change in the way we do business.  E-Government

and new technology will cha llenge us to continue to strengthen financia l

accountability and yet become more efficient and responsive to our customers '

needs.  High - qua lity service and reliable and timely financial information will be

essential to GSA in ma inta ining its competitive edge.  We are working to expand

and enhance GSA’s use of new technologies to improve internal processes,

vendor relationships and customer service.

Pegasys, our new integrated financial management system, was

implemented for more than 2,600 GSA employees agency - wide in FY

2000.  This first phase of a multi - phase project targeted processes with

duplicative data entry, redundant systems and significant paper

handling.  Pegasys is changing the way we do business by making our

internal processing electronic and paperless.  As with any new system,

Pegasys brings a great deal of change to its users and there are and will be

issues and procedures to work out.  I know that working together we will overcome

any initial cha llenges and rea lize a world - class financial management system at

GSA. 

By the end of FY 2000, nearly all of GSA’s 14,333 employees were pa id electronica lly

through our Direct Deposit Program.  A ll new employees, and 98% of all GSA

employees , were pa id by electronic funds transfer.  Our goal is 100% participation.

GSA also provided payroll services to 9,800 client agency employees.

On the external front — with customers, vendors and stakeholders — we are making

significant improvements in our business processes.  GSA billed Federal clients 

for $13.3 billion in services and supplies in FY 2000, a 1.5% increase over FY 1999.

M ore than 85% of this was collected directly through OPAC (the Treasury's cross -

G overnment electronic bill - paying system).  However, the 15% not ma de through
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the Treasury required GSA to send out 272,500 bills in FY 2000.  A lthough average

monthly delinquencies declined 2.6% to $317 million in FY 2000, and consolidation

of billing addresses reduced the number of manual bills by 14%, delinquencies

rema in too high.  We are working aggressively to expand GSA customers' use of

the Treasury systems to pay for GSA's services.  This will improve accounts

receivable management and reduce the paper burden.

G S A’s payment function is also increasingly electronic.  We offer an incentive of

faster payment to vendors who participate in full - cycle e-commerce.  In FY 2000,

71% of all invoices were pa id electronica lly, 21% more than last year.  They account

for 83% of the disbursement tota l, an increase of 14% from FY 1999.  The percentage

of invoices GSA received electronica lly increased from 9% to 12% in FY 2000.

GSA's disbursements for FY 2000 tota led $12.6 billion, a 6% increase from FY 1999.

A bout 90% of GSA’s vendor payments were ma de on time, earning the agency 

$2.3 million, or 89% of all possible discounts.  This is a 2% increase over 1999.

We are also using electronic methods to improve our budget process.  

Working with the Treasury Department, we have implemented FACTS II 

to provide budget execution data electronica lly and generate required budget

reports.

The CFO's Office continued to lead in performance measurement and implementation

of the Government Performance and Results A ct (GPRA).  We have now completed

the first full cycle under GPRA, starting with agency strategic plans, followed by

performance plans, and our first performance report in FY 2000.  The Legislative

B ranch has favorably received GSA’s plans and reports, noting their clarity and

quantified goa ls.  In the coming cycle, we will build on our strong foundation by

developing measures for agency - wide management functions and improving

measures in a select number of critical programs. 

The Office of the CFO is committed to a corporate alliance with GSA’s business

managers and our clients.  We are dedicated to cost - effective, best - in - class

financial stewardship and to being a va luable resource in achieving our customers ’

business goa ls. 

William B. Early, Jr.

GSA Chief Fi nan cial Officer
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Created in 1949 to be an efficient

central logistics and supply organization,

GSA encompasses three service -

delivery organizations and a policy shop :

the GSA Public Buildings Service

( P B S ) , the GSA Federal Supply Service

(FSS), the GSA Federal Technology

S ervice  (FTS) and the GSA O ffice of

G overnmentwide Policy (OGP). M ost

of GSA operations are still

conducted through its 11

regional offices.  

While fulfilling the same

mission in 2000 as it has for

the past 51 years, today ’s

GSA is as fundamenta lly

different as the I nternet -

influenced information

economy is different from the

centra lized industrial economy in

which GSA was molded.  Today, GSA

works in different ways :

■ outsourcing nearly 94% of its

operational tasks through private

contractors.

■ competing for Federal business as 

a non - mandatory source of space,

supplies and services for Federa l

agencies. 

■ relying increasingly on

reimbursements from other agencies

for its funding, so that less than 1% of

GSA's operating budget—$158 million

—is directly appropriated.

■ focusing attention on its policy

functions, which have been

separated from its service delivery

since 1996.

■ downsizing to just over a third the

size it was at its peak in 1971; the

GSA workforce in FY 2000 was 29%

lower than the 1993 level.

S ome of these factors have worked 

to GSA's advantage; others present

cha llenges.  The agency's position as

provider to Federal agencies makes it

uniquely able to play a major role in 

the Internet revolution.  It is positioned

to move many of its own functions

online—e. g., GSA A dvan ta ge !™, and to

play a critical role in bringing the entire

Federal Government into the information

economy.  GSA products, such as

wireless technology, digital signature

capability, smart cards and Smart Pay

cards make virtual Government a

possibility.  On the other hand, the 

loss of its mandatory status may erode

GSA's leverage.  Other agencies have

been authorized to develop and award

G overnmentwide acquisition contracts —

and they are increasingly competing

with GSA on its own turf.  In addition,

competition is coming from agencies
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that perform the same work in - house

that GSA has tra ditiona lly performed

for the entire Government.  These forces

make it extremely important for GSA

to attend to its customers' needs and

bring its underlying strengths to play in

the Federal marketplace of the new age.

GSA MI S S I O N A N D GOA L S
The GSA Mission  

We pro vi de policy leaders hip and 

exp ert solu t ions in services, sp ace and

produ cts, at the best value, to enabl e

Feder al em ployees to accom plish 

their missions .

The GSA Strategic Goals.

The agency ’s three - year S tr ategic Plan,

issued September 30, 1997, was GSA’s

guide for fulfilling this mission as we

moved into the new century.  It

incorporated four strategic goa ls :

1. Promo te Responsible A sset

M anagemen t. GSA will conserve

G overnment resources and the

assets in its care and provide

policies and best practices for

G overnment - wide asset management.

2. Compete Effectively for the

Federal Market. GSA will be 

the preferred provider of space,

products, services, technology, and

telecommunications for all Federa l

agencies by efficiently and

economica lly delivering consistently

high qua lity and best va lue.

3. Excel at Customer Service.

GSA will thrill its customers and

agency partners by developing and

delivering creative solutions to 

meet their needs for space, products

and services, technology and

telecommunications, and policy

guidance, and GSA will make it

easy for citizens to obta in

information from the Government.

4. A n ticipate Future Workforce

N eeds. GSA will design, develop,

and model future Federal work

environments with state - of - the - art

technology, innovation, and best

practices in use of space, furniture,

equipment, telecommunications,

contracts and other tools.

GSA's new three - year S tr ategic Plan,

submitted September 30, 2000,

incorporates the same four goa ls.  We

a dded a fifth general goa l, one that

reflects our role in helping

G overnment meet its responsibility to

individual taxpayers and to their

communities.  This addition signa ls

GSA's direction in the coming deca de.

While we will focus on providing our

customers with professional expertise

as well as space and commodities, we

will continue to acknowledge the

importance of our role in serving the

needs of all A mericans.

MA NAG E M E N T IS S U E S

In FY 2000, GSA took several steps

toward becoming a more - unified

agency, adopting best business

practices that will position us to

perform at a high level of proficiency

in the new millennium, as we continue

to reinvent ourselves as a modern

professional organization.  We still

grapple with several management

issues that arose during the last

deca de, chiefly because of our

multiple transformations.  GSA went

from being mandatory to being a

competitive source; from bricks - and -

mortar to the Internet; from hands - on

provider to contract manager; and

from an organization of more than

20,000 employees eight years ago, to

one that is 29% sma ller.  We can report

progress on many fronts, but some
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issues rema in unresolved.  Some of

these issues have been identified by

the General A ccounting Office (GAO ) ,

the GSA Inspector General (IG) and

the agency ’s outside auditors,

P ricewaterhouse C oopers.  The major

management issues facing the agency

as of September 30, 2000 are

discussed below.

Management of the GSA Federal
Supply Service Depots

In July 1999, GSA began a process 

to transition from operation of a

G overnment owned and operated

supply distribution network to increased

reliance on a system of strategic

a lliances with private companies.  This

effort reflects long - term reduced

demand for the GSA-provided hands - on

distribution service.  It also recognizes

new acquisition and logistics tools and

capabilities that have evolved within

G overnment and in the marketplace.

S uch a transition would leverage 

e - business technologies and supply

channels used by GSA, its customers,

and the commercial sector. 

Within GSA, the labor / management

process has moved through a series of

partnership, grievance, negotiation, and

mediation steps, including a study by

an independent consultant.  These

actions have attempted to resolve

differences between GSA and its unions

on the future of GSA's distribution

program.  The labor / management

differences are now before the Federa l

S ervice Impasses Panel.  It is anticipated

that a final determination by the Panel

will be required, which should be

rendered during April 2001, based 

on their time allowances for the

various steps.

Physical Security in 
GSA Buildings

I mprovements are needed in GSA’s

implementation of over 8,000 security -

equipment and structural enhancements

recommended by the Building Security

C ommittees in the wake of the

O klahoma City bombing in 1995.  The

lack of programmatic controls and

approaches resulted in concerns over

the implementation and reported

status of security countermeasures

and the use of designated security

upgra de funds for projects that did not

involve a Committee - recommended

countermeasure and lacked Centra l

O ffice approva l.  Since then, GSA has

ma de significant progress in improving

physical security in its buildings

through :

■ A secure messaging system for the

exchange of sensitive intelligence

information

■ S ecurity design criteria for the

construction of new facilities

■ M edical and psychological standards

and a testing program for GSA law

enforcement and security officers

■ E va luation of over 96% of GSA

buildings for security needs 

■ A new risk - assessment methodology

■ I mproved tra ining and procedures

for security personnel.

GSA Systems Security
Development and
Implementation

GSA relies on its automated

information systems to perform its

mission and manage its operations.

The agency faces a number of

systems security issues related to

controlling its existing systems and in

replacing a number of its old systems

to incorporate technological advances.

These include the following :

■ An FY 1999 review of eight

significant GSA financia l

management system applications

disclosed weaknesses in the control

and oversight systems relating to

technological and physical access,

access monitoring and follow up,

security awareness, and IT security

program implementation and

management oversight.  As a result,

G S A’s systems rema in susceptible

to unauthorized access,

modification or undue risk.  A follow -

up review during FY 2000 concluded

that the control weaknesses had not

been resolved.

■ A nother FY 1999 review of three

GSA financial management systems

( ITO M S, STAR, and FEDPAY) found

a need for better controls over

systems development and

implementation processes to

eliminate schedule delays and cost

overruns, the need for frequent

redesign, and difficulties sharing

usable data between systems.
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The Office of the Chief Information

O fficer has instituted a number of

corrective actions to meet these

cha llenges and ensure the integrity of

a ll GSA-wide systems. 

Controls Over the Integrity of
Rent Data

The OIG has become increasingly

concerned about the reliability of 

data in the information systems 

used by management.

P ricewaterhouse C oopers, in both 

FY 1999 and FY 2000, identified a

reportable condition regarding controls

over the integrity of rent data used to

manage the Federal Buildings Fund.

This concern is echoed by management,

which plans to cite this issue — though

not as a material weakness — in its

Feder al Mana gers' Fi nan cial Integ rity

A ct Report.  PBS's new FY 2000 data

accuracy measure focused on

correcting missing building, lease, and

space assignment data in the STAR

S ystem.  That effort positively

affected our revenue numbers for 

FY 2000.  Data clean - up measures

planned for FY 2001 will focus on

reconciling STAR data with source

documents, primarily leases and

occupancy agreements.

Cash Flow in the Information
Technology Fund

With explosive business growth over

the past several years, the IT Fund has

been experiencing a low cash ba lance.

This is the result of increased business

volumes and the 30-to - 6 0 - day lag time

between payments to contractors and

cash receipts from customers.  While

FTS negotiated an agreement with its

major customers so that they are billed

through the Treasury Department ’s

O n - L ine Payment and Collection

S ystem (OPAC), some problems are

expected to rema in with lag - times.

In March 2000, GSA established an

internal task force to identify problem

areas and recommend solutions

required to ensure an adequate cash

ba lance.  A significant step has been

improved communications with FTS’

largest customer, the Department of

D efense (DoD).  The team has since

expanded its participation to include

representation from DoD.  It is

focusing on billing issues, improved

communication, and a better

understanding of both agencies ’

financial requirements.  In a ddition, an

agreement was signed increasing the

number of program billings to DoD

processed under OPAC.  

FTS is continuing to take aggressive

action to ma inta in a hea lthy cash

position.  However, as IT Fund

business volume continues to grow,

lag times between payments to

vendors and receipts from customers

further stra in the Fund ’s cash reserves.

GSA is working with OMB, Treasury

and customer agencies to improve cash

and accounts receivable management.  

Workforce Planning

As the GSA workforce has become

sma ller, it has become older.  In FY 2000,

fewer than 1,000 of GSA's 14,000

employees were less than 30 years old.

N early ha lf of the GSA workforce will

be eligible to retire within five years.

The employees who rema ined have

shown considerable initiative in taking

on all the responsibilities of the agency,

and GSA scores remarkably high for

employee job satisfaction.  Nonetheless,

the agency's continuous downsizing,

restructuring, buyouts and attrition

have resulted in a loss of institutiona l

memory and employee transfers into

positions of responsibility without

a dequate tra ining and / or experience.

GSA is addressing these issues through

a nationwide recruiting effort, increased

reliance on contractors, knowledge

sharing and by restructuring various

functions performed in GSA, such as

supply and procurement, property

disposa l, and contract management.

D espite the issues facing the agency,

GSA employees rated it well above

average as a place to work in the

Federal Government.  When the Nationa l

Partnership for Reinventing Government

(NPR) asked employees of 46 agencies

in FY 1999 about the qua lity of their

work - life, the response from a random

selection of GSA employees was

impressive.  GSA exceeded the

G overnment - wide average in four survey

areas: work satisfaction, recognition,

supervision and qua lity of work.  In two

categories — work satisfaction and

recognition—GSA's results exceeded

comparable private industry scores.

G S A’s score was below average only

on the issue of management - union

cooperation on mutual problems.  

S urvey results show a need for GSA 

to improve its scores in the areas of

performance management; skills

assessment and recruitment ;

management - union cooperation; and
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the use of "pla in English" in agency

regulations and publications.  The

agency has adopted an Improvement

P lan that incorporates strategies for

a ddressing these areas.

GSA PE R F O R M A N C E
I N FY 2000
GSA accomplished its mission at a

high level of performance in all its

programs. Total obligations for these

programs were $16.1 billion in FY 2000,

a 3% increase over the $15.7 billion in

FY 1999.

O ur key performance goa ls reflect:  

(1) the business volume in a competitive

environment; (2) cost  control; 

(3) customer satisfaction; and (4) the

shift of business activity to the Internet,

thus in a sma ll way measuring how well

we are addressing future cha llenges.

We have elected not to include any

performance measures for our policy

lea dership function, which is conducted

by OGP.  This is not to minimize the

importance of our responsibility in 

this area.  At present, however, these

activities have a very sma ll impact 

on the financial results for GSA as

represented by the financial statements.

E qua lly important, performance

measurement for these activities was

still at the output stage during FY 2000.

We are confident that the current effort

to develop a ba lanced scorecard for

the office and other efforts to improve

measurement will yield performance

measures that will take a prominent

place in the key measures of GSA.

The vast differences in GSA's service -

delivery organizations and their own

broad mandates make it necessary to

look at a variety of measures to ascerta in

the agency's overa ll performance

results.  We have identified 12 key

performance goa ls for our PBS, FSS

and FTS operations.  GSA's success

in accomplishing these goa ls indicates

progress in achieving its four strategic

goa ls.  (See the chart on page 26.)

While it is difficult to combine the

performance results of three such

disparate organizations, we can draw

some general conclusions.  GSA's

most impressive performance, across

the board, is in keeping its costs

down.  Tra ditiona lly one of GSA's

strengths, cost control can be seen 

in PBS' income from operations, 

in PBS’ and FTS’ control of operating

costs, and in FSS' cost of sa les.   

GSA's abilities to generate its share 

of the market for its specific business

lines provide a greater cha llenge.  

We achieved our target share of the

Federal fleet this year.  But we were

disappointed in our attempt to 

garner 15.8% of the Federa l

IT / telecommunications market.  

C ustomer satisfaction is a critica l

measure for GSA—our customers 

are our reason for being.  While all

GSA Services conduct customer

satisfaction surveys, our cha llenge 

is to be able to act quickly on the

survey results.  Those data show

customer satisfaction jumped from

81% to 85% for both Government -

owned and leased properties in 

FY 1999, but dropped to 82% and 80%,

respectively, in FY 2000.  Supply and

P rocurement customer satisfaction

surveys are conducted biennia lly, and

the data reported in FY 2000 are for

the years FY 1999-2000.  A lthough FSS

set its performance targets to measure

only "highly satisfied" customers, 

it should be noted that overa ll

satisfaction with GSA's Supply and

P rocurement programs reached 96%.

FTS surveyed both IT Solutions and

N etwork Services customers to

determine their satisfaction with its

programs, products and services and

with FTS representatives.  In the

aggregate, over three - fourths of the

respondents expressed satisfaction.

It is more difficult to measure our less

tangible, though increasingly

important, role in anticipating future

workforce needs for the Federa l

G overnment.  With the objective of

employing advanced information and

I nternet technology to make the

acquisition of products easier and

faster for all Federal agencies, we set

a goal of making 50% of the GSA

schedules contracts accessible on 

the Internet via GSA A dvan ta ge !™ .

A lthough we got only 35% of our

contracts online in FY 2000, we expect

to make nearly all of them Internet -

accessible by meeting our FY 2001

goal of 95%.

S ee the su mmary of GSA’s

Perf orman ce agai nst Perf orman ce

G oals in FY 2000 on page 126.
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Percent of tenants that rate GSA-owned space as 

satisfactory or better.

Percent of tenants that rate leased space and services 

as satisfactory or better.

Percent of responses in the "highly satisfied" category 

for Supply and Procur ement progra ms.

R atings of satisfactory or better on annual customer service 

survey for IT and network progra ms, products, 

services and repr esentatives.

GSA's Performance Against Key Performance Goals in FY 2000

Strategic
Goal 1
P romote 

R esponsi ble 

A sset Managem e nt

FY 2000 
Target

Performance
Goals

FY 2000 
Actual

Strategic
Goal 2
Compete

Effectively for the

Federal Market

G enerate a capital investment contribution of 2.5% to 4.5% 

of the functional replacement value of the owned inventory.

R educe the amount of non - r evenue - producing space in 

G overnment - owned buildings to maximize rental income.

M aintain building operations costs in office and office - like 

space to 12% below private sector benchmarks.

R educe costs while expanding supply and procur ement 

support to Federal agencies, ther eby reducing the cost 

per $100 sales by over 9%.

D ollar volume of GSA supply and procur ement progra ms.

I ncr ease GSA's share of the Federal fleet.

I ncr ease (IT Solutions and Network Services) business 

volume to obtain 15% of the Federal IT market.

Strategic
Goal 3
Excel at

Customer Service

Strategic
Goal 4
Anticipate Future

Workforce Needs

50% 35%

Percent of Schedule contracts available through

Internet connectivity (GSA Advantage!™)

81% 82%

81% 80%

63% 72%

80% 76%

2.5%-4.5% 4.0%

13% 12.2%

12% 17%

$2.66 $2.35

$14.1 billion $16.3 billion

4 6 % 4 6 %

1 5 . 8 % 1 4 . 2 %
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Recognized as the largest commercia l-

style real estate organization in the

nation, the GSA Public Buildings

S ervice (PBS) ma inta ins an estimated

334 million rentable square feet of

workspace for over a million Federa l

employees in more than 1,600 A merican

communities.  A bout 41% of Federa l

office space is included in this inventory

of 1,800 Federa lly owned and 6,500

leased buildings.

PBS provides real estate and related

services for about 100 Federa l

organizations.  It is responsible for the

construction, leasing, management,

ma intenance, and protection of Federa l

office buildings as well as courthouses,

border stations, laboratories and data

processing centers throughout the

nation and also disposes of unneeded

Federal property.

The funding mechanism for PBS is the

Federal Buildings Fund.  In FY 2000, it

received $5.7 billion in rental and other

income from tenants and $968 million

for reimbursable work.

N ew obligational authority was $ 5 . 5

billion in FY 2000.  Overa ll, 91% of all

PBS program dollars are spent

through contracts with the private

sector for construction, leases,

ma intenance, repa irs, protection and

other services.

PBS PE R F O R M A N C E I N
FY 2000
In FY 2000, PBS reached or exceeded

annual performance goa ls for some of

these key measures, specifica lly :

■ R evenues were up 4.7% from $6.4

billion in FY 1999 to $6.7 billion.

■ PBS generated a $1.28 billion

contribution to capital that was 4%

of the functional replacement va lue

of its Government - owned real estate

inventory, within the FY 2000 target

of 2.5% - 4.5%.  This is a measure of

the funds ava ilable for repa irs,

modernization, interest, debt -

reduction and construction after

PBS pays its operating costs.  It is

a lso a measure of the extent to which

PBS is successful in collecting

revenue and reducing expenses.  It

replaces the funds - from - operations

measure reported in 1 9 9 9 .

■ O vera ll customer satisfaction ratings

for both Government - owned and

leased space declined in FY 2000

from 85% in FY 1999.  Customer

satisfaction with Government -

owned space scored 82% in FY 2000;

leased space scored 80%.

R obert A. Peck

C ommissioner

E mployees: 7,399

R esources: 

Federal Buildings Fund Revenue: $6.7 billion

R en tal and Miscellaneous: $5.7 billion

R eimbursable: $968 million

O ther Funding (Direct Appropriations 

and Reimbursable): $40 million

GSA Public Buildings Service
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■ GSA ma inta ined its average

operating expenses at approximately

FY 1999 levels, as costs per rentable

square foot of office or office - like

space reached $4.19.  A lthough this

represented a slight increase over

costs per square foot of $4.17 in 

FY 1999, the gap by which GSA

exceeded private sector performance

improved significantly in FY 2000,

from 13% to 17% below comparable

private sector costs.  This measure

was broa dened in FY 2000 to cover

" office - like" space as well as office -

space and make it more comparable

to private sector practices.

■ N on - revenue - producing Government -

owned space was 12.2% of the GSA

inventory.  This was a significant

improvement over the 13.5% posted

in FY 1999.  GSA continued to reduce

the proportion of non - revenue

producing leased space from 3.7% in

FY 1999 to 3.3% in FY 2000, exceeding

its 3.6% goal for the year.

LI N K I N G BU D G E T TO
PE R F O R M A N C E
In FY 1998, PBS identified severa l

performance indicators that would

reflect the core drivers of its regiona l

operations and serve as the centerpiece

for its L inking Budget to Performance

incentive program.  In FY 2000, the

" B ig Nine" measures were :

■ F unds From Operations

■ C ustomer Satisfaction

■ N on - revenue - producing Space

■ O perating Costs Compared 

to Industry

■ L easing Costs Compared to Industry

■ I ndirect Costs as a Percentage 

of Revenue 

■ D ata A ccuracy

■ C apital Investment Program

■ S ecurity – Customer Satisfaction.

The PBS budget allocation is directly

tied to performance at all levels,

especia lly in the regions, where better

performance yields national recognition

awards.  This initiative has changed

the way management and employees

measure success.  In two years, 

PBS has shifted its day - to - day focus

to longer- term outcomes and

accomplishments.  Employees are

working across organizational lines 

to help one another meet performance

targets and are committed to

maximizing performance in their

respective areas of expertise.  Overa ll,

L inking Budget to Performance has

achieved savings of approximately

$400 million since its implementation

in mid-1998. 

GSA identifies and disseminates "good

practices" that contribute to excellent

performance on each of the Big Nine

measures.  These suggestions for

improved performance are collected

and shared with employees through 

a database and intranet site and

circulated through a targeted listserve,

monthly electronic bulletins, forums and

word of mouth.  To date, more than 150

good practices have been distributed.

RE N T PR I C I N G
In recent years, GSA’s rent - pricing

structure has been simplified to more

closely resemble commercial practice.

R ents in Federa lly owned space are

based on current market appra isa ls and

include a basic security charge.  With

leased space, actual lease payments

to the owner (plus an administrative

fee) are also determining factors.  GSA

expanded its application of the new

pricing structure to all leased and

owned space in FY 2000.  Customers

are able to download their rent bill off

the Internet and can use the data to

estimate their own future budget

needs.

DE S I G N A N D CO N S T R U C T I O N
G S A’s Chief A rchitect is the guiding

force for our design and construction

program, ensuring high - qua lity

construction for the best va lue.  A n

internationa lly recognized Design

E xcellence Program and several design

vision competitions each year are

dramatica lly improving the design

qua lity of GSA facilities.  To assure

that its high standards continue to be

met, GSA launched a Construction

E xcellence Program which guarantees

qua lity won ’t be sacrificed during

construction.  

GSA OP E R AT I N G CO S T SP E R SQ UA R E

FO OT V S. PR I VAT E SE C TO R CO S T S
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In FY 2000, the Design and

C onstruction E xcellence Program 

was expanded to include lease -

construction projects and two major

projects were completed in Jama ica,

NY— new regional hea dquarters for

the Food and Drug A dministration and

for the Federal Aviation A dministration.

GSA continues work on the largest

U. S. courthouse construction program

in history.  Begun in the 1980s, the

program ca lls for 159 new courthouse

construction projects to be completed

in this deca de.

In FY 2000, GSA completed five new

courthouses, in Central Islip, NY, Las

Vegas, NV, Omaha, NE, St. Louis, MO,

and Tucson, AZ.  The courthouse

construction program has delivered 

32 new courthouses in all, at a cost - to -

date of $3.7 billion.  It had 16 new

construction projects in process at the

end of the year.  For one such project,

GSA broke ground for a $430 million

court project in downtown Brooklyn, NY,

including construction of a new 15-story

courthouse and the renovation and

a daptive reuse of a nearby historic

G eneral Post Office building dating 

to 1892.  

A lso in FY 2000, GSA completed two

major courthouse renovations.  In Old

S an Juan, GSA renovated the historic

U. S. Post Office and Courthouse

constructed in 1914 to serve as the

first tra ditional home of the U. S.

G overnment in Puerto Rico.  In Chicago,

the Everett McKinley Dirksen U. S.

C ourthouse ga ined eight new

courtrooms without interrupting court

proceedings.  GSA’s $18 million

renovation to the modernist Mies van

der Rohe structure was accomplished

without altering the building ’s

architecture or affecting its structura l

integrity.  

The GSA project team for the

M etzenbaum Courthouse in Cleveland,

OH, has done unprecedented work in

identifying ways to undertake a

modernization and reuse project in the

N at ional Regi ster- listed building while

ma inta ining and restoring interior

spaces of historic significance.  The

$24 million renovation was named the

top prospectus alteration / design priority

for FY 2001.

A lthough the safety of those who work

in and visit Federal buildings is one of

G S A’s top priorities, GSA is committed

to making Federal buildings attractive,

open and accessible to the public.  To

meet the cha llenges of these conflicting

objectives, GSA has designated the

new Federal courthouses in Springfield,

MA, and Eugene, OR, as pilot projects

for developing innovative security

approaches while ma inta ining openness.

HI S TO R I C BU I L D I N G S
A N DT H E ART S
Approximately 450 GSA buildings have

been designated historic for their

architectural or cultural significance.

GSA has ma de the stewardship of

these buildings an agency priority,

developing and implementing

comprehensive strategies to ensure

their viability.  In FY 2000, the GSA

H istoric Buildings Program compiled

a desk guide of over 110 of the

agency ’s best preservation practice

documents, as a follow - up to last

year ’s comprehensive H eld in Public

Trust: PBS Str ategy for Usi ng Historic

B ui ld i ngs.  We also conducted a

nationwide study on leasing of GSA

historic buildings.  The study led to a

tra ining program that helps GSA rea l

estate professiona ls overcome

obstacles to historic building reuse

and agency location in historic

districts and older central business

areas.

N ationa l, State and loca l

organizations continue to recognize

G S A’s lea dership in historic

preservation.  The Historic Landmarks

Foundation of Indiana awarded GSA

its S p ecial A c hievement in Historic

P reservat ion for restoring the Federa l

B uilding and U. S. Courthouse in

I ndianapolis.  GSA was pra ised for its

conservation of sta ined and art glass

windows and skylights, restoration of

interior decorative pa inting and

exterior limestone, and the insta llation

of decorative brass hand ra ilings.

GSA also won the John Wesl ey Po well

P rize for Excell en ce in Historic

P reservat ion from the Society for

H istory in the Federal Government for

the rehabilitation and restoration of

the Post Office and U. S. Courthouse

in Old San Juan, Puerto Rico.  A nd,

for the third time, GSA’s Gene Snyder

U. S. Courthouse and Customhouse in

L ouisville, KY, won the Building

O wners and Managers A ssociation ’s

R egional Bui ld i ng of the Year Award in

the historic building category.

GSA's A rt - in - A rchitecture Program

commissions artworks that are

integral parts of a new building ’s



GSA  PU B L I C BU I L D I N G S SE RV I C E30

architecture or adjacent landscape,

providing the A merican public with

Federal buildings and courthouses

that enrich the cultura l, socia l, and

commercial resources of the

communities where they are located.

In FY 2000, GSA insta lled 14 new

artworks.  A notable example is L ens

C ei li ng, created by James Carpenter

D esign A ssociates for the Sandra Day

O ’ C onnor U. S. Courthouse in Phoenix.

An inverted glass dome that

resonates with historical and cultura l

meaning, it functions as the ceiling of

the building ’s special proceedings

courtroom.   In keeping with the A rt -

in - A rchitecture mission, the

courthouse itself, designed by

architect Richard Meier, exemplifies

collaboration between architect and

artist.

For the U. S. Courthouse in

M inneapolis, sculptor Tom Otterness

created R ock man, a whimsica l

grouping of cast - bronze figures that is

an allegory of how governing bodies

are formed to guard aga inst socia l

chaos.  The artist approached this

weighty topic with a sharp wit,

combining contemporary, popular

imagery with literary and mythologica l

references.

G S A’s Fine A rts Program provides all

curatorial and collection management

activities for the vast, nationwide

inventory of fine art under GSA’s

stewardship.  The Fine A rts Collection

is one of the nation ’s largest and most

diverse Federal art collections,

consisting of approximately 17,000

pa intings, sculptures, architectural or

environmental artworks, and fine - art

graphics dating from the 1850s.

C onserving this inva luable legacy is a

primary role of the Fine A rts Program.

D uring 2000, GSA oversaw cyclica l

inspection of more than 1,000

artworks, and initiated the

conservation of more than 200 of them.

The Fine A rts Program also secures

appropriate new locations for artworks

that, for various reasons, have become

displaced from their original sites. One

such project was the reinsta llation of a

sinopia (or under- drawing) discovered

behind a fresco that artist Ben Shahn

pa inted for an elementary school

library in Roosevelt, NJ, in 1937,

depicting aspects of immigration and

the A merican textile industry.  A

sinopia is a full - sca le pa inted sketch

used to guide the da ily application of

plaster while a frescoed mural is being

created. The Shahn sinopia was

discovered when the fresco was

removed for conservation.  A fter being

displayed for many years at the

N ational Portra it Gallery in

Washington, DC, it was donated to

GSA by the Roosevelt, NJ, Board of

E ducation. GSA created a permanent

home for it in FY 2000 in the Mitchell

H. Cohen U. S. Courthouse A nnex in

C amden, NJ.

A lso in FY 2000, GSA reinsta lled two

mura ls created under the Works

P rogress A dministration (WPA), but

which had never been publicly

displayed. To wn of Kansas, by

Frederick Emanuel Shane and Watt ’s

M i ll , by Wa lter Bailey were created in

1933-34 but never insta lled. The works

were stored in the basement of the

J ackson County Jail in Independence,

M O, and returned to GSA in 1996.

Following conservation and their

insta llation in the Charles Evans

Whittaker U. S. Courthouse in Kansas

C ity, MO, the mura ls are now on public

view for the first time.

EN V I R O N M E N TA L PE R F O R M A N C E
GSA builds progressive yet sensible

environmental practices into its

building operations and construction

management.  Compliance with

Federa l, State and local environmenta l

requirements is a top priority.  When

we acquire sites, we ensure they are

free of environmental hazards.  Through

skillful negotiation PBS saved $3.7

million for environmental remediation

on property va lued at $13 million in our

Pacific Rim Region.  The costs were

absorbed by the municipal or county

developers who wanted a Federa l

presence at these sites.

GSA has an award - winning recycling

program.  A bout 83% of all Federal office

buildings nationwide participate in

recycling.  As a result, more than a

third of the office waste stream

generated in these buildings is

recycled, saving more than $23 million

in landfill and hauling costs.  In

a ddition, GSA recycles a fourth of it ' s

construction waste.  We also use

products that are recycled.  GSA’s

entire paper supply is of 30% recycled

content; 29% of the building insulation

used comes from recycled sources ;

and 60% of the concrete used conta ins

fly ash, a byproduct of burning coa l.



GSA is integrating "green" design

principles into its planning, construction,

repa ir, alteration, leasing and operating

practices.  One of its most significant

" green" construction projects

showcases these principles.  It is 

a state - of - the - art EPA Laboratory 

that uses recycled materia ls in its

construction and recycles its own

construction waste.  The building, due

for completion in June 2001, will use

energy - saving utilities and replenish

neighboring wetlands with water runoff

from the roof.  Susta inable design

principles are being disseminated

throughout PBS, beginning with the

400 employees who received tra ining

in FY 2000.

EN E R G Y CO N S E R VAT I O N
D irected by Executive Order to reduce

its energy consumption, GSA is

partnering with many local utilities

and energy services companies to

reduce energy use in Federa l

buildings.  Preliminary data show the

energy consumption rate in GSA

buildings, at 66,861 BTUs per gross

square foot, is currently better than

the revised 67,144-BTU Federa l

energy - use target for FY 2000.  This

consumption rate is 20.3% below the

1985 baseline level and meets the 

FY 2000 target.  The FY 2005 target 

is 30% below 1985 levels. 

Taking advantage of a competitive,

deregulated electric industry, GSA 

has leveraged its position as a buyer

for the Federal Government to bring

down energy costs for itself and its

customers.  Combining its energy

requirements with those of 13 other

Federal organizations and three

nonprofit organizations in Pennsylvania

and Delaware, GSA executed a 

$19 million electricity buy that will 

cut their annual electricity costs by

over $1 million. 

GSA joined forces with several energy

companies in the Northeast to create

one of the largest solar energy systems

in the region.  The 372 solar panels that

make up the Solar Electric System on

the John F. Williams Coast Guard

B uilding in Boston generate about

28,041 kilowatts per hour.  The system

was put in place after an Energy

D epartment audit tagged the building

as one of the region ’s higher- cost

energy users.  Year after year, GSA

buildings are designated models of

strategic energy management and

environmental responsibility and

dubbed "Energy Star" buildings.

S ixty - eight GSA buildings earned the

label in FY 2000.

G S A’s successful energy conservation

program attracted internationa l

interest in FY 2000 as GSA co - hosted 

a workshop with the United Nations

on Energy Efficiency, Globa l

C ompetitiveness and Energy

D eregulation.  The event attracted 

600 international participants who

attended workshops covering globa l

energy issues, emerging technologies,

energy solutions, alternative financing

options, and the deregulated

environment.  

RE A L PR O P E RT Y DI S P O S A L
L ike other real estate organizations,

GSA is incorporating the Internet into

its business and has la id the

groundwork for Internet - based

activities.  With the inauguration of

online auctions, Property Disposal has

secured its position in the e-commerce

community. GSA has integrated Web -

based applications with existing
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systems to simplify procedures for its

customers, as Web - based operations

significantly reduce paperwork and

facilitate a faster, two - way flow of

information. 

SE C U R I T Y I N FE D E R A L
FAC I L I T I E S
G S A’s Federal Protective Service

(FPS) is evolving from a reactive

posture of patrol and incident

response to a proactive stance of

crime prevention and threat reduction.

S ince the 1995 bombing of the Murrah

Federal Building in Oklahoma City,

GSA has tripled spending on security

to about $250 million annua lly and has

doubled the number of uniformed FPS

Police Officers to about 528.  The

number of contract guards has risen

to about 6,000.  In addition, GSA has

hired more than 70 Law Enforcement

and Security Officers, uniformed,

multi - skilled men and women who

perform a wide range of physica l

security and law enforcement duties.

GSA increasingly emphasizes

" community policing," which gets

officers back on the streets in cities

and communities around the country.

With increased tra ining under this new

model, uniformed officers aggressively

patrol in and around buildings, looking

for security gaps, gathering information,

tra ining building tenants in deterrence,

and monitoring the performance of

equipment and contract guards.

In the aftermath of the bombing of 

the 1995 Oklahoma City bombing, GSA

has ma de many improvements to the

security of its buildings.  A lthough all

the security - equipment and structura l

enhancements recommended by

B uilding Security Committees have not

been fully implemented, GSA is making

significant progress.  Over 96% of GSA

buildings have been eva luated for

security needs and a new risk -

assessment methodology has been

a dopted.  GSA is continuing to work on

a set of outcome - oriented performance

measures for physical security.

S pecia lly, we have developed a secure

messaging system; security design

criteria for new facilities; and stricter

standards, better tra ining and improved

procedures for FPS personnel. F unding

for an upgra ded security system will

be provided by increased security

charges included in rent payments.

GSA shares its knowledge about

weapons of mass destruction.

Participants in a recent awareness /

instructional workshop included

representatives from the Socia l

S ecurity A dministration, the Interna l

R evenue Service, the U. S. Immigration

and Natura lization Service, Immigration

C ourt, the U. S. A ttorney and contract

security personnel.  The tra ining

focused on indicators, fa llacies,

v ulnerabilities and courses of action,

and was directed toward those with

little or no familiarity with weapons of

mass destruction.

At the Statue of Liberty, where the

volume of visitors can reach up to

24,000 a day in the summer, U. S. Park

Police grew concerned about perimeter

security and reached out to GSA for

a dvice to protect this nationa l

treasure.  GSA worked with the Park

Police for three months in FY 2000,

conducting a security survey and risk

ana lysis to eva luate the threats and

v ulnerabilities associated with Liberty

I sland and the Statue of Liberty. 

UR B A N DE V E L O P M E N T
GSA adopted its G ood Neighbor policy

four years ago to build strong

community relations and create more

livable communities.  We are leveraging

our real estate activities to spur loca l

development efforts through technica l

assistance, projects and outreach to

cities where Federal facilities are

located.  GSA worked with more than

200 communities on 25 projects in 

FY 2000, helping jump - start Federa l

development in support of community

efforts.  We renewed agreements with

20 Business Improvement Districts

across the country and established

partnerships with private organizations

on projects such as measuring the

impact of Federal buildings and workers

on communities and the revita lization

of public plazas.

CE N T E R S O F EX P E RT I S E
PBS operations are conducted largely

through GSA's 11 regional offices.  

In addition, PBS has created nationa l

C enters of Expertise that have

responsibility for specia lized functions.

B ringing together core groups of

specia lists in one place, 

they leverage dwindling resources,

accommodate fluctuating regiona l

workloa ds and deliver state - of - the -

art expertise, best practices and

operational guidance as needed.

These centers provide specia lized

expertise in Border Stations, C hild Care

O perations, Courthouse M anagement,

E nergy, Historic Buildings and the A rts,

P residential Libraries, and Urban

D evelopment.
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D onna D. Bennett

C ommissioner 

E mployees: 3,292

R esources :

G eneral Supply Fund Revenue: $2.7 billion 

O ther Funding: $23 million (Direct

Appropriations and Reimbursable )

GSA Federal Supply Service
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The GSA Federal Supply Service (FSS)

leverages the Government ’s vast buying

power and the professional expertise of

its staff to offer qua lity products and

efficient service, helping agencies reduce

their own investments in acquisition

and in the management of federa l

personal property assets.  Through FSS

programs worldwide, GSA provided

agencies with products and services

worth $22 billion in FY 2000, a 29%

increase in business over the comparable

total of $17 billion for FY 1999. 

FSS serves customer agencies through

four business lines: Supply and

P rocurement, Vehicle A cquisition and

L easing Services, Travel and

Transportation, and Personal Property

M anagement.  These business lines

cover nearly all their costs of operations

with the revenue they generate. 

FSS PE R F O R M A N C E I N
FY 2000
FSS met or exceeded most of the key

goa ls set forth in GSA’s FY 2000

Perf orman ce Plan by :

■ R educing the cost of Supply and

P rocurement programs by 18% 

from $2.85 per $100 sa les to $2.35,

exceeding the FY 2000 target by 

31 cents per $100. 

■ I ncreasing the dollar volume of

S upply and Procurement programs 

to $16.3 billion, over $2.2 billion more

than the goal for the year.

■ R a ising the GSA share of the federa l

motor fleet to 46% of the civilian,

non - tactical Government fleet outside

the U. S. Postal Service.  This was 

2% higher than the FY 1999 market

share and met the FY 2000 goa l.

■ E xceeding its FY 1999/2000 customer

satisfaction goal for the Supply and

P rocurement business line by

achieving a 72% "highly satisfied "

rating and an overa ll satisfaction

score of 96%.

S ome FSS performance goa ls were not

met, specifica lly in one key area :

■ O ur goal for making 50% of schedules

contracts accessible to customers

through GSA’s online ordering system,

G S A A dvan ta ge !™ was not met.  We

achieved 35% accessibility.  GSA

hopes to have 95% of its Schedule

contracts online by the end of FY 2001.
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SU P P LY A N D PR O C U R E M E N T

G S A’s Supply and Procurement

business programs save money,

shorten lead times and eliminate

hassles for GSA’s customers, delivering

$16.3 billion in products and services

in FY 2000, a 28% increase from 

$12.7 billion in FY 1999.  With over

8,800 contracts in place (18% more

than the 7,400 contracts in FY 1999),

the fastest growth has occurred in

service and technology offerings. 

The growth in the Supply and

P rocurement business line continues

to benefit Federal customers, largely

as a result of the expanded GSA

S chedules program.  The GSA Stock

program, by contrast, has declined.

GSA's overa ll cost per $100 sa les of

S upply and Procurement programs has

dropped because of the rapid growth of

the comparatively low - cost Schedules. 

Federal Supply Schedules

S a les of information technology and the

expansion of services are the driving

force behind the GSA Schedules.  

S a les rose to $15.1 billion in FY 2000, 

a 32% increase over the $11.4 billion

recorded in FY 1999. 

Federal customers can acquire more

than 4 million products and services

directly from commercial suppliers,

through the Schedules contracts.

I mprovements in the Schedules

program offer customers simplified

ordering, access to new products and

services, and guaranteed acceptance

of the government purchase card for

orders under $2,500.  Customers can

use the Schedules E-library to research

products and services covered by the

S chedules contracts.

The GSA Schedules also help agencies

meet government socioeconomic and

environmental goa ls.  Customers now

get credit for sma ll business purchases

ma de through the Schedules.  A bout

77% of FSS contracts were held by

sma ll businesses in FY 2000, a level 

of sma ll - business support that has

rema ined constant for several years.

GSA expanded its new service

contract offerings in FY 2000 to

include Schedules for debt collection

and financia l - related legal services,

recovery auditing services, move

management services, and

comprehensive logistics solutions 

and supply / va lue cha in management.

In addition, we added the following

services to the new Schedules

program this year :

■ E nergy management and planning,

audit services, energy procurement

and use, and services to maximize the

energy efficiency of building systems

■ G eographic information systems

services, including mapping, natura l

resource planning, migration pattern

ana lysis, site selection and

emergency preparedness planning

■ P rogram integration and project

management services

■ A lternative Dispute Resolution

support services that help overcome

potential impasses through the

negotiation and eva luation of the

relative merit of cla ims

■ M a ilroom ergonomic ana lysis services,

to be used to increase ma ilroom

efficiency, productivity and safety

■ H uman resources services 

including position classification, 

SUPPLY AND PROCUREMENT COST PER $100 SALES
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pre - employment screening, and

recruiting assistance.

Stock and Special Order 
Programs

C ombined sa les for the Stock and

S pecial Order Programs declined from

$1.3 billion in FY 1999 to $1.2 billion in

FY 2000.  Stock program sa les declined

5.5% from $781 million in FY 1999 to

$738 million in FY 2000. 

The Stock program ’s decline is largely

attributable to government downsizing,

which has reduced the demand for the

7,000 stock items.  A dditiona lly,

S mart Pay charge cards have ma de it

easier for Federal purchasing agents

to obta in these items directly from

commercial sources. 

S pecial Order sa les fell by 14% from

$490 million to $420 million in FY 2000,

largely because some Special Order

products were shifted to the Schedules

P rogram.

Electronic Shopping

In FY 2000, GSA A dvan ta ge !™ offered

online access to 1.2 million of the 

4 million Federal Supply products and

services.  Our goal is to provide access

to 95% of FSS contracts via GSA

A dvan ta ge !™ by the end of FY 2001.  

L ocal GSA Customer Service

D irectors (CSDs) help customers with

electronic shopping.  Each CSD is

identified on G S A . go v and associated

with specific customers and a specific

geographic territory.  Our CSDs are

our "knowledge brokers,” linked to all

FSS business lines and to the GSA

S chedules e-Library, where customers

can find sources for the items they

want, and to GSA A dvan ta ge !™, where

they can make purchases online.

Charge Card Program

In FY 2000, the GSA Smart Pay charge

card program offered Federa l

agencies their choice among five

companies for purchase and fleet

cards and among four companies for

travel card services. A gencies have

the option of using a single, integrated

card for travel, purchase, and fleet

needs or using separate cards for

each.  The cards also function as

AT M / debit cards and stored -va lue cards ;

they can also handle account

ma intenance and financial processes. 

Federal employees used purchase cards

provided under FSS contracts for more

than 23 million transactions worth

$12.3 billion in FY 2000, almost a 20%

increase over 1999.  Over 670,000

Federal employees held cards. Use of

the cards saved the Government more

than $1.3 billion in administrative

costs and generated $65 million in

refunds.  Merchants now offer point -

of - sa le discounts for users of Federa l

S mart Pay cards. 

VE H I C L E AC Q U I S I T I O N A N D
LE A S I N G SE R V I C E S

In FY 2000, GSA bought approximately

55,000 vehicles, worth over $1.1 billion,

at average prices of 13% to 18% below

dea ler- invoice prices.  The most

commonly purchased vehicles —

compact sedans— were priced 27%

below the commercial Black Book,

exceeding GSA's goal by 7%.  

SUPPLY AND PROCUREMENT BUSINESS VOLUME
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Of all vehicles bought in FY 2000, more

than 38,000 were acquired for the GSA

I nteragency Fleet, which leases them

in turn to 75 federal agencies.  The Fleet

continued to expand in FY 2000 by

consolidating nearly 5,900 vehicles 

from other agencies, resulting in a

1 7 7 , 0 0 0 - vehicle fleet and cost - avoidance

for taxpayers of nearly $4 million. 

In FY 2000 the cost - per- mile for the

GSA Fleet was 33.3 cents for 2000, up

7.8% from 30.9 cents in FY 1999,

because of a dramatic rise in

petroleum costs, yet still below the

annual inflation rate.

A lso in FY 2000, GSA markedly

improved controls over its Fleet

S ervices Card, with the help of the

card issuer, Citibank, and the GSA

I nspector Genera l.  

GSA Maintenance Control Centers

provide access to ma intenance and

repa ir services and professiona l

ma intenance management for fleet

customers nationwide through a single

ca ll - management system.  A long the

same lines, GSA established a nationa l

A ccident Management Center in 

FY 2000, which GSA Fleet customers

can ca ll toll - free in the event of an

accident. S pecia lists at the center

assist customers and vendors in all

aspects of accident - reporting and

vehicle repa irs.

To help agencies comply with the

E nergy Policy A ct, GSA ma de its

largest purchase ever of alternative -

fuel vehicles (AFVs) in FY 2000,

including vehicles that run on ethanol,

compressed natural gas, and electricity.

GSA purchased approximately 8,400

AF V s, including sedans, vans, pickup

trucks and buses. O ver 7,000, or 83%,

of these were for the GSA fleet, which

now carries over 17,000 AF V s.  Next

year, GSA will make up to $4 million in

matching funds ava ilable to Federa l

agencies in six cities to cover the cost

difference between AFVs and

tra ditional gasoline - powered vehicles.

GSA also provides specia lty vehicles

for numerous agencies.  In FY 2000, an

8 0 - passenger, troop transport, semi -

tra iler was designed for the U. S. A rmy

Tra ining Command, and a 48-foot

double expandable "clinical research

tra iler" was designed for the Centers

for Disease Control and Prevention. 

Federal vehicle purchasers now can do

a lot of their business online.  They can

select a vehicle type, choose options,

price a vehicle, and compare models

from Daimler Chrysler, Ford and

G eneral Motors.  They can consult the

Feder al Vehicle Standard s and check on

the status of their vehicle orders.

A mong several new electronic

initiatives this year, the GSA Fleet

introduced enhancements to F leet

D rive - Through, an online tool for

customers to manage their assigned

fleet.  GSA customers can now make

their monthly mileage reports for

assigned vehicles online and access

inventory information.  They can also

obta in data reports on their vehicles. 

TR AV E L A N D TR A N S P O RTAT I O N

In recent years, Federal travel and

transportation budgets have tota led

approximately $20 billion each year.

By leveraging this large market, GSA

FLEET OPERATING COSTS
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has successfully negotiated favorable

rates from the major airlines and

provides agencies with significant

savings in travel expenses. 

City-Pairs Program

The Contract A irline City - Pa irs

P rogram provides Federal travelers

with discounts 70% below published

unrestricted coach fares, with no

a dvanced booking requirements or

pena lties for changes.  Business volume

for city - pa irs contracts tota led $1 billion

in FY 2000, about the same level as in

the previous year.  With discounts

provided by 14 airlines, the government

saved $2 billion altogether.  The

F Y 2000 contracts covered 4,337

domestic and 653 international routes,

with nonstop service in 95% of the

markets where nonstop service is

offered and ava ilable.

Travel Management Centers

GSA Travel Management Centers

reduce Federal administrative costs

by shifting the burden of arranging

travel from in - house staffs to

commercial travel agents.  They ensure

that Federa l travelers take advantage

of GSA’s airline city - pa irs contracts

and other cost - saving programs.  They

a lso provide a mechanism for centra lly

billing and reconciling airline charges.

Tra ditiona lly, travel agents have

provided these services at no cost to

the Government, relying instead on

revenues from airline commissions.

The airlines have changed their

commission policies and during 

FY 2000, the Government began 

paying for travel agency services.  

In November 1999, GSA awarded new

fee - based contracts to 49 firms to

provide travel agency services to

Federal agencies across the nation.

Freight and Household 
Goods Relocation

GSA consolidates civilian agency

requirements for shipping freight and

the household goods of relocating

Federal employees, and negotiates

discounted transportation rates and

services from carriers.  Our efforts

resulted in Federal rates that were

46% (freight) and 52% (household

goods) below commercial rates for

comparable services in FY 2000.

Federal agencies using these

programs saved about $145 million

during the year. 

GSA regional employees on the West

C oast negotiated an agreement that

a llows shippers to send their A laska -

bound cargo to a consolidation point

in Washington State.  There, it ’s

sorted, repacked, and forwarded under

volume - discount rates, producing an

average savings of 53% compared 

to commercial rates.  This year, the

discount increased an additional 

9% over previous years.  

In the future, the GSA’s nationwide

rate and routing system will include

automated applications such as

government bills of la ding (or similar

forms), booking, tracking, and billing

of shipments, mileage computation,

and pre - audits of carrier invoices.

Small Package Express 
Shipments

Federal agencies saved nearly 

$108 million on express delivery

services through GSA’s sma ll - package

contract with Federal Express.  Federa l

shippers sent more than 18.3 million

parcels at rates 46% less than the

comparable corporate rate.  Sma ll

package business volume tota led over 

$132 million, about 6% more than the

$126 million spent to send 17.2 million

packages in FY 1999.  This contract

has two types of service—overnight

delivery by 10:30 a. m. and second - day

delivery by 4:30 p. m.—and holds an

automatic, money - back guarantee if

delivery is even one minute late.  

GSA has also negotiated discount

rates for delivery services outside the

scope of the Federal Express contract,

e . g ., next - day or second - day aggregate

shipments over 150 pounds.  Federa l

agencies using these agreements saved

$19.2 million in FY 2000. 

Transportation Audits

GSA audits Federal freight and

transportation vouchers to recover 

or avoid excess charges.  In FY 2000,

pre - payment audits reduced

transportation costs by $4 million, 

and post - payment audits recovered

nearly $20 million (gross) in

overpayments.  The prepayment

reduction met the FY 2000 savings

target, while the total post - payment

recovery exceeded the target by 

$4.7 million.
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PE R S O NA L PR O P E RT Y
MA NAG E M E N T
GSA arranges for the redistribution 

of excess personal property among

Federal agencies, the donation of excess

property to eligible State and loca l

governments and public nonprofit

groups, and the sa le of surplus

property to the public.  In FY 2000,

GSA met its goal by helping avoid 

new expenditures tota ling $3.2 billion

through the use and donation of

excess personal property.  The

G overnment saved $2.6 billion of this

through redistribution of persona l

property among Federal agencies.

D onations to State and loca l

governments and other qua lifying

institutions saved $564 million, 

$16 million less than FY 1999.  The

va lue of surplus personal property 

sold to the public was $296 million 

in FY 2000, up from $254 million the

previous year.

GSA oversees the donation of persona l

property, most notably computers, to

approximately 70,000 tax - supported

organizations, including schools, day

care centers, hospita ls, homeless

shelters, senior citizen organizations

and programs, vocational tra ining

facilities, fire and police departments,

and drug treatment and rehabilitation

programs.  In one case, Cabrillo High

S chool in Lompoc, CA, pa id GSA only

$1,300, through the California State

A gency for Surplus Property, for six

cornets, six trumpets, soprano and

a lto saxophones, baritone horns,

gongs and chimes worth $25,000.

O utfitted with new instruments, 

the concert band played its way to

first prize in a local competition.

In FY 2000, GSA helped NASA dispose

of thousands of items worth $29 million

among Federal and State buyers. This

included moving four SR-71 Blackbird

spy aircraft from the A ir Force to

NAS A’s Dryden Flight Research Center

in Edwards, CA.  A nother SR-71 was

donated to the Smithsonian Institution

upon retirement.  In its farewell flight,

the Blackbird, which had held the

world speed record since 1965, flew

from Los A ngeles to Washington, DC

in 68 minutes, and set another world

speed record. 

I nformation about sa les of surplus

property to the public can be found on

the GSA Web site at www. gsa . go v.

VALUE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY RE-USED/SOLD
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The GSA Federal Technology Service

(FTS) provides ta ilored solutions and

world class services to support our

customers’ missions worldwide.  

FTS provides local and long - distance

telecommunications services,

information technology (IT) solutions,

and information security services to

Federal agencies and other authorized

entities, such as the Native A merican

Tribal Nations, on a fee - for- service basis.

As a customer- centric organization,

FTS delivers superior customer service

by fully understanding customers ’

requirements and helping them find

better solutions.  Customer A ction Teams

focus on supporting our customers ’

missions.  At the same time, FTS

provides advanced tra ining for employees

and a number of other employee - centric

initiatives, to continue to ensure

customer satisfaction within efficient

and effective business operations. 

FTS PE R F O R M A N C E I N
FY 2000
FTS operations are financed on a

reimbursable basis through the

I nformation Technology Fund.  Less

than 1% of FTS activities — only $41

million in FY 2000—are funded by

congressional appropriations.  FY 2000

revenue was $5 billion, an increase of

more than 20% over FY 1999.

The FTS share of the Federa l

IT / telecommunications market has

increased dramatica lly since 1995.  In

just the past five years, it grew from

13.7% to 14.2%, with a business volume

increase of more than $834 million.

FTS set an FY 2000 goal of 15.8% of the

Federal IT market; however, the size of

the market exceeded origina lly

forecast levels.

The overa ll percentage of customers

indicating satisfaction with FTS

representatives, programs, products

and services on annual surveys

exceeded 76%.  While slightly lower than

the overa ll FY 2000 goal of 80%, the

results do indicate that three - fourths 

of the customers responding expressed

satisfaction.

FTS met or exceeded its other key FY

2000 targets for the following

performance goa ls :

■ E xcess revenue as a percent of tota l

expenses equa led 0.25%, excluding

unfunded expenses and reserve use.

The FTS long - term goal is to achieve

revenues equal to its expenses, so

S andra N. Bates

C ommissioner

E mployees: 1,515

R esources :

I nformation Technology Fund Revenue: $5.0 billion

O ther Funding:  $41 million (Direct Appropriations

and Reimbursable )

Federal Technology Service
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that it does not have either excess or

insufficient revenues.

■ S ma ll business volume equa led

3 5 . 8 % percent of prime contracts,

well over the 25% goa l.

■ Average monthly local line rates

were reduced by 4.7%.

■ L ong distance prices were 25.7%

lower than comparable commercia l

offerings.

FTS BU S I N E S S LI N E S
G S A’s two technology business lines

are Network Services and IT Solutions.

There is substantial coordination and

interaction between the two business

lines because of the growing

relationship between telecommuni-

cations and integrated IT solutions. 

NE T WO R K SE R V I C E S

GSA provides end - to - end

telecommunications services,

supporting local and long - distance

Federal users.  In FY 2000, GSA also

undertook broad responsibilities to

ensure a smooth Y2K transition in

Federal telecommunications systems.

From its command post in Fa irfax, VA ,

FTS insta lled an FTS Iridium backup,

and successfully completed GSA-wide

and industry - wide exercises.  Secured by

GSA's well - tested plans and procedures,

Federal telecommunications systems

were brought into the new millennium

essentia lly without incident.

N etwork Services revenues for FY 2000

tota led $1 billion, 9% less than the FY

1999 total of $1.1 billion, a decline that

is due ma inly to the aggressive pricing

competition by local and long distance

carriers.  

FTS2000 and 2001 Long-distance
Telecommunications Service

For most of the 1990s, GSA provided

long - distance service through its

groundbreaking FTS2000 contracts

with AT&T and Sprint.  These contracts

provided the lowest long - distance rates

ever.  When they expired in FY 1 9 9 9 ,

GSA awarded the next generation of

long - distance contracts, FTS2001, to

S print and MCI World C om.  The FTS2001

contracts reta ins key features of

FTS2000 and provide Federal agencies

with low - cost, state - of - the - art,

integrated voice, data, and video

telecommunications.  With implement-

ation of FTS2001, GSA-provided long -

distance service will be non - mandatory

for Federal agencies for the first time.  

The cost of Federal long - distance

services declined from an average  

27 cents per minute in FY 1988 to 5 cents

per minute under FTS2000.  Under

FTS2001, average prices were 3.5 cents

per minute for FY 2000, and are expected

to drop to less than 1 cent per minute

by the end of the contract period. 

In FY 2000, GSA completed the

transition of 89 customer agencies from

FTS2000 to the FTS2001 contracts. This

involved complex logistics, emergency

procedures, planning, testing and

project management support.

Local Telecommunications
Services

GSA provides local voice and data

telecommunications services to

Federal agencies nationwide.  Switched

services are provided through more

than 400 local telecommunications

systems, which offer all the features

of the most modern systems. 

The local telecommunications programs

generated $339 million in revenue in

NETWORK SERVICES

BUSINESS VOLUME
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FY 2000, an increase of 19% over FY

1999.  The average monthly line rate

dropped nearly 5% to $18.81 in FY 2000,

down from $19.74 in FY 1999.  This

continued a six - year downward trend.  

GSA also achieved significant cost

savings in FY 2000 through two new

local telecommunications programs,

M etropolitan A rea A cquisition (MAA )

and the Washington Interagency

Telecommunications System (WITS).  

■ Metropolitan Area Acquisition
Contracts.

The MAA program delivers

immediate and substantial price

reductions in local telephone

markets by taking advantage of

increased competition as permitted

by the Telecommunications A ct of

1996.  As a result, monthly telephone

costs for Federal agencies will soon

see cost savings in cities across the

country as the MAA program

expands beyond the initial three

cities, New York, Chicago and San

Francisco.  In FY 2000, more than 30

contracts were awarded to eight

industry partners.  These contracts

could save the Federal Government

over $740 million.

■ Washington Interagency 

Tel ecommunicat ions System

W ITS provides up - to - date and cost -

effective communications services

to all Federal agencies and other

authorized users in the Washington,

DC, metropolitan area.  In FY 2000,

W ITS provided switched voice and

data services to more than 183,030

Federal users.  The new W IT S 2 0 0 1

contract extends W ITS offerings to

include Internet and Intranet access

and offers users flexible billing

options and direct access to the

contractor.  Data services such as

circuit switched data, dedicated

transmission, asynchronous transfer

mode, frame relay, and switched

multi - megabit data will also be

ava ilable.  The 8-year, $1.4 billion

W ITS2001 contract to Verizon

C ommunications, stipulates that

GSA will receive the lowest ava ilable

prices, which will save customers an

estimated $300 million.  W IT S 2 0 0 1

serves 30% of the Federal agencies

in the Washington, DC area.  This

customer base is expected to double

within the next year.  Current GSA

customers will experience up to a

30% price reduction.

International/Wire and
Cable/Wireless Application
("Niche" Contracts) Services

GSA provided Federal agencies nearly

$123 million in specia lized services

through the following Niche Contracts

in FY 2000:

■ Telecommunications Support

C ontract 2 (TSC2) is a worldwide

contract that offers

telecommunications planning ;

ana lytical support; design and

engineering; acquisition support ;

insta llation, integration, and

implementation; and operations and

ma intenance support. 

■ Technical and Management Support

S ervices (TMS) contract provides

technica l, management, ana lytica l,

and financial services. 

■ I nternational Direct Distance Dia ling

(ID3) Services contract, administered

jointly by GSA and the Department

of Defense, offers switched voice

services to over 280 countries at

prices 35% to 45% below comparable

services.

■ Wire and Cable Services allows

users to economica lly ma inta in and

upgra de telecommunications cable

and wiring systems.

■ S atellite Service Contracts offer a

wide variety of commercial fixed,

broa dcast, and mobile satellite

services.  These contracts were

awarded to 10 of the largest

commercial satellite contractors

using streamlined acquisition

procedures.  They will allow users to

implement the latest technology and

services.

■ Wireless Telecommunications

S ervices provides nationwide wireless

voice and data telecommunications

services and equipment, including

cellular telephones and pagers. 

■ E lectronic Commerce, Internet, and

E - ma il A ccess (CINEMA) program

LOCAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS

AVERAGE MONTHLY LINE RATE
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offers Internet access and other

services, including Web hosting,

virtual private networks, firewa lls,

universal messaging, and five

different electronic commerce

offerings. 

■ I n - flight Telecommunications Services

offers discounted in - flight voice,

data, and fax services for Federa l

travelers through GTE A irfone and

AT&T Wireless.  The discount for

Federal travelers averaged between

25% and 30% in FY 2000.

Federal Relay Service

The Federal Relay Service acts as a

telecommunications intermediary for

individua ls within the Federal sector

as well as between hearing individua ls

and individua ls who are deaf, hard of

hearing, and / or have speech disabilities,

for telecommunications with and within

the Federal Government.  The service

was used for approximately 478,000

minutes in FY 2000.

IT SO L U T I O N S

G S A’s IT Solutions business line is a

fully cost - reimbursable information

technology solutions provider to

Federal agencies.  GSA offers virtua lly

a ll types of IT products and services,

primarily through contracts with

private sector firms that include FTS

contracts, Federal Supply Schedules

contracts, and contracts negotiated

by other agencies.

The IT Solutions business line earned

$4 billion in FY 2000 revenues, an

increase of $883 million over the 

FY 1999 level. 

In technology as in other areas, GSA is

employing the effectiveness of online

commerce.  Its IT Solutions Shop (IT S S )

was established in FY 1999.  This 

Web - based electronic purchase and

order tracking system, supports

approximately 1,800 customers,

vendors, and FTS staff.  ITSS fully

automates the procurement process,

a llowing users to place, award and

track orders for any IT product or

service over the Internet — from any

place, at any time.  In FY 2000, GSA

opened an online Wireless Store in

partnership with a lea ding reta iler of

telecommunications products and

services.  This store is a one - stop shop

for Government employees to research,

compare and acquire wireless products

and services.  It is also a source of

comprehensive information about the

latest developments in wireless

technologies.  It is linked to GSA

A dvan ta ge !™, the primary GSA online

procurement site.  A lso in FY 2000, 

the Sma ll B iz M a ll was established as

the first Federal Web site dedicated 

to ordering from 8(a) sma ll and

disa dvantaged IT businesses.

The IT Solutions business line aims to

provide all clients, regardless of

geographic location, the same

products and services or solutions,

with the same level of service, at the

same price.  To achieve this goa l, it

operates within a concept of

operations based on distinct service

delivery and solutions development

centers of expertise that are designed

to leverage existing skill sets and

ta lents.  The goal is achieved through :

■ 13 Client Support Centers (CSCs).

The centers work directly with

clients by providing support, issuing

and managing tasks and delivering

IT solutions.

■ 4 Solutions Development Centers

(SDCs).  The centers award and

a dminister IT contracts for the

CSCs and for other agencies.

Client Support Centers

CSCs serve IT customers in each of

G S A’s 11 regions.  Two other Centers

support clients nationwide.  CSC staff

interact directly with customers,

providing systems definition and

design, business and scientific

software services, computer security

studies and risk ana lyses, facilities

management, and access to all FTS

products and services.

■ Regional IT Solutions

The 11 regional CSCs operate under

the Regional IT Solutions Center.  In

FY 2000, the Center introduced

B uyers. G ov, a Web - based Government

business and auction exchange.  

The center also adapted existing

commercial e-commerce software

to Federal standards to introduce

reverse auctioning and aggregation

capabilities to the Government IT

community. 

■ National CSCs

The two national CSCs are the

Federal Systems Integration and

M anagement Center (FEDSIM) and
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the Office of Information Security

( O I S ) .

FEDSIM has helped agencies

acquire and use information

systems and IT hardware, software,

ma intenance, tra ining, and ana lyst

support for many years, focusing on

large, complex systems integration

projects.  Business volume tota led

$977 million in FY 2000, 14% more

than in FY 1999.

O ffice of Information Security

provides worldwide information

systems and infrastructure security

solutions to Federal agencies, and

supports the security needs of U. S.

a llies in conducting classified,

sensitive diplomatic and / or military

missions.  Revenues were $97

million in FY 2000, down 17% from

$117 million in FY 1999. 

OIS programs include :

■ Access Certificates for Electronic
Services (ACES)

ACES uses digital signature

technology to authenticate

individua ls and businesses

wishing to access Government

information and services

electronica lly.

■ Presidential Decision Directive 63 
(PDD63) Guidance

PDD63 directed Federal agencies

to take a phased approach to

protecting their own critica l

infrastructures.  OIS provided

executive departments and

agencies with guidance in

preparing their protection plans. 

■ O p er at ion Safeguard

GSA offers Blanket Purchase

A greements with 27 industry

partners to provide a full range 

of professional infrastructure

assurance services and products

to strengthen defenses aga inst

both physical and cyber- based

attacks.

■ Federal Computer Incident 
Response Capability (FedCIRC)

A partnership of computer

incident response teams, security

and law enforcement

professiona ls, and aca demic and

industry partners, FedCIRC serves

as a central response and

reporting mechanism to help

Federal agencies deal with

computer- security incidents.

■ FTS Vulnerability Assessment 
Services (ENIGMA)

This program was initiated in 

FY 2000 as a tool that provides 

the Federal Government with the

means to immediately assess

potential cyber vulnerabilities 

and exposure to attack.  It uses the

I nformation Security A ssessment

M ethodology developed by the

N ational Security A gency.

Solutions Development Centers

G S A’s four solutions development

centers develop, award, and administer

contracts for use by all CSCs.  They are :

■ Applications ‘n’ Support for Widely-
diverse End User Requirements
(ANSWER) Solutions Development
Center

In only its second year, AN S W E R ' s

business volume increased by 300%

in FY 2000.  Twenty - one agencies

placed over 600 task orders worth

more than $300 million under the

IT SOLUTIONS REVENUE
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ANSWER contracts.  These

contracts offer a wide range of IT

services, including systems ana lysis,

requirements definition, system

design, software ma intenance,

facilities management support

services, scientific and engineering

applications, network support

services, and systems insta llation

and integration.  They incorporate

many of the provisions of the former

FISSP program, taking advantage 

of economies of sca le and GSA's

existing strengths and expertise. 

■ Small Business Solutions
Development Center

The Sma ll Business SDC focuses on

providing Federal clients rapid access

to goods and services provided by

the sma ll business community.  There

were 166 8(a) contracts in place in

FY 2000, through which 1,446 task

orders tota ling $224 million were

awarded.

■ Feder al Com pu ter A cqui sit ion Cen ter 

The Federal Computer A cquisition

C enter (FEDCAC) delivers full - service

management of computer

acquisitions worth more than $100

million and conducts full and open

competitions for contracts required

by FTS customer support centers

nationwide. 

■ Information Technology Acquisition
Center

This solutions development center,

established in FY 2000, provides

customized acquisition support for

a ll IT needs.  Millennia Lite is its

premier contract, providing the full

spectrum of IT support services

worldwide through multiple - award

contracts.

The solutions development centers

have awarded the following major

contracts since their establishment

two years ago :

■ M illennia is a 10-year, $25 billion

contract supporting very large

systems integration projects and

providing a full suite of IT support

services.  The contract ’s innovative

use of oral proposa ls dramatica lly

reduces the time and costs required

for individual task order awards.

■ M illennia Lite supports sma ll- to

mid - level systems integration projects

in four functional areas: IT planning,

studies and assessment; high - end IT

services; mission support services ;

and legacy systems migration and

new enterprise systems development.

Within three months after this

contract was in place, 40 task orders

were awarded, for an estimated

va lue of almost $16 million.

■ I nnovative Business Center

develops and deploys new service

areas that incorporate the most

current technologies and approaches

to solving Federal IT problems.  

Financial Management Systems

S upport Cen ter helps Federa l

agencies eva luate, design, and

implement financial and

a dministrative systems. 

Federal Learning Technology

C en ter (Fed L earn ) provides IT- based

solutions for tra ditional tra ining issues

encountered by Federal agency clients

worldwide.  Fed L earn assists agencies

with any or all of the life cycle support

necessary to acquire, design, develop,

implement, and manage these learning

tools. 

S eat Managemen t contracts

awarded to eight companies provide

Federal agencies with complete

desktop computer support as a 

non - owned service that encompasses

the hardware, software, connectivity,

management, operation, and

ma intenance of the desktop

environment and its associated

network infrastructure.

S mart cards offer an unsurpassed

mobile computing platform for

identification, authentication and

a dministrative functions.  GSA's

G overnment - wide Common A ccess

I dentification Smart Card Contract for

use by Federal agencies prescribes

interoperability standards for smart

cards, including specifications for

making any vendor ’s smart card

rea dable with any other vendor ’s rea der.
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G. Martin Wagner

A ssociate A dministrator

E mployees:  284

R esources:  

$54 million  (Direct Appropriations and 

R eimbursable )

The GSA Office of Governmentwide

Policy (OGP) was created in December

1995 to separate GSA’s policy - making

from its service delivery and operations.

A ll policy - making functions assigned to

GSA were combined under OGP’s

broad mandate to build and ma inta in 

a policy infrastructure for the Federa l

G overnment.  OGP became the foca l

point for intergovernmenta l

collaboration, shared systems,

acquisition systems and support,

professional development, information

technology policy, and regulatory

information.

G S A’s policy - making authority

encompasses or supports the following

areas:  acquisition, advisory committees,

a ircraft, contract management

information, electronic commerce,

information technology,

intergovernmental management, ma il,

motor vehicles, personal property, rea l

property and the workplace, regulatory

information, tra ining for acquisition

professiona ls, transportation, and

travel. 

OGP PE R F O R M A N C E
O G P ’s performance goa ls center on

GSA's roles in building and

ma inta ining a policy infrastructure,

identifying best practices and

providing education and tra ining.  In 

FY 2000, OGP met or exceeded most of

its key goa ls.  It achieved its targets for

the following performance goa ls :

■ O rganizing, collaborating with, and

lea ding interagency committees in all

its policy areas.
■ I dentifying and publishing lea ding

practices for those areas within

G S A’s purview. Developing and

promoting performance

measurement systems for

G overnmentwide use. 
■ I mproving accessibility to shared

databases and information on best

practices and policies for

government, industry and the 

public ’s use.
■ E stablishing policies, standards and

best practices to help develop a

single face for Government electronic

business transactions.
■ A ssisting Federal agencies where the

products, services, and infrastructure

have not been implemented to meet

the needs of persons with disabilities

for a barrier- free information

technology environment.

O ffice of Governmen twide Policy
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■ E stablishing and ma inta ining a core

curriculum of Internet - based courses

and increasing the tra ining provided

by GSA.
■ I mproving the professional skills of

present and future Federal IT lea ders.
■ P roviding online access for

contractors wanting to do business

with the Federal Government. 

IN T E R G OV E R N M E N TA L
CO L L A B O R AT I O N

GSA collaborates with other Federa l

agencies, State and local governments,

private industry, and other entities to

develop Governmentwide Federa l

policies and guidelines.  Working with

over 70 interagency groups, it

coordinates the identification,

development, and dissemination of

policies and guidelines, education 

and tra ining opportunities, and best

practices in GSA’s areas of expertise.  

FE D E R A L AC Q U I S I T I O N PO L I C Y
GSA is one of three agencies that

issue and revise the Federa l

A cquisition Regulation (FAR), which

implements Federal procurement

legislation, and GSA cha irs one of two

councils that produce changes to the

FAR.  We helped form 28 interagency

committees of technical experts in all

areas of procurement to advise on

FAR changes.

EL E C T R O N I C GOV E R N M E N T
GSA spearhea ds Federal e-Government

initiatives, finding ways to exploit 

technology to enhance access to and

delivery of information and services to

citizens, business partners, employees,

agencies and other Government

entities.  Government use of Internet -

based services for electronic

purchasing and information sharing is

becoming more sophisticated, but

online citizen transactions are still in

the early stages.  GSA promotes

citizen - centered electronic services —

simplified, standardized access to

online Government information and

services. 

GSA provides continuity and focus for

(1) developing new policies to promote

the effective use of electronic

G overnment; (2) developing and

implementing electronic services for

citizens; (3) implementing electronic

benefits transfer; (4) expanding

G overnment card services; and (5)

designing, prototyping and eva luating

electronic Government technologies 

to meet citizen needs.  

GSA coordinates electronic commerce

initiatives across Government, including :

■ Authentication for
OnlineTransactions 

People accessing Government

services electronica lly will need 

to be able to identify themselves 

in a way that leaves no room for

mistakes or fraud.  In FY 2000, GSA

led a Governmentwide effort to

issue 100,000 digital signature

certificates by December 2000.

These certificates are provided

under GSA’s ACES contracts. 

■ Establishing the Next
Generation of Technical
Standards

GSA and the National Institute of

S tandards and Technology are

collaborating on a methodology to

test the interoperability of technology

products based on supply - cha in 

e - commerce standards.  Those

standards were developed by

R osetta N et, an independent

consortium formed to reach

industry consensus on electronic

commerce standards.  Their use

helps companies improve the qua lity

of information exchange between

buyers and sellers.

■ Smart Cards

GSA has worked with agencies and

commercial firms to reach

agreement on common requirements

for smart cards in the Federa l

G overnment, producing a handbook

for Federal agencies and others.

These cards, which look like credit

cards, conta in computer chips

capable of holding a wide variety of

information, including digita l

signatures and bio - metric data, such

as fingerprints.  Their uses include

identification and authentication,

building and computer access, and

storage of medical and dental data.

S mart cards can also serve as both

credit and debit cards. 

■ Efficient Government Buying  

GSA completed the second phase of

an Electronic Cata log Interoperability

P ilot enabling Federal buyers to

search Government and commercia l



online cata logs simultaneously,

compare products, and make

purchases using smart cards.  The

pilot tested a secure, interoperable,

multi - cata log architecture, and

demonstrated an end - to - end 

e - commerce business process. 

■ Sponsoring Electronic Grants
Initiatives  

In FY 2000, the President signed

legislation requiring agencies to

create a common system for

electronic grants processing by

S tate, loca l, and Tribal Governments

and nonprofit organizations.  GSA

sponsors the Interagency Electronic

G rants Committee in its work to

automate the grants process

through the Federal Commons

initiative, a one - stop site for

submitting grant applications to

agencies across the Government.

■ Electronic Benefits Transfer
(EBT)

The U. S. Government provides over

$500 billion annua lly in benefits to

its citizens.  GSA is working with

Federal and State benefit - providing

agencies and private companies to

develop a standard nationwide EBT

system, including a single card for

accessing cash and food benefits at

automated teller machines and

point - of - sa le locations.

■ The FirstGov Web Site

At the request of the President, GSA

designed, built and launched the

First G o v. go v Web site, which serves

as the portal to all Federal Web -

based information and services.

The larger mission of the initiative is

to "connect the public to all

G overnment information and

services."  This includes addressing

issues related to policy, technology,

information, marketing and

management.  A lliances with State

and local governments, cross -

agency organizations and private

sector firms will accelerate efforts

to improve online search

capabilities, geographic information

service applications, natura l

language processing, information

categorization and user- feedback.

RE A L PR O P E RT Y

C ommitted to improving the

management of Federal real estate

while protecting Federal resources

and taxpayers' interests, GSA

promotes collaborative and innovative

policies, products, and services

related to real property, the 21st

century workplace, and

entrepreneurial Government services.

P rojects in FY 2000 included :

■ I n teg r ated Workpl ace . G S A

promotes a comprehensive

approach to providing lea ding - edge

workplaces for the Federa l

G overnment by integrating business

plans, user needs, and space

planning.  We develop and

disseminate innovative tools and

models for use in workplace

eva luation, including our publication,

The Integ r ated Workpl ace: A

C om prehensive Approach to

D evelopi ng Worksp ace .

■ I den t ifyi ng Real Prop erty Trend s . This

project includes researching,

ana lyzing and gathering information

on the evolution of office buildings

and workspace.  It helps Federa l

managers make better decisions by

identifying the trends that affect

how real property will be designed,

constructed, managed and staffed

in the future.

■ G o vern men twi de Real Prop erty

I nf ormat ion Shari ng (GRPIS)

P rog r am . GRPIS encourages

interagency sharing of community -

based real property information,

through local councils, to support

better asset management decisions. 

■ L ead i ng Pract ices . GSA shares

lea ding practices in real estate

asset management through its

annual A chievement Award for Rea l

P roperty Innovation, its R eal

P rop erty Polic y S ite newsletter,

forums and agency visits, and its

clearinghouse. 

■ S ustai nable Developmen t . G S A

continues to build on its R eal

P rop erty Sustai nable Developmen t

G ui de.

■ Tel e work . GSA develops policy,

outreach, and collaborative

partnerships to advance

teleworking, an important

management strategy for increasing

the effectiveness of the Federa l

workforce.
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■ Feder al Real Estate on the Internet .

In FY 2000, GSA undertook a study

of the emerging use of the Internet

in Federal real estate applications.

Federal Travel  

GSA develops policies for Federa l

travel — which costs the Government

approximately $9 billion a year — and

determines Federal travelers’ per diem

reimbursement rates.  In FY 2000, GSA

established a Premier Lodging

P rogram, which leverages the

G overnment ’s spending in the travel

marketplace to provide guaranteed

rooms at the per diem rate for Federa l

employees.  

Personal Property  

GSA develops policies and guidance

on the reuse and disposal of Federa l

personal property.  It took over

responsibility for the C omputers for

L earning Web site from the

D epartment of Energy in FY 2000, and

redesigned it to make it more user-

friendly. 

Motor Vehicles  

In FY 2000, GSA rewrote

G overnmentwide regulations affecting

the management and operation of

approximately 575,000 motor vehicles

throughout the world.  W ritten in

" pla in English," the rewritten

regulations became the first program

chapter in the new Federal Management

R egulation.  GSA also encourages

agencies to share their solutions to

motor vehicle program problems.  

Aircraft

In collaboration with the 18-agency

member Interagency Committee for

Aviation Policy, GSA signed an

unprecedented Safety Standards

A greement with the Federal agencies

that own or hire aircraft.  In addition,

GSA deployed the new Federa l

Aviation Interactive Reporting System

( FAIRS).  Through this user- friendly,

I nternet - accessible system, agencies

report and ana lyze information on

G overnmentwide aircraft inventories,

costs, and usage.  A bout 150 FAI R S

users have been tra ined. 

Transportation  

GSA develops policy for the

G overnment ’s use of commercia l

transportation resources and fosters

collaboration between Government

and the private sector.  The

G overnmentwide Transportation

M anagement Policy Council was

revived in FY 2000, to function as a

forum for collaboration in identifying

and implementing many of the

industry ’s lea ding practices.  GSA

rewrote the regulations governing

transportation in "pla in English "

format, incorporating the use of

commercia l - type tools, such as

commercial bills of la ding and 

credit cards.

Mail  

GSA develops policy for ma il - related

issues and directives that directly

affect Federal employees, Federa l

agencies and the private sector.  In 

FY 2000, it chartered an Interagency

M a il Policy Council, with

approximately 170 members

representing over 38 agencies.  GSA

a lso developed a Mail Resource Guide

for Federal employees.

Public Participation through
Advisory Committees  

G S A’s Committee Management

S ecretariat provides management,

a dministration, and reporting

assistance to Federal advisory

committees, which are va luable

participants in the Federal decision -

making process.  In FY 2000, the

S ecretariat expanded its Internet site

to permit agencies to perform all

statutorily required functions online. 

InterGovernmental Solutions  

As cha ir of the U. S. Intergovernmenta l

A dvisory Board, GSA has taken the

lead in promoting an internationa l

conversation on the use of IT to make

governments work better.  Through

newsletters and special reports, GSA

disseminates information on trends,

perspectives, and innovations so that

what works in one place might be

a dapted to another.  GSA also

produces one - page Federa l / S tate

I ssue A lerts on such "hot topics" as

I nternet taxation, privacy, and digita l

signatures. 

GSA compiles several directories

important in Government IT circles,

including Who's Who in Govern men t

I T, The E-Govern ment Inven tory, and

E l ectronic A ccess to Govern men t

I nf ormat ion. 
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SH A R E D SYS T E M S
GSA develops and ma inta ins

computer systems and databases that

are used Governmentwide, including

the following: 

Electronic Inventory
Management Systems  

GSA has two information systems to

help Federal real estate professiona ls

manage their assets more efficiently.

FIRM (Foundation Information for Rea l

P roperty Management) is a database

for real property management.  The

World Wide Inventory of Federal Rea l

E state was revamped in FY 2000 to be

searchable on the Web.  GSA

continued to add major users of FIRM

last year, most notably the Socia l

S ecurity A dministration.  Seventy - one

percent of its potential users are now

on board.

Federal Domestic Assistance
Catalog  

GSA compiles Governmentwide

information on over 1,400 Federa l

assistance programs from 60 Federa l

agencies, departments and other

establishments in the annual C atalog

of Feder al Domest ic A ssi stan ce and its

semi - annual update.  

Federal Procurement Data Cen ter

GSA operates the Federal Procurement

D ata Center, which assembled

information on more than 30 million

actions on Federal contracts and

credit card transactions in FY 2000.

Acquisition Reform Network
(ARNet) 

This is GSA’s hub for Internet - based

acquisition tools and information.  It 

is the entry to the Federal A cquisition

R egulation, Fed bizopps, and the L i st 

of Part ies Excluded from Feder al

P roc urement and Nonproc uremen t

P rog r am s.

List of Parties Excluded from
Federal Procurement and
Nonprocurement Programs 

GSA compiles and ma inta ins this list

of approximately 25,000 individua ls and

businesses excluded from Federa l

procurement and nonprocurement

programs Governmentwide.

Asset Disposition Management
System

This system, deployed in FY 2000,

conta ins historical data on the life

cycle for personal property from the

time it is declared excess until it is

taken off the Federal inventory.  The

data will be used to eva luate how

property is managed after it is deemed

excess and to develop policies and

processes to make the property

disposal process more effective.

AC Q U I S I T I O N SYS T E M S A N D
SU P P O RT

GSA is one of three agencies required

by law to issue and ma inta in the

Federal A cquisition Regulation (FAR ) ,

which is the regulatory framework for

G overnmentwide procurements

tota ling approximately $200 billion per

year.  In FY 2000, GSA: 

■ D eveloped new acquisition policies

through collaboration with other

agencies and the public, issuing 49

amendments to streamline and

clarify existing processes, and

implement statutory changes.  

■ R eplaced hard - copy distribution of

FAR case materia ls with an online

site. 

■ M anaged the rewrite of the Federa l

P roperty Management Regulation to

eliminate non - regulatory guidance,

standards, specifications, and

outdated content. 

■ Awarded a contract for an

E lectronic Document Management

S ystem to provide electronic

publication and document

management capabilities for

promulgating the FAR. 

PR O F E S S I O NA L DE V E L O P M E N T
To ensure a highly tra ined Government

IT workforce, GSA identifies, develops,

and makes ava ilable professiona l

development opportunities for Federa l

employees. 

Strategic and Tactical Advocates
for Results (STAR) 

This new senior IT tra ining program

requires students to meet specific

mission objectives and outcomes

approved by their agency.  It provides

tra ining through nationa lly accla imed

institutions, including top - performing

universities.

Federal A cquisition Institute (FA I )

The FAI establishes and promotes

career management programs for the

acquisition workforce.  FAI offers
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distance learning opportunities,

sponsors research to promote best

procurement practices and performs

skills ana lyses of the acquisition

workforce.  In addition, it is working

with aca demic and professiona l

organizations to establish a body of

knowledge as a basis for essentia l

I nternet - based education and

performance support for public and

private sector acquisition

professiona ls.

Chief Information Officers (CIO)
University

The CIO University is a consortium of

universities which offers gra duate -

level courses in the executive core

competencies essential for a

successful CIO organization.

1,000 by the Year 2000  

The 1,000 by 2000 Program is a

gra duate - level certificate program that

helps Federal IT professiona ls prepare

for more responsible positions through

the course offerings of 29 colleges and

universities.  To date, 1,048 students

have registered, 788 have gra duated,

and 216 have atta ined a Masters degree.

Trail Boss Roundup and Network  

The Tra il Boss Program offers a ca dre

of IT management professiona ls

seminars focusing on core acquisition

and management issues involving IT

investments.  Over the last deca de,

more than 1,200 IT professiona ls from

54 Federal agencies have gra duated

from the program. 

Interagency Resources
Management Conference
(IRMCO)  

IRMCO is the Government ’s annua l

private conference focused on

innovation, best practices, and

communities of interest directly related

to e-Government and cross - agency

initiatives.  A ttended by almost 500 IT

lea ders, IRMCO 2000 featured more

than 80 speakers from the top echelons

of Federa l, State and internationa l

G overnments, industry and aca demia.

IN F O R M AT I O NTE C H N O L O G Y

GSA provides executive and

interagency IT support, including

critical policy - level support to the

Federal CIO Council, through

acquisition pilot projects, tra ining,

planning, outreach, and IT tools to

support agencies’ missions.  

Support for IT Management  

D uring FY 2000, GSA expanded its

planning and operations management

support to three key interagency

management groups created in

response to the Clinger- C ohen A ct: 

the Federal CIO Council, the

P rocurement Executives Council, 

and the Information Technology

R esources Board.  It also established

the IT Lea ders initiative for CIOs,

which fosters collaboration and

communication among sma ller- agency

CIOs on IT cha llenges and issues.

Federal Webmaster Forum  

GSA hosted the interagency Federa l

Webmaster Forum to address Internet

issues and provide opportunities for

networking and sharing best practices,

and provides tra ining for over 600

Federal Webmasters nationwide. 

Y2K Support  

GSA supported many Government

activities to address the Y 2 K

cha llenge, including a Y2K Web site for

the President ’s Council on the Year

2000 Conversion and the Federa l

G overnment ’s Gateway for Year 2000

I nformation Directories.  These sites

covered the range of worldwide Y 2 K -

related issues, including business

continuity and contingency planning. 

RE G U L ATO RY IN F O R M AT I O N

G S A’s Regulatory Information Service

C enter compiles and disseminates

information about Federal regulatory

activity.  Its principal publication is the

U nified A genda of Feder al Regul atory

and Deregul atory A ct ions, a unique,

comprehensive source of information

about regulatory actions that Federa l

agencies are considering.  It includes

The Regul atory Plan, which discusses

agencies’ regulatory priorities and

provides descriptions of their

significant rulings.  

GSA also ma inta ins a comprehensive

I nternet site on regulatory information,

www. regi nf o . go v that provides links to

sources of information on Federa l,

S tate, and local regulations.  These

include databases and search tools for

legislation and regulations, Federa l

agency home pages, and information

about pending and recently completed

OMB regulations.



GSA Fi n a n c i a l
S t at e m e n t s



GSA FI N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S52

February 14, 2001

M E M O R ANDUM FOR T H U R M AN M. DAV I S, SR.

ACTING AD M I N I S T R ATOR (A)

W I L L I AM B. EAR LY, JR.

CHIEF FINAN C I AL OFFICER (B)

F R O M : W I L L I AM R. BARTO N

I N S P E C TOR GENERAL (J)

S ubject : Audit of the General Services A dministration ’s 

Fisc al Years 2000 and 1999 Financial Statemen ts

This memorandum transmits Pricewaterhouse C oopers LLP’s (PwC) report on its Fiscal Years 2000 and 1999 financia l

statement audit of the General Services A dministration (GSA), and the Office of Inspector Genera l ’s (OIG) report on

internal controls over performance measures.

R esults of Independent Audit

The Chief Financial Officers (CFO) A ct of 1990 (P.L. 101-576) requires GSA’s Inspector General or an independent

external auditor, as determined by the Inspector Genera l, to audit the A gency ’s financial statements.  Under a

contract monitored by the OIG, PwC, an independent public accounting firm, performed the audit of GSA’s Fisca l

Years 2000 and 1999 financial statements.  The contract required that the audit be performed in accordance with

G overnment Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the Office of

M anagement and Budget ’s Bulletin No. 01-02,  "Aud it Requirements for Feder al Fi nan cial Statemen t s. "

PwC issued unqua lified opinions on GSA’s Fiscal Years 2000 and 1999 consolidated and combined financia l

statements and individual funds’ (Federal Buildings Fund, General Supply Fund, and Information Technology Fund )

financial statements.  However, PwC did identify three reportable conditions concerning GSA’s need to (1) improve

GSA entity - wide system security management and oversight, (2)  improve GSA system development and

implementation efforts, and (3) improve the controls over the integrity of rent data.  PwC also reported a potentia l

instance of noncompliance with a law arising from an advance between two GSA funds, the Federal Buildings Fund

(FBF) and the Information Technology Fund (ITF).  During the Fiscal Year 1998 audit, PwC requested the Counsel to

the Inspector General to review this advance of funds.  The OIG issued a legal opinion stating that GSA violated the

“ P urpose Statute” (31 U. S.C. § 1301) when the FBF advanced funds to the IT F, and these funds were “not properly

used to carry out PBS [Federal Buildings Fund] activities.”  GSA’s Office of General Counsel disagreed with the OIG

opinion. This matter was reported in PwC’s Fiscal Year 1998 financial statement audit and aga in in its Fiscal Year 1999

audit.  A lthough GSA changed its practice by liquidating the advance quarterly instead of annua lly, this did not

resolve this issue during Fiscal Year 2000.  However, in October 2000, the Office of the Chief Financial Officer

established procedures to liquidate this advance monthly, designed to more closely associate the funds with the

services provided.  This new approach should address the concerns our office has concerning this matter.

U.S. GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

Office of Inspector General
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OIG Evaluation of PwC’s Audit Performance

To ensure the qua lity of the audit work performed, we conducted a review of PwC’s audit of GSA’s Fiscal Years 2000

and 1999 financial statements.  Specifica lly, we :

■ R eviewed PwC’s approach and planning of the audit ;

■ E va luated the qua lifications and independence of the auditors ;

■ M onitored the progress of the audit at key points ;

■ E xamined working papers related to assessing internal controls over GSA’s financial reporting process and GSA’s

EDP systems ;

■ R eviewed PwC’s audit report ;

■ C oordinated issuance of the audit report; and 

■ Performed other procedures we deemed necessary.

H owever, due to the timing for completing the GSA Fiscal Year 2000 A nnual Report, we have not completed our

review of the working papers prepared by PwC.

PwC is responsible for the attached auditor ’s report dated December 29, 2000, and the conclusions expressed

therein.  Our review, as differentiated from an audit in accordance with genera lly accepted government auditing

standards, was not intended to enable us to express, and accordingly we do not express, an opinion on GSA’s

financial statements, management ’s assertions about the effectiveness of its internal controls over financia l

reporting or GSA’s compliance with certa in laws and regulations.  However, our review, as qua lified above,

disclosed no instances where PwC did not comply with genera lly accepted government auditing standards.

R eport on Internal Con trols Over Performance Measures

We did not contract with PwC to perform the audit work relating to internal controls over performance measures.

H owever, in accordance with Office of Management and Budget Bulletin No. 01-02, we performed the necessary

audit procedures to obta in an understanding of the design and operation of internal controls over the reliability of

data supporting the performance measures reported in the Management Discussion and A na lysis section of GSA’s

Fiscal Year 2000 A nnual Report.  The results of this audit identified a reportable condition regarding the need to

clearly assign responsibility and accountability within GSA for verifying and ensuring the reliability of the data

supporting the reported performance measures.

The Office of Inspector General appreciates the courtesies and cooperation extended to PwC and to our audit staff

during the audit and review.  If you or your staff have any questions, please contact me or Eugene L. Waszily,

A ssistant Inspector General for Auditing.

A ttachments
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To the Inspector General of the United
S tates General Services A dministration

This report presents our opinions on :

• The fiscal years 2000 and 1999 financial statements of

the United States General Services A dministration

(GSA Consolidated and Combined) and its three

primary revolving funds – the Federal Buildings Fund

(FBF), the General Supply Fund (GSF), and the

I nformation Technology Fund (IT F ) .

• M anagement ’s assertion that as of September 30, 2000,

GSA ma inta ined, in all material respects, effective

internal control over financial reporting for the GSA

C onsolidated and Combined, the FBF, the GSF, and

the IT F.

This report also presents results of our tests of GSA’s

compliance with selected provisions of applicable laws

and regulations.  This report describes management ’s

responsibilities for financial reporting, the internal control

over financial reporting, and compliance with applicable

laws and regulations.  Fina lly, the report describes our

responsibilities for auditing the financial statements,

examining management ’s assertion regarding the interna l

control over financial reporting, and reporting on GSA’s

compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

O pinion on the Financial Statemen ts

In our opinion, the accompanying ba lance sheets of the

G eneral Services A dministration (GSA Consolidated ) ,

the Federal Buildings Fund (FBF), the General Supply

F und (GSF), and the Information Technology Fund (IT F )

as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, and the related GSA

C onsolidated and individual fund statements of net cost

and changes in net position, and the GSA Combined

and individual fund statements of budgetary resources

and financing for the fiscal years then ended, present

fa irly, in all material respects, the: 

• financial position of the GSA Consolidated, the FBF,

the GSF, and the ITF as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, 

• net cost and changes in net position of the GSA

C onsolidated, the FBF, the GSF, and the ITF for the

fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, and

• budgetary resources and financing of the GSA

C ombined, the FBF, the GSF, and the ITF for the fisca l

years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999, 

in conformity with accounting principles genera lly

accepted in the United States of A merica.  

C onsolidating and Combining
I nformation

O ur audits were performed for the purpose of expressing

opinions on the GSA Consolidated and Combined, the

F B F, the GSF, and the ITF financial statements as of

and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and

1999.  The financial statements of Other Funds and the

I ntra-GSA Eliminations, presented in the consolidating

and combining financial statements, are presented for

purposes of additional ana lysis of the GSA Consolidated

and Combined financial statements.  This consolidating

and combining information has been subjected to the

auditing procedures applied in our audits of the GSA

C onsolidated and Combined financial statements and,

in our opinion, is fa irly stated, in all material respects,

in relation to the fiscal years 2000 and 1999 GSA

C onsolidated and Combined financial statements

taken as a whole.

R equired Supplemen tary Information

The Management ’s Discussion and A na lysis and the

disclosures on deferred ma intenance and intra -

governmental ba lances are not required parts of the

financial statements but are supplementary information

required by the Federal A ccounting Standards A dvisory

R E P O RT OF INDEPENDENT AC C O U N TA N T S
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B oard and OMB Bulletin No. 97-01, as amended.

A ccording to OMB Bulletin No. 97-01, as amended,

reporting entities sha ll reconcile intra - governmenta l

asset, liability, and revenue amounts reported in the

required supplementary information with their tra ding

partners at least annua lly as of the fiscal year end for

fiscal years beginning after September 30, 1999.  

GSA has not performed these reconciliations and has

disclosed this in note 1B in the financial statements.

We have applied certa in limited procedures, which

consisted principa lly of inquiries of management

regarding the methods of measurement and presentation

of the supplementary information. However, we did not

audit the information and express no opinion on it.

S upplemen tal Statemen ts

O ur audits were performed for the purpose of expressing

opinions on the GSA Consolidated and Combined, the

F B F, the GSF, and the ITF financial statements as of and

for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999.

The supplemental consolidating statements of operations

and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2000

and 1999, are presented for purposes of additiona l

ana lysis and are not required parts of the basic financia l

statements. Such supplemental statements have been

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our

audits of the financial statements referred to above and,

in our opinion, are fa irly stated, in all material respects,

in relation to the GSA Consolidated and Combined, the

F B F, the GSF, and the ITF financial statements as of and

for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999.

O ther Information

O ur audits were performed for the purpose of expressing

opinions on the GSA Consolidated and Combined, the

F B F, the GSF, and the ITF financial statements as of

and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and

1999. The A nnual Report conta ins other information, in

a ddition to the financial statements, consolidating and

combining information, required supplementary

information, and supplemental statements, which is

presented for purposes of additional ana lysis and is 

not a required part of the basic financial statements.

S uch information has not been subjected to the

auditing procedures applied in our audits of the

financial statements referred to above, and,

accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

O pinion on Management's A ssertion
R egarding the Effectiveness of Internal
C on trol over Financial Reporting

In our opinion, management's assertion included in its

representation letter to us dated December 29, 2000,

that, as of September 30, 2000, the internal control over

financial reporting for the GSA Consolidated and

C ombined, the Federal Buildings Fund (FBF), the Genera l

S upply Fund (GSF), and the Information Technology Fund

( ITF) was effective, is fa irly stated, in all materia l

respects, based on the objectives stated below in

relation to GSA's combined and consolidated financia l

statements and each fund's financial statements.

M anagement  has eva luated the effectiveness of the

internal control over financial reporting for each of 

the aforementioned entities as of September 30, 2000,

as part of the eva luation required under the Federa l

M anagers’ Financial Integrity A ct (FMFIA). Based on

this eva luation, management asserted that it believes

that, as of September 30, 2000, the internal control over

financial reporting for the GSA Consolidated and

C ombined, the FBF, the GSF, and the ITF was effective

in achieving the objectives described below :

•  Transactions are properly recorded, processed, and

summarized to permit the preparation of the financia l

statements in accordance with accounting principles

genera lly accepted in the United States of A merica,

and the safeguarding of assets aga inst loss from

unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition.

• Transactions are executed in accordance with: 

(i) laws governing the use of budget authority and

other laws and regulations that could have a direct

and material effect on the financial statements, and

( ii) any other laws, regulations, and government - wide
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policies identified by the Office of Management and

B udget (OMB) in OMB Bulletin No. 01-02, Aud it

R equirements for Feder al Fi nan cial Statemen t s .

B ecause of inherent limitations in any internal control,

misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not

be detected. A lso, projections of any eva luation of the

internal control over financial reporting to future

periods are subject to the risk that the internal control

may become ina dequate because of changes in

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

U nder standards established by the A merican Institute

of Certified Public A ccountants (AI C PA) and OMB

B ulletin No. 01-02, reportable conditions are matters

coming to our attention relating to significant deficiencies

in the design or operation of the internal control over

financial reporting that, in our judgment, could adversely

affect GSA's ability to meet the objectives of interna l

control with respect to reliability of financial reporting,

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and

reliability of performance measures.  

A material weakness is a reportable condition in which

the design or operation of one or more of the interna l

control components does not reduce to a relatively low

level the risk that misstatements in amounts that would

be material in relation to the financial statements being

audited or to a performance measure or aggregation of

related performance measures may occur and not be

detected within a timely period by employees in the

normal course of performing their assigned functions.

We believe that none of the three reportable conditions

that follow is a material weakness as defined by the

AI C PA and OMB Bulletin No. 01-02.  

As discussed in management's assertion, three

reportable conditions involving the internal control over

financial reporting and its operation existed as of

S eptember 30, 2000: (1) GSA entity - wide system

security management and oversight continue to need

improvement; (2) development, implementation, and

change controls over GSA’s system environment

continue to need improvement; and (3) the controls over

the integrity of rent data continue to need improvement.

We noted other matters involving the internal control and

its operation that we will communicate in a separate

management letter.

1. GSA Entity-Wide System Security
Management and Oversight Continue to Need
Improvement

GSA entity - wide system security management and

oversight continue to need improvement.  Weak access

controls and ina dequate security procedures were

reportable conditions identified during both the fisca l

year 1998 and fiscal year 1999 financial statement audits.

O ver the past two years, GSA has ma de some progress

in addressing the information protection issues ra ised

in prior years.  Specifica lly, the agency has :

• I ssued a security policy, Instructional Letter CIO IL-99-1,

in February 1999.  Subsequent to year- end, an Order

was issued for GSA IT Security Policy, CIO 2100.1,

dated October 20, 2000.  We did not review this new

policy as it was issued after the effective date of

management ’s assertion on internal control.

• E stablished the IT Security Center of Expertise, which

became operational at the end of fiscal year 2000.  

The Center is responsible for tra ining the Information

S ystems Security Officers (ISSOs) and Information

S ystems Security Managers (ISSMs), and for

monitoring the progress of and providing guidance to

the Services, Staff Offices and Regions (S/SO/R).

• Conducted tra ining for ISSOs and ISSMs during fisca l

year 2000.  The tra ining covered federal legislation and

standards that need to be followed, risk assessment

performance, security plan implementation, awareness,

and system certification and accreditation.

D espite these accomplishments, GSA’s system

environment rema ins threatened by security and integrity

exposures impacting key elements of its distributed

systems and networks.  This year we identified security
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weaknesses similar to those we found in previous years.

The deta iled findings will be provided to GSA

management in a separate management letter.  The

general areas where exposures occurred included :

• Entity - wide and application - specific security policies

and procedures

• Security administration

• Security monitoring

• Password configuration and controls

• Network and server security

• Segregation of duties

• Security staffing

• Tra ining and awareness

• Physical security

In our view, these exposures occurred primarily because

of continuing weaknesses in several components of

G S A’s overa ll information security program.  The terms

ita licized in the narrative following the Information

S ecurity Framework diagram below describe the various

components of that program as reflected in this diagram.

The Information Security Framework diagram highlights

the key system security provisions of OMB Circular 

A-130, Appendix III, and associated NIST guidelines.
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The following examples provide insight into the types of

weaknesses that we identified in GSA’s information

security program :

• I nformation Secur ity Managem e nt Str uct ure

The information security management structure does

not appear to be effective in implementing security

policy, including deta iled security architecture and

technical standards and associated administrative

and end - user guidelines and procedures.

• Pol i cy

The security policy issued in February 1999 was not

updated within the fiscal year, and did not address a ll

of the requirements of NIST guidelines (deta iled

descriptions of items not adequately addressed in

entity - wide and application - specific security policies

will be documented for GSA management in a separate

management letter).  (The security policy was replaced

by Order CIO 2100.1 dated October 20, 2000.)

• Vulnerabil ity and Risk A ssessm e nt

R isk assessments are not performed for all

significant applications on a regular basis.  The GSA

service lines only began to perform risk assessments

during fiscal year 2000.

• S ecur ity A rchitect ure and Techni cal Sta ndards

N etwork, server and application security is

inconsistently implemented throughout the S/SO/R of

GSA.  Minimum configuration settings have not been

documented and / or implemented for specific

platforms such as Windows NT, Unix, ma inframe, and

other existing and emerging technologies in GSA’s

distributed systems environment.  

• A dm ini strative and End - user Gui del ines 
a nd Procedures

S ecurity administration is inconsistently performed

throughout the S/SO/R of GSA, and user guidance

and procedures are not fully developed and

communicated.

• M onitor ing Processes

S ecurity monitoring is not being performed on a

consistent and effective basis throughout the GSA.

While access attempts, violations, and actions of

powerful IDs are being monitored on select systems

and from the Internet, the majority of environments

we reviewed have not implemented such controls

( specific systems will be listed for GSA in a separate

management letter).  Lack of monitoring controls

a llowed us to compromise several systems during our

network penetration testing without being detected

( though we were detected during Internet testing ) .

• Training and Aware ness Prog ram

S ecurity tra ining and awareness have not been

required for all security administrators and users.

D uring fiscal year 2000 ISSMs and ISSOs were

required to attend formal tra ining.  While computer

based tra ining for security awareness is ava ilable, an

agency - wide requirement to complete this tra ining

does not exist.

• E nforcem e nt Processes

B aseline security policies and procedures set forth by

the Office of the CIO are not enforced.  Firm reporting

relationships have not been established so that the

CIO can accurately determine whether security

policies and procedures are being followed by the

S ervices, Staff Offices, and Regions.
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These weaknesses expose GSA’s resources to

significant risk of unauthorized access to system

resources such as data, programs, and equipment, which

could lead to intentional or unintentional modification

or destruction of these resources.  A lso, with the recent

passing of the Government Information Security A ct,

GSA will be required to implement an effective security

program to meet Congress's mandate for protecting

the government ’s information assets.

Recommendation:

We recommend that GSA strengthen its information

security program by implementing the following actions :

• The GSA A dministrator needs to ensure the

necessary funding is ava ilable for implementing a

strong security program throughout the GSA.

• The GSA CIO needs to work with the service line CIOs,

staff offices and regions, to ensure the effective

implementation of the security program.  This should

include, but not be limited to the following :

• P rocedures for performing vulnerability and risk

assessments.

• D evelopment and / or implementation of technica l

standards for specific platforms (Windows NT,

U nix, ma inframe, etc. )

• M onitoring of access attempts and security

violations.

• S ecurity awareness tra ining for users and security

a dministration tra ining for system administrators.

• E nforcement and reporting guidelines to ensure

policies are followed by the Services, Staff

O ffices, and Regions.

• G uidelines for periodica lly reviewing and updating

security policies and procedures.

I mplementing consistent security standards across the

agency will help to ensure that the current and future

systems environment will meet a minimum level of

security.  This environment includes the GSA wide - area

( network) backbone ma inta ined by the Office of the

C I O, the application systems ma inta ined by the

S ervices and Staff Offices, and the local area networks

and sma ller data centers in the Regions.

2. Development, Implementation, and Change
Controls over GSA’s System Environment
Continue to Need Improvement

S ystem development and implementation efforts at GSA

need improvement. During the fiscal year 1999 financia l

statement audit, we reported that we had reviewed

three recently implemented applications.  During the

review, we found development and implementation

weaknesses relating to: 

• Lack of compliance with GSA’s system development

life cycle (SDLC) methodology.

• Lack of adequate testing before placement into

production.

• Lack of user involvement in design, development, and

testing.

• Lack of user acceptance testing.

• Lack of system acceptance and consistency in use by

a ll regions.

• System staff ma de application changes without

a dequate documentation, or proper approva l.

We determined that the reason these conditions

existed was because the Office of the CIO needed to :

• Update the agency - wide application development,

implementation, and change control policies and

procedures.

• A ssess and report on how well Services and Staff

O ffices were following GSA application development

policies and procedures.

• Ensure that a mechanism to enforce the established

procedures across the entire agency exists. 



D uring the fiscal year 2000 audit, we continued to find

issues similar to those identified during the fiscal year

1999 audit.  In addition, we found that documented

policies and procedures for implementing both

scheduled and emergency changes did not exist in

several of the service lines and systems we reviewed.

D eta ils regarding specific weaknesses will be provided

to GSA management in a separate management letter.

CIO management stated that it was currently reviewing

out - of - date systems development policies and

procedures to determine if it can use them as a

baseline for a new agency - wide plan.  When this review

process is complete, management will develop and

document a plan that all Service and Staff Offices will

use when creating or changing applications.  Once the

plan is implemented, management will then develop

mechanisms for ensuring that all Service and Staff

O ffices follow these procedures.  

I na dequate or inconsistent systems development and

implementation controls can lead to wasted resources

( time, money, staffing), unauthorized changes, fa ilure

to meet business needs, and in the case of GSA, may

have contributed to system security weaknesses.

These security issues relate to logical access controls,

monitoring controls, and access being consistent with

job responsibilities. 

Recommendation:

The GSA CIO should :

1) Continue with efforts to update the deta iled agency -

wide application development, implementation, and

change control policies and procedures and ensure

implementation on all systems planned, in

development, and in production.

2) A ssess and report on how well Services, Staff

O ffices, and their related contractors are following

GSA application development and change control

policies and procedures for all systems.

3) Ensure that a process is in place to ma inta in the

GSA system development and change control policies

and procedures to help ensure that they continue to

a ddress all aspects of GSA’s technology environment.

3. The Controls over the Integrity of Rent Data
Continue to Need Improvement

In fiscal years 1998 and 1999, we found reportable

conditions related to the rent data used to support the

management of the Federal Buildings Fund. We

continued to find some of the same issues during fisca l

year 2000. The Public Buildings Service (PBS) has

begun to move forward in addressing these issues with

internal teams, with some system enhancements for

the System for Tracking and A dministering Rea l

P roperty (STAR), and with efforts to verify STAR data.

In fiscal year 2000, PBS fully implemented its new

pricing policy, except for federa lly owned space in the

D istrict of Columbia. New pricing changes the rent

pricing structure for GSA customers as well as

requires the pass - through of lease costs and the use of

signed occupancy agreements. We tested controls over

new pricing at GSA's regional offices and identified

instances where controls need improvement, or where

PBS needs to complete action plans it has alrea dy

initiated to address internal control weaknesses.  In

a ddition to testing various aspects of new pricing, we

a lso eva luated the accuracy of data in STAR.  We did

note improvements from the prior years that were the

direct result of PBS’s "STAR Data Clean Up" efforts.

H owever, we found several discrepancies that could

have a financial statement impact such as inaccurate

rent bills.  Following is a summary of relevant findings :

• We found that rent billing terms were not always

supported by occupancy agreements across regiona l

offices. 
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• We found instances where occupancy agreements

were either not fully executed or were not ava ilable. 

• Tools, such as fully functioning software to create

occupancy agreements, were not always ava ilable

across regional offices.

• STAR did not provide some critical information

needed for space management such as transaction

level history. 

Recommendation:

PBS needs to complete the following steps included 

in the corrective action plan currently under way for

improving the integrity of its rent data: 

• Use the occupancy agreements as the basis for

supporting space assignments in federa lly owned 

and leased buildings. 

• Consider enhancing STAR to allow for transaction

level history of space assignments and an improved

tool for creating occupancy agreements.

• Move forward with plans to va lidate space in

federa lly owned and leased buildings, if funding from

prior year carryovers becomes ava ilable. 

M ore specific recommendations regarding this issue

will be provided to GSA management in a separate

management letter. 

R esults of Tests of Compliance with
C ertain Laws and Regulations

D uring our fiscal year 1998 audit, we identified a potentia l

instance of noncompliance arising from a $50 million

transaction characterized as an advance from the FBF

to the IT F.  We requested the Office of Inspector Genera l

(OIG) to review this advance of funds.  Subsequently,

the Counsel to the Inspector General issued a lega l

opinion that GSA violated the "Purpose Statute," 31

U. S.C. § 1301, when the FBF advanced to the ITF funds,

" which were not properly used to carry out PBS

[ Federal Buildings Fund] activities."  The OIG opinion

was based on the fact that GSA did not liquidate the

a dvance as the FBF placed orders with the ITF; rather,

the FBF pa id for the orders separately on a monthly

basis.  The OIG opinion also stated that advanced

funds may only be spent by an activity receiving the

funds when the advancing agency or activity has

placed orders aga inst that advance, and then only in the

amount of the orders actua lly so placed. GSA’s Office

of General Counsel (OGC) does “not believe that the

a dvance for the Information Technology Fund resulted

in a violation of law."  In OGC's opinion, "because the

a dvance was properly ma de for a proper purpose, and

subsequently returned to the Federal Buildings Fund

within a reasonable time, it did not violate the Purpose

S tatute or any other provision of law."  OGC also

concluded "that it was lega lly permissible to intermingle

the advance into the corpus of the Information

Technology Fund." A lthough GSA changed its practice

by liquidating the advance quarterly instead of annua lly,

this issue was not resolved in fiscal year 1999.  GSA

continued this practice during fiscal year 2000, when

the FBF advanced $30 million to the IT F. 

E xcept as noted in the preceding paragraph, our tests

of compliance with selected provisions of applicable

laws and regulations disclosed no other matters that

are required to be reported under G o vern ment Aud it i ng

S tandard s or OMB Bulletin No. 01-02.

GSA Managemen t ’s Responsibilities

M anagement is responsible for :

• Preparing the annual financial statements referred 

to above in conformity with accounting principles

genera lly accepted in the United States of A merica

and preparing the other information conta ined in the

A nnual Report.

• Establishing, ma inta ining, and assessing internal 

control over financial reporting.
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• Complying with laws and regulations applicable to

the agency, including the requirements of the Federa l

Financial Management Improvement A ct (FFMIA) 

of 1996.

Auditors’ Responsibilities

We have audited the accompanying ba lance sheets of

the General Services A dministration (GSA Consolidated ),

the FBF, the GSF, and the ITF as of September 30, 2000

and 1999, and the related GSA Consolidated and

individual fund statements of net cost and changes in

net position, and the GSA Combined and individua l

fund statements of budgetary resources and financing

for the fiscal years then ended. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits of the financial statements in

accordance with auditing standards genera lly accepted

in the United States of A merica and G o vern men t

Aud it i ng Standard s, issued by the Comptroller Genera l

of the United States. A lso, except for the provisions of

paragraph 6.f. relating to internal control over

performance measures, we conducted our audits in

accordance with OMB Bulletin No. 01-02. The work

required by paragraph 6.f. was performed by the Office

of Inspector Genera l, and the objective of that work was

to ga in an understanding of and report deficiencies in

the design of internal control over performance

measures, rather than to plan the financial statement

audit.  Auditing standards genera lly accepted in the

U nited States of A merica and G o vern ment Aud it i ng

S tandard s require that we plan and perform the audit to

obta in reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financia l

statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates

ma de by management, as well as eva luating the overa ll

financial statement presentation. We believe that our

audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

We have examined management ’s assertion, included in

its representation letter to us dated December 29, 2000,

that as of September 30, 2000, it ma inta ined effective

internal control over financial reporting for the GSA

C onsolidated and Combined, the FBF, the GSF, and the

IT F. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

management's assertion regarding the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting based on our

examination. Our examination was conducted in

accordance with attestation standards established by

the AI C PA, G o vern ment Aud it i ng Standard s, issued by

the Comptroller General of the United States, and OMB

B ulletin No. 01-02, and, accordingly, included obta ining

an understanding of the internal control over financia l

reporting, testing and eva luating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control, and

performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances.  We did not eva luate

a ll internal control relevant to operating objectives as

broa dly defined by the Federal Managers’ Financia l

I ntegrity A ct, such as those controls relevant to

preparing statistical reports and ensuring efficient

operations.  We limited our internal control testing to

those controls necessary to achieve the objectives in

management ’s assertion about the effectiveness of

internal control and OMB Bulletin No. 01-02.  We believe

that our examination provides a reasonable basis for

our opinion. 

As part of obta ining reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of materia l

misstatement, we performed tests of GSA’s compliance

with certa in provisions of applicable laws and regulations,

noncompliance with which could have a direct and

material effect on the determination of financia l

statement amounts and certa in other laws and

regulations specified in OMB Bulletin No. 01-02,

including the requirements referred to in the FFMIA.
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H owever, providing an opinion on compliance with

those provisions was not an objective of our audit and,

accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

This report is intended solely for the information and

use of the management and the Inspector General of

GSA, the OMB and the Congress, and is not intended

to be and should not be used by anyone other than

these specified parties.

A rlington, Virginia

D ecember 29, 2000
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February 14, 2001

M E M O R ANDUM FOR T H U R M AN M. DAV I S, SR.

ACTING AD M I N I S T R ATOR (A)

W I L L I AM B. EAR LY, JR.

CHIEF FINAN C I AL OFFICER (B)

F R O M : W I L L I AM R. BARTO N

I N S P E C TOR GENERAL (J)

S U B J E C T: R eport on Internal Con trols Over Performance Measures

This report presents our conclusions regarding the design and operation of the internal controls over performance

measures reported in the Management Discussion and A na lysis section of the General Services A dministration ’s

(GSA) Fiscal Year 2000 A nnual Report.  This report also describes our audit responsibilities for conducting the

performance measure review.

S cope and Methodology

The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Bulletin No. 01-02 sets forth the audit requirements for Federa l

financial statements.  These requirements include the annual preparation and audit of organization - wide financia l

statements.  Under a contract monitored by the Office of Inspector General (OIG), Pricewaterhouse C oopers LLP

(PwC) performed the audit of GSA’s Fiscal Year 2000 financial statements.  However, the OIG conducted the portion

of the audit related to internal controls over performance measures.  A ccordingly, with respect to performance

measures reported in the Management Discussion and A na lysis section of GSA’s Fiscal Year 2000 A nnual Report, we

obta ined an understanding of the design of the significant internal controls relating to the existence and

completeness assertions, as required by OMB Bulletin No. 01-02.  Our procedures, however, were not designed to

provide assurance on internal controls over reported performance measures, and, accordingly, we do not provide an

opinion on such controls.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and the provisions in 

OMB Bulletin No. 01-02.

R esults of Audit

We identified control problems that we believe constitute a reportable condition in the design and operation of the

internal controls related to performance measures. Specifica lly, GSA has not implemented a system of interna l

controls to ensure that appropriate levels of management understand and are performing the necessary reviews of

performance data to enable them to make assertions as to the completeness and existence of the data and systems

supporting the measures. 

U nder standards issued by the A merican Institute of Certified Public A ccountants, a reportable condition involves

matters coming to our attention relating to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal controls

that, in our judgement, could adversely affect GSA’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report performance

U.S. GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION

Office of Inspector General
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information in accordance with criteria established by management.  A material weakness is a reportable condition

in which the design or operation of the internal controls does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that errors

or irregularities in amounts that would be material to a performance measure or aggregation of related

performance measures may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of

performing their assigned tasks.  We do not consider this reportable condition to be a material weakness.

In our Fiscal Year 1998 report, we identified a reportable condition regarding the need to clearly assign responsibility

and accountability within GSA for verifying and ensuring the reliability of the data supporting the reported

performance measures.  While we noted a similar problem in our Fiscal Year 1999 report, GSA had initiated steps to

implement appropriate controls to ensure the integrity of performance measures.  The Office of the Chief Financia l

O fficer had developed an action plan that identified and defined A gency managers’ responsibilities with regard to

performance measures, and required managers to forma lly assert that the data supporting performance exist and

are complete.  In addition, the plan established accountability requirements for the measures and supporting data

at both the Service and A gency - wide levels. At the time, we felt sufficient actions had been taken so that GSA’s

control problems should no longer be considered a reportable condition. 

H owever, this year we noted the Office of the Chief Financial Officer had not ma de sufficient progress in

implementing these controls.  To date, only the responsible A gency managers have been identified.  Managers have

not been required to assert that performance data exists and is complete nor had accountability requirements been

fully implemented.  While the Office of the Chief Financial Officer recognizes this lack of progress and has recently

begun to take steps to implement appropriate controls, we believe this lack of progress in implementing these

identified internal controls represents a reportable condition.  

Therefore, we reaffirm that the Chief Financial Officer fully implement the procedures defined in the A ction Plan

developed in response to the Fiscal Year 1998 audit finding.  Specifica lly, the Chief Financial Officer needs to identify

and define managers’ responsibilities and accountability for the verification of data supporting performance

measures.  In addition, each Service needs to assign responsibility for asserting that the data supporting

performance measures exist and are complete. 
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GSA’s audited financial statements,

incorporated in this Annual Report,

report GSA’s financial position and

results of operations pursuant to the

requirements of 31 U.S.C. 3515(b) and

in accordance with prescribed formats.

They are in addition to the financial

reports used to monitor and control

budgetary resources, which are

prepared from the same books and

records. The statements should be

read with the understanding that, as

GSA is a component of the U.S.

Government, its liabilities cannot be

liquidated without legislation that

provides resources to do so.
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U. S. General Services A dministration

Consolidating Statements of Net Cost

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

The accom p anyi ng notes are an integ r al part of these statemen t s .

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S) 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Federal Buildings Fund

R evenues :

B uilding Operations - Government Owned $ 3 , 2 5 6 $ 3,169 

B uilding Operations - Leased 3 , 4 1 9 3,188 

E xpenses :

B uilding Operations - Government Owned 2 , 8 0 2 2,678 

B uilding Operations - Leased 3 , 5 0 4 3,274 

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations 3 6 9 405 

G eneral Supply Fund

R evenues :

S upply Operations 1 , 3 0 9 1,385 

Vehicle A cquisition and Leasing 1 , 4 1 2 1,400 

O ther Programs 1 8 21 

E xpenses :

S upply Operations 1 , 2 8 6 1,346 

Vehicle A cquisition and Leasing 1 , 3 0 6 1,261 

O ther Programs 2 1 21 

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations 1 2 6 178 

I nformation Technology Fund

R evenues :

N etwork Services 1 , 0 3 0 1,079 

IT Solutions 3 , 9 8 2 3,099 

E xpenses :

N etwork Services 1 , 0 8 8 1,073 

IT Solutions 3 , 9 9 1 3,100 

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations ( 6 7 ) 5 

O ther Funds

R evenues :

Working Capital Fund 2 2 9 2 1 2

GSA Operating Expense Fund 1 1 10 

O ther Funds 5 3 

E xpenses :

Working Capital Fund 2 5 1 226 

GSA Operating Expense Fund 1 7 4 151 

O ther Funds 7 8 ( 6 3 )

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations ( 2 5 8 ) ( 8 9 )

L ess: Intra-GSA Eliminations

R evenues 4 4 9 370 

E xpenses 4 8 7 407 

GSA Consolidated

R evenues 1 4 , 2 2 2 13,196 

E xpenses 1 4 , 0 1 4 12,660 

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations $ 2 0 8 $ 5 3 6
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Fe d e ral Buildings Fund G e n e ral Supply Fund

U. S. General Services A dministration

Consolidating Balance Sheets

As of September 30, 2000 and 1999

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

The accom p anyi ng notes are an integ r al part of these statemen t s .

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

AS S E T S

I ntragovernmental A ssets :

F unds with U. S. Treasury (Note 1-D) $ 3 , 3 7 8 $ 3,385 $ 3 9 0 $ 380 

A ccounts Receivable - Federa l, Net (Note 7) 3 4 3 352 2 7 7 264 

P repa id Expenses and A dvances - Federa l 5 - 8 1 

Total Intragovernmenta l 3 , 7 2 6 3,737 6 7 5 645 

I nventories (Note 1-E) 3 4 1 8 6 178 

A ccounts Receivable - Public, Net (Note 7) 6 6 1 4 24 

P repa id Expenses and A dvances - Public - - - 18 

O ther A ssets 1 1 - - 

P roperty and Equipment (Notes 1-F, 2 , 8 ) :

B uildings 1 8 , 3 2 8 16,753 - - 

L easehold Improvements 2 6 3 284 8 8 

Telecommunications and ADP Equipment - - - - 

M otor Vehicles - - 3 , 0 2 3 2,803 

O ther Equipment 6 0 62 7 8 68 

L ess: A ccumulated Depreciation and A mortization ( 7 , 6 4 4 ) ( 6 , 9 0 1 ) ( 9 0 4 ) ( 8 3 4 )

S ubtota l 1 1 , 0 0 7 10,198 2 , 2 0 5 2,045 

L and 1 , 2 2 6 1,116 - - 

C onstruction in Process 1 , 1 5 4 1,676 - - 

Total Property and Equipment 1 3 , 3 8 7 12,990 2 , 2 0 5 2,045 

To tal A ssets $ 1 7 , 1 2 3 $ 16,738 $ 3 , 0 8 0 $ 2,910 

L I A B I L ITIES AND NET POSIT I O N

I ntragovernmental Liabilities :

A ccounts Payable and A ccrued Expenses - Federa l $ 7 6 $ 84 $ 1 4 $ 19 

D eferred Revenue and A dvances - Federa l 4 9 48 1 2 4 

I ntragovernmental Debt (Note 3) 2 , 4 5 5 2,572 - - 

Workers' Compensation A ctuarial Liability (Note 1-J) 1 2 1 113 3 0 28 

O ther Intragovernmental Liabilities (Note 9) 1 5 2 98 6 6 

Total Intragovernmenta l 2 , 8 5 3 2,915 6 2 57 

A ccounts Payable and A ccrued Expenses - Public 7 3 5 763 1 3 1 138 

D eferred Revenue and A dvances - Public 1 3 8 - - 

E nvironmental and Disposa ls (Notes 6-B, 8-B) 1 0 2 95 - - 

O bligations Under Capital Leases (Note 2) 3 0 3 279 - - 

A nnual Leave Liability (Note 1-H) 3 7 35 1 5 14 

D eposit Fund Liability - - - - 

E arnings Payable to U. S. Treasury - - - - 

O ther Liabilities (Note 9) 1 4 6 125 3 - 

To tal Liabilities 4 , 1 8 9 4,220 2 1 1 209 

N et Position (Note 5):

C umulative Results of Operations 1 2 , 9 3 4 12,518 2 , 8 6 9 2,701 

U nexpended Appropriations - - - - 

To tal Net Position 1 2 , 9 3 4 12,518 2 , 8 6 9 2,701 

To tal Liabilities and Net Position $ 1 7 , 1 2 3 $ 16,738 $ 3 , 0 8 0 $ 2,910 
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I n fo r m ation Te ch n o l o gy Fund Other Funds L e s s :I n t ra-GSA Eliminati o n s GSA Consolidated Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

$ 6 0 $ 43 $ 3 9 7 $ 420 $ - $ - $ 4 , 2 2 5 $ 4,228 

1 , 4 0 5 1,044 1 7 18 3 4 29 2 , 0 0 8 1,649 

4 - 3 14 1 1 - 9 15 

1 , 4 6 9 1,087 4 1 7 452 4 5 29 6 , 2 4 2 5,892 

- 2 - - - - 1 8 9 184 

2 8 17 3 4 28 - - 8 2 75 

1 1 - - - - 1 19 

- - 1 5 2 - - 1 6 3 

- - - - - - 1 8 , 3 2 8 16,753 

- 4 - - - - 2 7 1 296 

1 5 8 294 - - - - 1 5 8 294 

- - - - - - 3 , 0 2 3 2,803 

5 9 49 1 6 17 - - 2 1 3 196 

( 1 5 1 ) ( 2 1 5 ) ( 7 ) ( 5 ) - - ( 8 , 7 0 6 ) ( 7 , 9 5 5 )

6 6 132 9 12 - - 1 3 , 2 8 7 12,387 

- - - - - - 1 , 2 2 6 1,116 

1 1 - - - - 1 , 1 5 5 1,677 

6 7 133 9 12 - - 1 5 , 6 6 8 15,180 

$ 1 , 5 6 5 $ 1,240 $ 4 7 5 $ 494 $ 4 5 $ 29 $ 2 2 , 1 9 8 $ 21,353 

$ 8 0 $ 9 $ 9 3 $ 95 $ 3 4 $ 29 $ 2 2 9 $ 178 

2 7 0 216 1 4 2 1 1 - 3 3 4 270 

- - 8 - - - 2 , 4 6 3 2,572 

1 0 10 1 7 17 - - 1 7 8 168 

2 2 3 6 39 - - 1 9 6 145 

3 6 2 237 1 6 8 153 4 5 29 3 , 4 0 0 3,333 

8 7 0 619 2 1 32 - - 1 , 7 5 7 1,552 

- - - - - - 1 3 8 

- - 1 0 7 84 - - 2 0 9 179 

- - - - - - 3 0 3 279 

1 0 9 1 5 14 - - 7 7 72 

- - 4 6 47 - - 4 6 47 

- - 5 4 56 - - 5 4 56 

3 6 33 7 8 - - 1 9 2 166 

1 , 2 7 8 898 4 1 8 394 4 5 29 6 , 0 5 1 5,692 

2 8 7 342 ( 3 8 ) ( 1 7 ) - - 1 6 , 0 5 2 15,544 

- - 9 5 117 - - 9 5 117 

2 8 7 342 5 7 100 - - 1 6 , 1 4 7 15,661 

$ 1 , 5 6 5 $ 1,240 $ 4 7 5 $ 494 $ 4 5 $ 29 $ 2 2 , 1 9 8 $ 2 1 , 3 5 3
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Fe d e ral Buildings Fund

U. S. General Services A dministration

Consolidating Statements of Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

The accom p anyi ng notes are an integ r al part of these statemen t s .

G e n e ral Supply Fund

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

B eginning Balance of Net Position $ 1 2 , 5 1 8 $ 1 1 , 5 7 8 $ 2 , 7 0 1 $ 2 , 4 8 5

R esults of Operations :

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations 3 6 9 4 0 5 1 2 6 178 

Appropriations Used (Note 1-C) - 4 5 0 - - 

N on - E xchange Revenue (Notes 1-C, 1-G) - - - - 

I mputed Financing Provided By Others 5 1 5 1 2 5 25 

Transfer of Earnings Pa id and Payable to U. S. Treasury - - - ( 4 )

R eceipts Appropriated to Finance Special Funds A ctivities - - - - 

Transfers of Net A ssets and Liabilities

( To) From Other Federal A gencies ( 5 ) 3 5 1 7 17 

R eceipts Pa id and Reclassified as Payable From (To) the 

L and and Water Conservation Fund - - - -

O ther 1 ( 1 ) - - 

N et Results of Operations 4 1 6 940 1 6 8 216 

I ncrease (Decrease) in Unexpended Appropriations - - - - 

N et Position Ending Balance $ 1 2 , 9 3 4 $ 12,518 $ 2 , 8 6 9 $ 2,701 
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I n fo r m ation Te ch n o l o gy Fund Other Funds L e s s :I n t ra-GSA Eliminati o n s GSA Consolidated Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

$ 3 4 2 $ 3 2 6 $ 1 0 0 $ ( 3 1 ) $ - $ - $ 1 5 , 6 6 1 $ 14,358 

( 6 7) 5 ( 2 5 8 ) ( 8 9 ) ( 3 8 ) ( 3 7 ) 208 5 3 6

- - 2 0 9 187 - - 2 0 9 637 

- - 3 6 62 - - 3 6 62 

1 2 11 19 19 3 8 37 6 9 69 

- - ( 1 9 ) ( 3 6 ) - - ( 1 9 ) ( 4 0 )

- - ( 1 5 ) ( 1 4 ) - - ( 1 5 ) ( 1 4 )

- - 6 ( 3 9 ) - - 18 13 

- - 1 ( 1 8 ) - - 1 ( 1 8 )

- - - 9 1 8 

( 5 5 ) 16 ( 2 1 ) 81 - - 508 1,253 

- - ( 2 2 ) 50 - - ( 2 2 ) 50 

$ 287 $ 342 $ 5 7 $ 100 $ - $ - $ 1 6 , 1 4 7 $ 1 5 , 6 6 1
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U. S. General Services A dministration

Consolidating Statements of Budgetary Resources

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

The accom p anyi ng notes are an integ r al part of these statemen t s .

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

Fe d e ral Buildings Fund G e n e ral Supply Fund

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

B udgetary Resources

B udget Authority $ - $ 213 $ - $ ( 5 )

U nobligated Balance, Net - Beginning Balance 2 , 5 3 5 3,087 4 1 5 388 

S pending Authority From Offsetting Collections 7 , 0 8 4 5,862 3 , 4 6 6 3,422 

A djustments ( 2 6 3 ) ( 1 6 1 ) 1 1 19 

To tal Budgetary Resources 9 , 3 5 6 9,001 3 , 8 9 2 3,824 

S tatus of Budgetary Resources

O bligations Incurred 6 , 8 2 2 6,667 3 , 4 6 8 3,409 

U nobligated Balance - Ava ilable 2 , 0 6 7 2,329 4 2 4 415 

U nobligated Balance - Not Ava ilable 4 6 7 5 - - 

To tal Budgetary Resources 9 , 3 5 6 9,001 3 , 8 9 2 3,824 

O utlays

O bligations Incurred 6 , 8 2 2 6,667 3 , 4 6 8 3,409 

L ess: Spending Authority from Offsetting

C ollections and A djustments ( 7 , 2 3 8 ) ( 5 , 9 9 6 ) ( 3 , 4 7 7 ) ( 3 , 4 4 1 )

O bligated Balance, Net - Beginning Balance (Note 1-L) 1 , 1 0 9 217 ( 3 5 ) ( 7 6 )

L ess: Obligated Balance, Net - Ending Balance ( 7 7 9 ) ( 1 , 1 0 9 ) 3 4 35 

To tal Outlays (Note 1-L) $ ( 8 6 ) $ ( 2 2 1 ) $ ( 1 0 ) $ ( 7 3 )
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I n fo r m ation Te ch n o l o gy Fund Other Funds GSA Combined Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

$ - $ - $ 2 1 0 $ 252 $ 2 1 0 $ 4 6 0

698 853 1 2 1 67 3 , 7 6 9 4 , 3 9 5

5,450 4,741 2 5 6 228 1 6 , 2 5 6 1 4 , 2 5 3

1 8 8 269 - 14 ( 6 4 ) 1 4 1

6 , 3 3 6 5,863 5 8 7 561 2 0 , 1 7 1 19,249 

5 , 2 8 1 5,165 5 0 1 443 1 6 , 0 7 2 1 5 , 6 8 4

1 , 0 5 5 698 6 9 92 3 , 6 1 5 3 , 5 3 4

- - 1 7 26 4 8 4 3 1

6 , 3 3 6 5,863 5 8 7 561 2 0 , 1 7 1 1 9 , 2 4 9

5 , 2 8 1 5,165 5 0 1 443 1 6 , 0 7 2 1 5 , 6 8 4

( 5 , 6 3 8 ) ( 5 , 0 1 0 ) ( 2 6 7 ) ( 2 4 5 ) ( 1 6 , 6 2 0 ) ( 1 4 , 6 9 2 )

( 6 5 5 ) ( 7 7 4 ) 8 4 81 5 0 3 ( 5 5 2 )

9 9 5 655 ( 8 8 ) ( 8 8 ) 1 6 2 ( 5 0 7 )

$ ( 1 7 ) $ 36 $ 2 3 0 $ 191 $ 1 1 7 $ ( 6 7 )
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U. S. General Services A dministration

Combining Statements of Financing

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

The accom p anyi ng notes are an integ r al part of these statemen t s .

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

Fe d e ral Buildings Fund G e n e ral Supply Fund

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

O bligations and Nonbudgetary Resources

O bligations Incurred $ 6 , 8 2 2 $ 6,667 $ 3 , 4 6 8 $ 3,409 

L ess:  Spending Authority From Offsetting 

C ollections and A djustments ( 7 , 2 3 8 ) ( 5 , 9 9 6 ) ( 3 , 4 7 7 ) ( 3 , 4 4 1 )

Financing Imputed for Cost Subsidies 5 1 51 2 5 25 

O ther ( 9 ) 56 8 3 

To tal A djusted Obligations and 

N onbudgetary Resources ( 3 7 4 ) 778 2 4 ( 4 )

R esources That Do Not Fund Net Cost of Operations

( I ncrease ) / D ecrease in Goods and Services Ordered 

B ut Not Yet Received ( 1 2 9 ) ( 2 4 7 ) ( 1 0 1 ) ( 1 8 )

I ncrease / ( D ecrease) in Unfilled Customer Orders 4 2 4 ( 4 7 3 ) 8 7 ( 6 )

C osts Capita lized on the Balance Sheet ( 1 , 0 7 4 ) ( 1 , 1 7 5 ) ( 6 3 5 ) ( 6 1 6 )

Financing Sources Funding Prior Year Costs ( 3 2 ) ( 3 1 ) - - 

O ther 3 0 ( 4 5 ) 4 2 

To tal Resources That Do Not Fund Net 

C ost of Operations ( 7 8 1 ) ( 1 , 9 7 1 ) ( 6 4 5 ) ( 6 3 8 )

C osts Not Requiring Current Resources

D epreciation and A mortization 8 0 4 759 2 6 5 243 

N et Book Va lue of Property Sold - 11 2 2 1 216 

O ther - 4 9 2 

To tal Costs Not Requiring Current Resources 8 0 4 774 4 9 5 461 

Financing Sources Yet to Be Provided

U nfunded Capita lized Costs ( 6 ) ( 2 6 ) - - 

U nfunded Current Expenses ( 1 2 ) 40 - 3 

To tal Financing Sources Yet to be Provided ( 1 8 ) 14 - 3 

N et (Income From) Cost of Operations $ ( 3 6 9 ) $ ( 4 0 5 ) $ ( 1 2 6 ) $ ( 1 7 8 )
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I n fo r m ation Te ch n o l o gy Fund Other Funds GSA Combined Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

$ 5 , 2 8 1 $ 5,165 $ 501 $ 443 $ 16,072 $ 15,684 

( 5 , 6 3 8 ) ( 5 , 0 1 0 ) ( 2 6 7 ) ( 2 4 5 ) ( 1 6 , 6 2 0 ) ( 1 4 , 6 9 2 )

1 2 11 19 19 1 0 7 106 

( 1 2 ) ( 1 7 ) ( 8 ) ( 3 6 ) ( 2 1 ) 6 

( 3 5 7 ) 149 245 181 ( 4 6 2 ) 1,104 

( 3 9 ) ( 6 9 2 ) ( 8 ) 18 ( 2 7 7 ) ( 9 3 9 )

3 9 8 563 8 3 9 1 7 87 

( 2 0 ) ( 2 8 ) ( 2 ) ( 8 ) ( 1 , 7 3 1 ) ( 1 , 8 2 7 )

1 1 - - ( 3 1 ) ( 3 0 )

( 5 ) - ( 3 ) 16 2 6 ( 2 7 )

3 3 5 ( 1 5 6 ) ( 5 ) 29 ( 1 , 0 9 6 ) ( 2 , 7 3 6 )

2 7 25 6 3 1 , 1 0 2 1,030 

5 4 - - - 2 7 5 227 

8 ( 1 ) - 1 1 7 6 

8 9 24 6 4 1 , 3 9 4 1,263 

- - - - ( 6 ) ( 2 6 )

- ( 2 2 ) 1 2 ( 1 2 5 ) - ( 1 0 4 )

- ( 2 2 ) 1 2 ( 1 2 5 ) ( 6 ) ( 1 3 0 )

$ 67 $ ( 5 ) $ 258 $ 89 $ ( 1 7 0 ) $ ( 4 9 9 )



Notes to 
Financial 

S t at e m e n t s
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O R G A N I Z AT I O N

The U. S. General Services A dministration (GSA) 

was created by the U. S. Federal Property and

A dministrative Services A ct of 1949, as amended 

( the A ct).  The U. S. Congress enacted this legislation 

to provide for the Federal Government an economic 

and efficient system for the procurement and 

operation of buildings, procurement and distribution of

general supplies, acquisition and management of a

motor vehicle fleet, management of automated data

processing resources, and management of

telecommunications programs.

The A dministrator of General Services, appointed by

the President of the United States with the advice and

consent of the U. S. Senate, oversees the operations of

GSA.  GSA carries out its responsibilities through the

operation of several appropriated and revolving funds.

1 . SI G N I F I C A N T AC C O U N T I N G PO L I C I E S

A. Reporting Entity

For its principal financial statements, GSA uses

consolidating and combining formats to display its 

three largest revolving funds: the Federal Buildings 

F und (FBF), General Supply Fund (GSF), and Information

Technology Fund (ITF).  A ll other funds have been

combined under Other Funds.

The accompanying financial statements of GSA include

the accounts of all funds under GSA control, which

have been established and ma inta ined to account for

resources of GSA management.  The entities included in

the Other Funds category are as follows, with a

discussion of the different fund types.

Revolving Funds are accounts established by law to

finance a continuing cycle of operations with receipts

derived from such operations usua lly ava ilable in their

entirety for use by the fund without further action by

the U. S. Congress.  The revolving funds in the Other

F unds category consist of the following :

■ C olumbia Hospital For Women Direct Loan 

Financing A ccount

■ Federal Consumer Information Center Fund

■ Working Capital Fund

General Funds are accounts used to record financia l

transactions arising under congressional appropriations

or other authorizations to spend general revenues.  GSA

manages 8 General Fund accounts of which three are

funded by current year appropriations, two by no - year

appropriations, and three cannot incur new obligations.

The general funds included in the Other Funds category

are as follows :

■ A llowances and Office Staff for Former Presidents

■ E xcess and Surplus Real and Related Persona l

P roperty Holding A ccount

■ E xpenses, Presidential Transition

■ O ffice of Inspector Genera l

■ O ffice of Inspector General (Automation Program )

■ O perating Expenses, General Services A dministration

■ R eal Property Relocation

■ S a laries and Expenses, Pennsylvania Avenue

D evelopment Corporation

Special Funds are accounts established for receipts

earmarked by law for a specific purpose, but are not

generated by a cycle of operations for which there is

continuing authority to reuse such receipts.  GSA uses

U. S. General Services A dministration

Notes to Financial Statements

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999
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S pecial Fund receipts to pay certa in costs associated

with the disposal of surplus real property and for

funding of the Transportation Audits Program.  GSA’s

special funds consist of the following :

■ E xpenses, Disposal of Real and Related Persona l

P roperty

■ E xpenses, Transportation Audits

■ O perating Expenses, Disposal of Real and Related

Personal Property

■ O ther Receipts, Surplus Real and Related Persona l

P roperty

■ R eceipts of Rent, Leases and Lease Payments for

G overnment Owned Real Property

■ R eceipts, Transportation Audits

■ Transfer of Surplus Real and Related Persona l

P roperty

Miscellaneous Receipt and Deposit Fund

accounts are considered non - entity funds since GSA

management does not exercise control over how the

monies in these accounts can be used.  Miscellaneous

R eceipt Fund accounts hold receipts and accounts

receivable resulting from miscellaneous activities of

GSA where, by law, such monies may not be deposited

into funds under GSA management control.  The U. S.

D epartment of the Treasury automatica lly transfers all

cash ba lances in these receipt accounts to genera l

funds of the Treasury at the end of each fiscal year.

D eposit Fund accounts hold monies outside the budget.

A ccordingly, their transactions do not affect budget

surplus or deficit.  These accounts include (1) deposits

received for which GSA is acting as an agent or

custodian, (2) unidentified remittances, (3) monies

withheld from payments for goods and services

received, and (4) monies whose distribution awa its a

legal determination or investigation.  The receipt and

deposit funds in the Other Funds category consist of the

following :

■ B udget Clearing A ccount

■ I nterest Receipts from Columbia Hospital for Women

D irect Loan Financing A ccount

■ C redits for Withholding and Contributions, Civil

S ervice Retirement and Disability Fund

■ E mployees’ Payroll A llotment A ccount, U. S. Savings

B onds

■ Fines, Pena lties, and Forfeitures, Not Otherwise

C lassified

■ Forfeitures of Uncla imed Money and Property

■ G eneral Fund Proprietary Interest, Not Otherwise

C lassified

■ G eneral Fund Proprietary Receipts, Not Otherwise

C lassified, A ll Other

■ P roceeds from Sale of Surplus Property

■ R eserve for Purchase Contract Projects

■ S uspense

■ S uspense, Transportation Audits

■ U nconditional Gifts of Rea l, Personal or Other

P roperty

■ Withheld State and Local Taxes

B. Basis of Accounting

The principal financial statements are prepared in

accordance with genera lly accepted accounting

principles as promulgated by the Federal A ccounting

S tandards A dvisory Board (FAS AB) and the hierarchy

prescribed in OMB Bulletin 97-01, “Formats and

I nstructions for the Form and Content of A gency

Financial Statements,” as amended, which states the

following :

1 . I ndividual standards agreed to by the Director of

O M B, the Controller Genera l, and the Secretary 

of the Treasury and published by the Genera l

A ccounting Office.

2 . I nterpretations related to the SFFASs issued by OMB

in accordance with the procedures outlined in OMB

C ircular A-134, “Financial A ccounting Principles and

S tandards ” .
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3 . R equirements conta ined in OMB’s Form and Content

B ulletin in effect for the period covered by the

financial statements.

4 . A ccounting principles published by other

authoritative standard - setting bodies and other

authoritative sources (a) in the absence of other

guidance in the first three parts of this hierarchy, and

(b) if the use of such accounting principles improves

the meaningfulness of the financial statements. 

G S A’s financial statements are prepared in accordance

with formats prescribed in OMB Bulletin 97-01, as

amended.  These formats are considerably different

from business - type formats.  The Statements of Net

C ost present the operating results of GSA by major

programs and responsibilities.  The Balance Sheets

present the financial position of GSA using a format

clearly segregating intra - governmental ba lances.  The

S tatements of Changes in Net Position display the

changes in equity accounts.  The Statements of

B udgetary Resources present the sources, status, and

uses of GSA’s budgetary resources.  Lastly, the

S tatements of Financing bridge the gap between the

uses of budgetary resources with the operating results

reported as the net cost of operations on the

S tatements of Net Cost.

GSA did not perform the reconciliations with tra ding

partners required by OMB Bulletin 97-01, as amended,

which requires agencies to reconcile intra -

governmental income, expense, assets and liabilities,

with all of its tra ding partners.

C erta in prior year ba lances have been reclassified to

conform with the current year ’s presentation.

On the Statements of Net Cost, Balance Sheets,

S upplemental Statements of Operations and

S upplemental Statements of Cash Flows, all significant

intra - agency ba lances and transactions have been

eliminated in consolidation.  No such eliminations have

been ma de on the Combining Statements of Budgetary

R esources and Financing.

The preparation of financial statements requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the

date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting

period.  A ctual results may differ from those estimates.

In fiscal year 1999, GSA ma de changes to accounting

estimates for certa in environmental and legal matters

based on new information and events.  These changes

were reflected as reductions to expenses in that year.

C. Revenue Recognition 
and Appropriations Used

G enera lly, Revolving Fund and reimbursable Genera l

F und revenue is recognized when goods have been

delivered or services rendered.  Revenue under

nonrecurring reimbursable building repa ir and 

a lteration projects is recognized under the percentage -

of - completion method.  Non - E xchange revenues are

recognized on an accrual basis on the Statements of

C hanges in Net Position for sa les of surplus rea l

property, reimbursements due from the audit of

payments to transportation carriers, and other

miscellaneous items resulting from GSA’s operations

where ultimate collections must be deposited in

miscellaneous receipt accounts of the Treasury.  

N on - E xchange revenues are reported net of associated

bad debt expense on uncollectable accounts.

Appropriations for General Fund and Special Fund

activities are recorded as a financing source on the

C onsolidating Statements of Changes in Net Position

when expended.  Unexpended appropriations are

reported as an element of Net Position on the Balance

S heets.

D. Funds with U.S. Treasury

This total represents all unexpended ba lances for GSA’s

accounts with the U. S. Treasury.  A mounts in Funds

with U. S. Treasury are based on the ba lances recorded

by GSA in the National Electronic A ccounting and
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R eporting (NEAR) system.  Differences existing

between the total ba lance reported by GSA that were

greater (less) than those reported by the Department of

the Treasury at September 30, 2000 were as follows

( dollars in millions ) :

Federal Buildings Fund $ 2 

General Supply Fund ( 6 )

I nformation Technology Fund ( 6 )

Other Funds ( 7 )

To tal $ ( 1 7 )

I ncluded in GSA’s accounts are certa in amounts that

may be transferred to either the U. S. Treasury or the

L and and Water Conservation Fund (see Note 1-G).

These amounts, related to the Transportation Audits

program and surplus real property disposa ls, are

subject to transfer subsequent to GSA’s determination

of the internal working capital needs of these programs.

S uch amounts tota led $132 million and $127 million at

S eptember 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, of which $94

million and $93 million were recorded as liabilities in the

C onsolidating Balance Sheets.  At September 30, 2000

and 1999, the ba lance of Funds with Treasury that were

no longer ava ilable for expenditure tota led $4 million

and $3 million, respectively.  Of these amounts,

substantia lly all ba lances were transferred back to the

S pecial Fund Receipt A ccounts from which they were

appropriated, with minor amounts returned to Treasury.

In accordance with Statement of Federal Financia l

A ccounting Standards Number 1,  “A ccounting for

S elected A ssets and Liabilities,” the following

information is provided to further identify amounts in

F unds with U. S. Treasury as of September 30, 2000

aga inst which obligations have been ma de, and, for

unobligated ba lances, to identify amounts budgetarily

ava ilable for future expenditures and those only

ava ilable to liquidate prior obligations (dollars in

millions ) :

F B F $ 7 5 8 $ 1 , 8 3 6 $ 7 8 4 $ 3 , 3 7 8

G S F ( 3 4 ) 4 2 4 - 3 9 0

IT F ( 9 9 5 ) 1 , 0 5 5 - 6 0

O ther Funds 8 8 6 9 2 4 0 3 9 7

To tal $ ( 1 8 3 ) $ 3 , 3 8 4 $ 1 , 0 2 4 $ 4 , 2 2 5

E.  Inventories

O perating supplies, which are consumed in operations,

are va lued at the lower of cost, determined principa lly

on the first - in, first - out method, or market. Inventories

held for sa le to other Federal agencies consist primarily

of General Supply Fund inventories which are va lued at

the lower of cost, genera lly determined on a moving

average basis, or market.  The recorded va lues are

a djusted for the results of physical inventories taken

periodica lly in accordance with a cyclical counting plan.

In the Federal Buildings Fund, inventory ba lances

consist of operating supplies.  In all other instances,

inventory ba lances reported are inventories held for

sa le.  In the General Supply Fund, $1 million of the

ba lances in inventories held for sa le are excess

inventories.  Excess inventories are defined as those

exceeding the economic retention limit (i. e., the number

of units of stock which may be held in inventory without

incurring excessive carrying costs).  Excess inventories

are genera lly transferred to another Federal agency,

sold, or donated to state or local governments.

F.  Property and Equipment (See Note 8)

P roperty and equipment purchases and additions in

fiscal years 2000 and 1999 of $10,000 or more and having

a useful life of 2 or more years are capita lized and

va lued at cost.  Property and equipment transferred to

GSA from other Federal agencies on the date GSA was

established is stated at the transfer va lue which

approximates historical cost.  Subsequent thereto,

equipment transferred to GSA is stated at net book

va lue, and surplus real and related personal property

transferred to GSA is stated at the lower of net book

O b l i g ated 
B a l a n c e ,N et

U n o b l i g ated Balance
Ava i l a b l e U n ava i l a b l e Tota l
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va lue or appra ised va lue.  Expenditures for major

a dditions, replacements, and alterations are capita lized.

N ormal repa ir and ma intenance costs are expensed as

incurred.  The cost of repa ir and alteration and of

leasehold improvements performed by GSA, but

financed by other agencies, is not capita lized in GSA’s

financial statements as such amounts are transferred

to the other agencies upon completion of the project.

S ubstantia lly all land, buildings, and leasehold

improvements are leased to other Federal agencies

under short - term cancellable agreements.  Genera lly,

these agencies are billed for leased space at rent based

upon commercial rates for comparable space. 

D epreciation and amortization of property and

equipment, exclusive of that acquired under capita l

leases, are ca lculated on a stra ight - line basis over their

initial or rema ining useful lives.  Leasehold

improvements are amortized over the lesser of their

useful lives or the unexpired lease term.  Buildings

capita lized by the Federal Buildings Fund at its

inception in 1974 were assigned rema ining useful lives

of 30 years.  Prior to 1974, no depreciation was recorded

by GSA.  Upon completion, construction costs are

capita lized in the Land and Buildings accounts.  Major

and minor building renovation projects carry estimated

useful lives of 20 years, and 10 years, respectively.  In

fiscal year 2000, GSA recorded capita lized interest

costs of $103 thousand in the Construction in Process

account associated with debt provided by the U. S.

Treasury ’s Federal Financing Bank, as discussed in Note

3.  Interest capita lized in fiscal year 1999 amounted to

$1 million.

Telecommunications equipment and automated data

processing equipment are used in operations to

perform services for other Federal agencies for which

billings are rendered.  Most of the assets comprising

other equipment are used interna lly by GSA.

Telecommunications and other equipment, exclusive of

that acquired under capital leases, is depreciated over

periods genera lly ranging from 3 to 10 years.

Telecommunications equipment under capital leases

are genera lly depreciated over their estimated useful

lives (approximately 10 years).  Automated data

processing equipment is depreciated over periods

genera lly ranging from 3 to 5 years.

M otor vehicles are genera lly depreciated over 4 to 6 years.

G. Receipts from Disposal of 
Property and Equipment

GSA acts as a disposal agent for surplus Federal rea l

and personal property.  In some cases, public law

entitles the owning agency to the sa les proceeds, net of

disposal expenses incurred by GSA.  Proceeds from the

disposal of equipment are genera lly reta ined by GSA to

replace equipment.  Under GSA’s legislative authorities,

the gross proceeds from some sa les are deposited in

G S A’s Special Fund receipt accounts and recorded as

N on - E xchange Revenues in the Consolidating

S tatements of Changes in Net Position.  A portion of

these proceeds is subsequently transferred to a Specia l

F und to finance expenses incurred in disposing of

surplus property.  The rema inder is periodica lly

accumulated and transferred, by law, to the Land and

Water Conservation Fund administered by the U. S.

D epartment of the Interior.  Transfers in fiscal years

2000 and 1999 were $2 million and $8 million,

respectively.

H. Annual, Sick, and Other Types of Leave

A nnual leave is accrued as it is earned and the accrua l

is relieved as leave is taken.  Each year the ba lance in

the accrued annual leave account is adjusted to reflect

current pay rates.

S ick leave and other types of nonvested leave are

expensed as taken.

I. Supplemental Consolidating Statements of
Cash Flows (unaudited)

These statements identify cash receipts and payments

and classify them into operating, financing, and

investing activities.  This additional disclosure of

information is intended to help assess the ability to

generate funds from current operations, to identify
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financing acquired from outside sources, and to identify

the major non - operating (investing) uses of funds.

C ash, for the purposes of these schedules, equa ls Funds

with U. S. Treasury as defined in Note 1-D. 

J. Workers’ Compensation Benefits

The Federal Employees’ Compensation A ct (FECA )

provides income and medical cost protection to covered

Federal civilian employees injured on the job, employees

who have incurred a work - related occupational disease,

and beneficiaries of employees whose death is

attributable to a job - related injury or occupationa l

disease.  The FECA program is administered by the U. S.

D epartment of Labor (DOL) which initia lly pays va lid

cla ims and subsequently seeks reimbursement from the

Federal agencies employing the cla imants.  The DOL

provides the actuarial liability for cla ims outstanding at

the end of each fiscal year.  This liability includes the

estimated future costs of death benefits, workers ’

compensation, and medical and miscellaneous costs

for approved compensation cases.  The present va lue of

these estimates at the end of fiscal year 2000 was

ca lculated by DOL using discount rates by fiscal year

as follows: 2001 – 6.15 percent; 2002 - 6.28 percent; 2003

and thereafter- 6.30 percent.  At the end of fiscal year

1999, the discount rates used were as follows:  2000 –

5.50 percent; 2001 - 5.50 percent; 2002 - 5.55 percent; and

2003 and thereafter - 5.60 percent.  The actuarial liability

recorded by GSA tota led $179 million and $168 million

as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

K. Statements of Net Cost

R evenues reported by GSA’s funds on the Statements

of Net Cost are primarily generated from intra -

governmental sa les of goods and services.  Each fund

has established rate setting processes governed by the

laws authorizing their activities.  In most cases, the

rates charged are intended to cover the full cost that

the funds will pay to provide such goods and services

and to provide capital ma intenance.  In accordance with

the governing laws, rates are genera lly not designed to

recover costs covered by other funds or entities of the

U. S. Government, such as for post - employment and

other inter- entity costs.  Revenues from non - Federa l

entities make up an immaterial portion of GSA’s tota l

sa les.  A ccordingly, where not otherwise governed by

law, unique rates for non - Federal customers have

genera lly not been established. 

L. Statements of Budgetary Resources

D ue to timing differences between dates required by

the U. S. Treasury for reporting of fund ba lances and

budget execution results versus the timing of this

report, additional adjustments to the ba lances reported

to Treasury have been ma de to more fully reflect the

activity for the fiscal year ending and for ba lances as of

S eptember 30, 2000 as reported on the Statements of

B udgetary Resources.  The most significant impact of

this timing difference is that outlays reported on the

S tatements of Budgetary Resources are greater (less )

than amounts reported to Treasury as follows (dollars in

millions ) :

Federal Buildings Fund $ ( 2 )

G eneral Supply Fund 3 3

I nformation Technology Fund 2 0

O ther Funds 1 4

To tal $ 6 5

A lso, in the Omnibus Consolidated and Emergency

S upplemental Appropriations A ct, 1999 (Public Law 105-

277 dated October 21, 1998), GSA was authorized to

merge the assets, liabilities and fund ba lances of the

Pennsylvania Avenue A ctivities Fund into the Federa l

B uildings Fund.  As a result, a $21 million ba lance of net

obligations was transferred between the funds and was

reported in fiscal year 1999 under the caption Obligated

B a lance, Net – Brought Forward on this statement.

2 . LE A S I N G AR R A N G E M E N T S

As of September 30, 2000, GSA was committed to

various noncancellable operating leases primarily

covering administrative office space and storage

facilities ma inta ined by the Federal Buildings Fund
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(FBF), and for motor vehicles in the General Supply

F und (GSF).  Many of these leases conta in esca lation

clauses tied to inflationary and tax increases, and

renewal options.

The following are schedules of future minimum renta l

payments required under leases that have initial or

rema ining noncancellable lease terms in excess of one

year, and under capital leases together with the

present va lue of the future minimum lease payments

( dollars in millions ) .

O perating Leases

Fiscal Year F B F G S F Tota l

2 0 0 1 $ 2 , 3 1 8 $ 2 7 $ 2 , 3 4 5

2 0 0 2 2 , 0 4 9 1 8 2 , 0 6 7

2 0 0 3 1 , 7 9 8 9 1 , 8 0 7

2 0 0 4 1 , 5 4 5 - 1 , 5 4 5

2 0 0 5 1 , 3 3 3 - 1 , 3 3 3

2006 and thereafter 7 , 4 7 8 - 7 , 4 7 8

To tal minimum lease paymen ts $ 16,521 $ 54 $ 16,575

C apital Leases

Fiscal Year F B F Tota l

2 0 0 1 $ 28 $ 28

2 0 0 2 2 8 2 8

2 0 0 3 2 8 2 8

2 0 0 4 2 8 2 8

2 0 0 5 2 8 2 8

2006 and thereafter 4 1 4 4 1 4

Total minimum lease payments 5 5 4 5 5 4

L ess: A mounts representing Interest ( 2 5 1 ) ( 2 5 1 )

To tal obligations under capital leases $ 3 0 3 $303 

S ubstantia lly all leased space ma inta ined by the

Federal Buildings Fund is sublet to other Federa l

agencies at rent charges based upon approximate

commercial rates for comparable space.  The

agreements covering the sublease arrangements allow

customer agencies, among other things, to terminate

the sublease at any time.  In most cases, however, GSA

believes the subleases will continue without

interruption.  Rental income under subleasing

agreements approximated $3.1 billion and $2.9 billion

for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000 and 1999,

respectively.  Rent expense under all operating leases,

including short - term non - cancellable leases, was

approximately $2.9 billion and $2.6 billion in fiscal years

2000 and 1999, respectively.

The Consolidating Balance Sheets as of September 30,

2000, includes capital lease assets of $319 million for

buildings, and $43 million of aggregate accumulated

amortization on such structures and equipment.  

For substantia lly all of its leased property, GSA expects

that in the normal course of business such leases will

be either renewed or replaced in accordance with the

needs of its customer agencies.

3 . DE B T FI NA N C I N G

A.  Federal Buildings Fund

Purchase Contract and Lease Purchase Debt

P urchase contract debt consists of two distinct

financing methods employed to finance construction of

Federal buildings.  The Dual System provided monies

via publicly issued Participation Certificates and

Participation Certificates of the Department of the

Treasury ’s Federal Financing Bank (FFB).  The Package

S ystem, origina lly consisted of mortgage notes where

construction and financing were arranged by the same

party.  GSA is not authorized to obta in any additiona l

purchase contract debt without congressiona l

approva l.

In fiscal years 1993 through 1995, GSA refinanced all

outstanding publicly issued Participation Certificates

and Package System mortgage notes with the FFB.

GSA now has title to all purchase contract buildings.

S tarting in fiscal year 1991, GSA entered into severa l

agreements to fund the purchase of land and

construction of buildings under the Federal Buildings
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F und (FBF) lease purchase authority.  Under these

agreements, the FBF borrows monies through the FFB

or executes lease - to - own contracts to finance the lease

purchases.  The program authorizes total expenditures

of $1,945 million for 11 projects.  In fiscal years 2000 and

1999, the FFB ma de advance payments on the beha lf of

GSA tota ling $6 million and $8 million, respectively.  A s

of September 30, 2000, $231 million of borrowing

authority under the lease purchase program rema ins

ava ilable for obligation.  

R esources to retire debt are obta ined from annua l

revenues generated by the FBF.  A ggregate debt

maturities are as follows (dollars in millions): 2001 - $79;

2002 - $85; 2003 - $85; 2004 - $56; 2005 - $38; 2006 and

beyond - $1,334.

Pennsylvania Avenue Debt

The former Pennsylvania Avenue Development

C orporation origina lly received authority to borrow from

the FFB to finance construction of the Rona ld Reagan

B uilding (RRB) in Washington, D.C., with a project

budget of $738 million.  In 1990, PADC entered into a

long - term lease agreement with the FFB and GSA,

whereby GSA leased and would ultimately receive title

to the building.  The agreement required GSA to make

rental payments over a 30-year period to retire the

PADC debt with the FFB.  Through fiscal year 1998,

ba lances financed for this project were accounted for in

G S A’s Pennsylvania Avenue A ctivities Fund (PAAF). 

In the Omnibus Consolidated and Emergency

S upplemental Appropriations A ct, 1999 (Public Law 105-

277 dated October 21, 1998), GSA was authorized to

merge the assets, liabilities and fund ba lances of the

PAAF into the FBF.  The most significant impact of this

action was to close out the capital lease agreement

between the two funds for the RRB and reflect the debt

as a liability of the FBF.  

In fiscal year 2000 and 1999, the FFB ma de $300

thousand and $15 million, respectively, in advance

payments on the beha lf of GSA for this project (see

N ote 11).

A ggregate maturities on debt related to the RRB are as

follows (dollars in millions): 2001 - $11; 2002 - $12; 2003 -

$13; 2004 - $13; 2005 - $14; 2006 and beyond - $715.

B.  Direct Loan Financing Debt

In the Treasury and General Government Appropriations

A ct, 2000 (Public Law 106-58), Congress gave GSA the

authority to sell a parcel of land in Washington D.C. to

the Columbia Hospital for Women and provided for GSA

to offer 30 year financing.  In accordance with the

budgetary requirements of the Credit Reform and

D eficit Reduction A ct of 1990, when financing terms

were accepted for the sa le, GSA borrowed an equa l

amount of money from the U. S. Treasury to obta in an

immediate credit of cash for the amount of the sa le.

The note receivable and borrowing are accounted for in

the Columbia Hospital for Women Direct Loan

Financing A ccount, a fund established with the U. S.

Treasury solely for this purpose.  The term of the

borrowing matched the 30-year term of the note.

P roceeds from the note receivable from the sa le will be

used to liquidate the Treasury borrowing over the

matching terms.  The $14 million proceeds from the

borrowing were deposited in the related program

account (the FBF).  FBF funds were then used to pay a

subsidy cost of $6 million to the financing account that

represents the present va lue differential caused by

below - market interest rate provided by Congress, as

well as the possible credit risk associated with the note.



GSA FI N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 85

4 . EM P L OY E E BE N E F I T PL A N S
A.  Background

A lthough GSA funds a portion of pension benefits for

its employees under the Civil Service Retirement

S ystem and the Federal Employees Retirement System

and makes the necessary payroll withholdings from

them, GSA is not required to disclose the assets of the

systems or the actuarial data with respect to

accumulated plan benefits or the unfunded pension

liability relative to its employees.  Reporting such

amounts is the direct responsibility of the Office of

Personnel Management (OPM).  Reporting of hea lth

care benefits for retired employees are also the direct

responsibility of OPM.

In accordance with Statement of Federal Financia l

A ccounting Standards (SFFAS) Number 5, “A ccounting

for Liabilities of the Federal Government,” GSA

recognizes the normal cost of pension programs and

the normal cost of other post - employment hea lth and

life insurance benefits, as defined in that standard, on

the Consolidating Statements of Net Cost.  While these

costs will ultimately be funded out of direct

appropriations ma de to OPM and do not require funding

by GSA activities, they are an element of government -

wide costs incurred as a result of GSA’s operations.

B.  Civil Service Retirement System

In fiscal year 2000, 44.2 percent of GSA employees were

covered by the Civil Service Retirement System

(CSRS), a defined benefit plan.  Total GSA (employer )

contributions (9.01) percent of base pay for law

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

F E D E R AL BUILDINGS FUND

P urchase Con tract Debt

D ual System

Participation certificates held by the Federal Financing Bank, due at various

dates from November 1, 2000 through November 15, 2004, at interest rates 

ranging from 4.703 percent to 9.162 percent. $ 1 7 5 $ 260 

Package System

M ortgage loans held by the FFB due at various dates from March 25, 2003

through March 25, 2005, at interest rates ranging from 6.399 percent 

to 7.939 percent.  2 1 26 

L ease Purchase Debt

M ortgage loans and construction advances held by the FFB, due at various 

dates from January 30, 2002 through October 1, 2026, at interest rates

ranging from 4.975 percent to 8.561 percent 1 , 4 8 1 1,497 

Pennsylvania Avenue Debt

R ona ld Reagan Building, mortgage loans due November 2, 2026, at interest

rates ranging from 5.198 percent to 8.323 percent 7 7 8 788  

S ubtotal Federal Buildings Fund Debt $ 2 , 4 5 5 $ 2 , 5 7 1

DIRECT LOAN FINANCING DEBT

C olumbia Hospital Direct Loan Financing A ccount 8 -

TOTAL GSA DEBT $ 2 , 4 6 3 $ 2 , 5 7 1

C.  Schedules of Debt Arrangements

G S A’s outstanding debt arrangements at September 30, 2000 and 1999 were as follows (dollars in millions ) :
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enforcement employees, and 8.51  percent for all others )

to CSRS for all employees in fiscal years 2000 and 1999

were $33 million and $32 million, respectively.

C.  Federal Employees Retirement System

On January 1, 1987, the Federal Employees Retirement

S ystem (FERS), a defined contribution plan, went into

effect pursuant to Public Law 99-335.  Employees hired

after December 31, 1983, were automatica lly covered by

FERS and Social Security while employees hired prior to

J anuary 1, 1984, elected to either join FERS and Socia l

S ecurity or rema in in CSRS.  As of September 30, 2000,

55.3 percent of GSA’s employees were covered under

F E R S.  One of the primary differences between FERS

and CSRS is that FERS offers automatic and matching

contributions into the Federal Government ’s Thrift

S avings Plan (TSP) for each employee.  Under CSRS,

employees can invest up to 5 percent of their base pay in

the T S P.  Employees under FERS can invest up to 10

percent of base pay, plus GSA will automatica lly

contribute 1 percent of base pay and then match

employee contributions up to an additional 4 percent of

base pay.  During fiscal years 2000 and 1999, GSA

( employer) contributions to FERS (23.3 percent of base

pay for law enforcement employees and 10.7 percent for

a ll others) tota led $42 million and $38 million,

respectively.  A dditional GSA contributions to the T S P

correspondingly tota led $17 million and $15 million.

D.  Social Security System

GSA also makes matching contributions to the Socia l

S ecurity A dministration (SSA) under the Federa l

I nsurance Contributions A ct (FICA).  For employees

covered by FERS, GSA contributed matching amounts

of 6.20 percent of gross pay (up to $76,200) to SSA’s

O ld - A ge, Survivors, and Disability Insurance (OAS D I )

program in ca lendar year 2000.  A dditiona lly, GSA

makes matching contributions for all employees of 1.45

percent of gross pay to SSA’s Medicare Hospita l

I nsurance program in ca lendar year 2000.  Only 0.5

percent of GSA’s employees are covered exclusively by

these Social Security programs.  Payments to these

programs in fiscal years 2000 and 1999 amounted to $39

million and $36 million, respectively.

E.  Schedule of Unfunded Benefit Costs

A mounts recorded in fiscal year 2000 in accordance

with SFFAS Number 5 for post - employment benefits are

as follows (dollars in millions ) :

F B F $ 1 4 $ 1 7 $ 3 1

G S F 7 7 1 4

IT F 4 3 7

O ther Funds 7 6 1 3

To tal $ 3 2 $ 3 3 $ 6 5

5 . STAT E M E N T S O F CH A N G E S
I N NE T PO S I T I O N

A.  Cumulative Results of Operations

C umulative results of operations for Revolving Funds

include the net cost of operations since their inception,

reduced by funds returned to the U. S. Treasury, by

congressional rescissions, and by transfers to other

Federal agencies, in addition to ba lances representing

invested capita l.  Invested capital includes amounts

provided to fund certa in GSA assets, principa lly land,

buildings, construction in process, and equipment, as

well as appropriated capital provided as the corpus of a

fund (genera lly to meet operating working capital needs ) .

G S A’s Federal Buildings Fund (FBF), General Supply

F und (GSF), Information Technology Fund (ITF), Working

C apital Fund (WCF), and Federal Consumer Information

C enter Fund (FCICF) have legislative authority to reta in

portions of their cumulative results for specific

purposes.  The FBF reta ins cumulative results to

finance future operations and construction, subject to

appropriation by Congress.  In the GSF, earnings are

reta ined to cover the cost of replacing the motor vehicle

fleet and supply inventory.  The ITF reta ins cumulative

Pe n s i o n
B e n ef it s

H e a l t h / L i fe
I n s u ra n c e Tota l
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results to provide financing for major systems

acquisitions and improvements, contract conversion

costs, major contingencies, and to ma inta in sufficient

working capita l.  The WCF reta ins earnings to finance

future operations.  The FCICF reta ins cumulative results

to finance future operations, subject to appropriation by

C ongress.

B.  Unexpended Appropriations

U nexpended Appropriations of GSA’s genera l

appropriated and special funds consist of unobligated

ba lances, and undelivered orders, net of unfilled

customer orders.  Undelivered orders are orders placed

by GSA with vendors for goods and services that have

not been received.  Unfilled customer orders are

reimbursable orders placed with GSA by other

agencies, other GSA funds or from the public where

GSA has yet to provide the good or service requested.

At September 30, 2000 ba lances reported as

unexpended appropriations were as follows (dollars in

millions ) :

U nobligated Balances

Ava ilable $ 4 4

U nava ilable 1 1

U ndelivered Orders, Net 4 0

To tal Unexpended Appropriations $ 9 5

6 . CO M M I T M E N T S A N D CO N T I N G E N C I E S
A.  Commitments

In addition to future lease commitments discussed in

N ote 2, GSA is committed under obligations for goods

and services that have been ordered but not yet

received (undelivered orders) at fiscal year- end.

A ggregate undelivered orders for all GSA activities

amounted to $4.7 billion in fiscal year 2000 and $4.2

billion in 1999.

In fiscal year 1999, GSA awarded two contracts for

long - distance telecommunications services (FTS2001)

to replace the existing FTS2000 contracts that provide

state - of - the - art integrated voice, data, and video

telecommunications.  Costs for services to be provided

over the eight - year term of the contracts are estimated

to be $5 billion.  The contracts provide minimum

revenue guarantees, of which $1,253 million rema ins

outstanding as of September 30, 2000.

B.  Contingencies

GSA is a party in various administrative proceedings,

legal actions, environmental suits, and cla ims brought

by or aga inst it.  In the opinion of GSA management and

legal counsel, the ultimate resolution of these

proceedings, actions, and cla ims will not materia lly

affect the financial position or results of operations of

G S A .

Contingencies Covered by GSA Funds

As of September 30, 2000 and 1999, GSA recorded

contingent liabilities in total of $134 million and $149

million, respectively, for pending and threatened lega l

matters for which, in the opinion of GSA management

and legal counsel, GSA funds will probably incur losses.

Of these ba lances, $134 million and $147 million,

respectively, were reported as Other Liabilities on the

C onsolidating Balance Sheets, with the rema inder

reported as A ccounts Payable – Public, therein.

In addition, GSA had another $152 million and $131

million in contingencies at September 30, 2000 and 1999,

respectively, where it is reasonably possible, but not

probable, that GSA funds will incur some cost.

A ccordingly, no ba lances have been recorded in the

financial statements for these contingencies.

In most cases, legal matters which directly involve GSA

relate to contractual arrangements GSA has entered

into either for property and services it has obta ined or

procured on beha lf of other Federal agencies.  The costs

of administering, litigating, and resolving these actions
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are genera lly borne by GSA unless it can recover the

cost from another Federal agency.  Certa in lega l

matters in which GSA may be named party are

a dministered and, in some instances, litigated by other

Federal agencies.  A mounts to be pa id under any

decision, settlement, or award perta ining thereto are

sometimes funded by those agencies.

Contingencies Covered by the Judgment Fund

In most cases, tort and environmental cla ims are

a dministered and resolved by the U. S. Department of

Justice and any amounts necessary for resolution are

obta ined from a special Judgment Fund ma inta ined by

the Department of the Treasury.  In accordance with the

FAS AB ’s Interpretation Number 2, “A ccounting for

Treasury Judgment Fund Transactions,” costs incurred

by the Federal government are to be reported by the

agency responsible for incurring the liability, or to which

liability has been assigned, regardless of the ultimate

source of funding.  In accordance with this

interpretation, GSA reported $133 million and $73

million in fiscal years 2000 and 1999, respectively, of

E nvironmental and Disposa ls and Other Liabilities for

contingencies, which will require funding exclusively

through the Judgment Fund.  Of those amounts, $95

million and $71 million, result from severa l

environmental cases outstanding at the end of fisca l

years 2000 and 1999, respectively, where GSA has been

named as a potentia lly responsible party.

A dditional contingencies subject to ultimate funding

from the Judgment Fund where the risk of loss is

reasonably possible but not probable ranged from $174

million to $3.6 billion at September 30, 2000 and ranged

from $303 million to $3.7 billion at September 30, 1999.

The recognition of cla ims to be funded through the

Judgment Fund on GSA’s Consolidating Statements of

N et Cost and Consolidating Balance Sheets is, in effect,

recognition of these liabilities aga inst the Federa l

government as a whole, and should not be interpreted

as cla ims aga inst the assets, or resources of any GSA

fund, nor will any future resources of GSA be required

to liquidate any resulting losses.  Further, for most

environmental cla ims, GSA has no manageria l

responsibility other than as custodian and successor on

cla ims ma de aga inst former Federal entities,

particularly former World War II defense related

activities.

A mounts pa id from the Judgment Fund on beha lf of

GSA were $68 million and $40 million in fiscal years

2000 and 1999, respectively.  Of these amounts $63

million and $32 million, respectively, related to cla ims

filed under the Contract Disputes A ct for which

payments have been or will be ma de to reimburse the

Judgment Fund by the GSA funds liable under the

contacts in dispute.  The ba lance of cla ims pa id on

beha lf of GSA do not require reimbursement to the

Judgment Fund.

7 . AC C O U N T S A N D NOT E S RE C E I VA B L E

S ubstantia lly all accounts receivable are from other

Federal agencies.  Unbilled accounts receivable result

from the delivery of goods or performance of services

for which bills have not yet been rendered.  A llowances

for doubtful accounts are recorded using aging

methodologies based on ana lysis of historica l

collections and writeoffs.

N otes receivable are from the sa le of surplus real and

related personal property, from motor vehicle damage

cla ims, and from contract cla ims.  Interest rates range

from 0.0 percent to 12.6 percent.

In the Treasury and General Government Appropriations

A ct, 2000 (Public Law 106-58), Congress gave GSA the

authority to sell a parcel of land in Washington D.C. to

the Columbia Hospital for Women and provided for GSA

to offer 30 year financing at 4.25% interest for the $14

million sa le amount.  The property was sold under this

authority in September 2000, with GSA accepting a

down payment of approximately $1 million, with the
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ba lance of $13 million being financed by a note with the

terms indicated above.  In accordance with the

budgetary requirements of the Credit Reform and

D eficit Reduction A ct of 1990, and FAS AB Standard No.

2, A ccounting for Direct Loans and Loan Guarantees,

this note is presented at the present va lue of the

anticipated cash flows from the note.  This note

receivable is accounted for in the Columbia Hospital for

Women Direct Loan Financing A ccount. A subsidy cost

of $6 million was recorded as an allowance aga inst this

note in accordance with estimates ma de by the Office

of Management and Budget.  This subsidy amount

represents the present va lue differencial caused by the

below market interest rate, tota ling $2 million, as well

as the possible credit risk associated with the note,

estimated at $4 million.

A summary of A ccounts and Notes Receivable is as

follows (dollars in millions ) :

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

C urren t :

A ccounts receivable - Billed $ 232 $ 242 $ 119 $ 122 $ 2 1 8 $ 118 $ 30 $ 32 $ - $ - $ 5 9 9 $ 514 

A ccounts receivable - Unbilled 1 6 3 139 1 8 1 174 1 , 2 1 5 943 1 7 17 3 4 29 1 , 5 4 2 1,244 

A llowance for doubtful accounts ( 4 6 ) ( 2 3 ) ( 9 ) ( 8 ) - - ( 4 ) ( 4 ) - - ( 5 9 ) ( 3 5 )

3 4 9 358 2 9 1 288 1 , 4 3 3 1,061 4 3 45 3 4 29 2 , 0 8 2 1,723 

A dd:  Current notes receivable - - - - - - 1 - - - 1 - 

S ubtotal - Current receivables 3 4 9 358 2 9 1 288 1 , 4 3 3 1,061 4 4 45 3 4 29 2 , 0 8 3 1,723 

N oncurrent notes receivable

( N et of allowance of

$30 and $22 in 2000 and

1999, respectively ) - - - - - - 7 1 - - 7 1

To tal A ccoun ts and Notes 

R eceivable $ 349 $ 358 $ 291 $ 288 $ 1,433 $ 1,061 $ 51 $ 46 $ 34 $ 29 $ 2,090 $ 1,724

Fe d e ra l
B u i l d i n g s

F u n d

G e n e ra l
S u p p ly
F u n d

I n fo r m ati o n
Te ch n o l o gy

F u n d
O t h e r
F u n d s

L e s s :
I n t ra - G S A

E l i m i n ati o n s

G S A
C o n s o l i d ate d

Tota l s
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B.  Cleanup Costs

In GSA's Federal Buildings Fund, certa in properties

conta in environmental hazards that will ultimately need

to be removed and / or require conta inment mechanisms

to prevent hea lth risks to the public.  Cleanup of such

hazards is governed by various Federal and State laws.

The laws most applicable to GSA are the

C omprehensive Environmental Response

C ompensation and Liability A ct of 1980, the Clean A ir

A ct, and the Resource Conservation and Recovery A ct.

In accordance with the Federal A ccounting Standards

A dvisory Board's Statements of Federal Financia l

A ccounting Standards (SFFAS) Numbers 5 and 6,

" A ccounting for Liabilities of the Federal Government, "

and "Accounting for Property Plant and Equipment, "

respectively, and interpretive guidance in "Federa l

Financial A ccounting and Auditing Technical Release

N umber 2" issued by the A ccounting and Auditing

Policy Committee, if an agency is required by law to

clean up such hazard, the estimated amount of cleanup

cost must be reported in the financial statements.

A ccordingly, GSA recognized liabilities tota ling $102

million and $95 million for Environmental and Disposa ls

costs as of September 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively,

for properties currently in GSA's property inventory.  In

8 . PR O P E RT Y A N D EQ U I P M E N T

B u i l d i n g s
L e a s e h o l d

I m p rove m e n t s
Telecom & A D P

E q u i p m e n t
M oto r

Ve h i c l e s
O t h e r

E q u i p m e n t L a n d
C o n s t r u cti o n
In Pro c e s s Tota l

Federal Buildings Fund

C ost $ 18,328 $  263 $  – $  – $ 60 $ 1,226 $  1,154 $  21,031 

A ccumulated  Depreciation 7,407 205 – – 32 – – 7,644 

N et Book Value 10,921 58 – – 28 1,226 1,154 13,387 

G eneral Supply Fund

C ost – 8 – 3,023 78 – – 3,109 

A ccumulated  Depreciation – 3 – 858 43 – – 904 

N et Book Value – 5 – 2,165 35 – – 2,205 

I nformation Technology Fund

C ost – – 158 – 59 – 1 218 

A ccumulated  Depreciation – – 112 – 39 – – 151 

N et Book Value – – 46 – 20 – 1 67 

O ther Funds

C ost – – – – 16 – – 16 

A ccumulated  Depreciation – – – – 7 – – 7 

N et Book Value – – – – 9 – – 9 

To tal

C ost 18,328 271 158 3,023 213 1,226 1,155 24,374 

A ccumulated  Depreciation 7,407 208 112 858 121 – – 8,706 

N et Book Value $ 10,921 $  63 $  46 $  2,165 $ 92 $ 1,226 $  1,155 $ 15,668

A. Summary of Balances

B a lances in GSA's Property and Equipment accounts are summarized below (dollars in millions ) :
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instances where no reasonable estimate of the cost to

clean up a particular site could be ma de, GSA

recognized the estimated costs for related

environmental studies as is prescribed in the guidance

noted above.  In some instances, GSA has been named

as a party in certa in environmental cases where the

subject property is no longer in the GSA or Federa l

property inventory.  GSA's liability for such cases is

further discussed in Note 6.

9 . OT H E R LI A B I L I T I E S

As of September 30, 2000, amounts reported on the ba lance sheet as Other Intragovernmental Liabilities and Other

L iabilities consisted of the following (dollars in millions ) :

F B F G S F I T F Others C o n s o l i d ate d

O ther Intragovernmen tal Liabilities :

Workers’ Compensation Due to DOL $  24 $  6 $   2 $ 4 $ 36

D eposits Held in Suspense - - - 3 2 3 2

Payments Due to the Judgment Fund 1 2 8 - - - 1 2 8

To tal $ 152 $  6 $   2 $ 3 6 $ 1 9 6

O ther Liabilities :

C ontingencies $ 1 3 3 $   3 $ 36 $  - $ 1 7 2

I nsta llment Purchase Liabilities 1 3 - - - 1 3

Pensions for Former Presidents - - - 7 7

To tal $ 1 4 6 $  3 $ 36 $  7 $ 1 9 2

1 0 . UN F U N D E D LI A B I L I T I E S
As of September 30, 2000 and 1999, budgetary resources

were not yet ava ilable to fund certa in liabilities reported

on the ba lance sheet.  For the ba lances in question,

most are long - term in nature where funding is genera lly

ma de ava ilable in the year payments are anticipated.

These Unfunded Liabilities consist of amounts reported

on the Balance Sheet for fiscal years 2000 and 1999,

under the captions:  Workers’ Compensation A ctuaria l

L iability, Other Intragovernmental Liabilities, A nnua l

L eave Liability, Environmental and Disposa ls, and Other

L iabilities.  In addition, ba lances reported as

I ntragovernmental Debt for fiscal years 2000 and 1999,

include unfunded ba lances tota ling $122 million and

$141 million, respectively.  Certa in other ba lances

reported in the Balance Sheet under the captions :

D eposit Fund Liability, and Earnings Payable to

Treasury, as well as amounts shown as Deposits Held in

S uspense in Note 9, while unfunded by definition, will

be liquidated from resources outside of the tra ditiona l

funding process.

Total GSA
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1 1 . NO N- EN T I T Y AS S E T S
As of September 30, 2000, certa in amounts reported on

the ba lance sheet are not ava ilable to management for

use in ongoing operations and are classified as Non -

entity assets (see Note 1.A).  These ba lances consisted

of the following (dollars in millions ) :

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

F unds with U. S. Treasury $ 9 0 $ 8 8

A ccounts Receivable – Public 3 1

P repa id Expenses – Federa l 3 1 4

To tal $ 9 6 $ 1 0 3

RE Q U I R E D SU P P L E M E N TA RY IN F O R M AT I O N

Deferred Maintenance

As of the end of fiscal year 2000, GSA had no materia l

amounts of deferred ma intenance cost to report.  GSA

a dministers the Building Maintenance Management

P rogram that, on an ongoing basis, ma inta ins the

B uilding Class inventory in acceptable condition, as

defined by GSA management.  GSA utilizes a condition

assessment survey methodology, applied at the overa ll

portfolio level, for determining reportable levels of

deferred ma intenance.  Under this methodology, GSA

defines “acceptable condition” and “acceptable level of

service” in terms of certa in National Performance

M easures, formulated under the provisions of the

G overnment Performance and Results A ct of 1993. 

GSA expenses normal repa ir and ma intenance costs as

incurred.  A lthough GSA has no substantive backlog of

deferred ma intenance tasks, the average building in the

GSA inventory is 45 years old, and only 25 percent of

these buildings have had extensive modernization. This

has led to a large inventory of capital Repa ir and

A lteration (R&A) work items of which approximately

$3.4 billion has not yet been addressed by an ongoing

PBS R&A project.  For fiscal year 2001, GSA has

requested new obligational authority of approximately

$721 million for the R&A program.

Intra-Governmental Balances

For fiscal year 2000, the following schedule identifies

major customers of GSA’s Intra - governmental revolving

funds and the associated amount of sa les representing

over 80 percent of GSA’s total consolidated revenues

( dollars in millions ) :

A gency A moun t

D epartment of the A rmy $ 1 , 8 5 4

D epartment of the A ir Force 1 , 3 9 1

D epartment of the Navy 1 , 3 9 0

D epartment of Justice 1 , 3 5 6

D epartment of the Treasury 1 , 1 8 3

Judiciary 7 8 2

D epartment of Defense 5 3 3

S ocial Security A dministration 5 3 0

D ept. of Hea lth and Human Services 4 8 1

D epartment of Commerce 4 6 9

D epartment of the Interior 4 5 3

D epartment of A griculture 4 2 5

E nvironmental Protection A gency 3 5 5

D epartment of Transportation 3 0 5

To tal $ 1 1 , 5 0 7
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The following schedule reflects accounts receivable

ba lances owed to GSA as of September 30, 2000, from the

major customers of GSA’s Intra - governmental revolving

funds, representing over 80 percent of GSA’s tota l

consolidated accounts receivable (dollars in millions ) :

A gency A moun t

D epartment of the Navy $ 3 6 4

D epartment of the A rmy 3 4 3

D epartment of Defense  3 2 1

D epartment of the A ir Force 2 3 2

D epartment of Justice 5 3

D epartment of the Treasury 3 8

D istrict of Columbia 3 4

D ept. of Hea lth and Human Services 3 4

C orps of Engineers 3 2

Judiciary 3 0

D epartment of the Interior 2 4

D epartment of A griculture 2 4

D epartment of Energy 2 3

D epartment of State 2 3

D epartment of Transportation 2 1

D epartment of Commerce 2 0

To tal $ 1 , 6 1 6

GSA reported $3,400 million of intra - governmenta l

liabilities on its Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2000.

Of that ba lance, the significant elements comprising

over 80 percent of the total included borrowings from

the Department of the Treasury—$2,463 million (see

note 3); Workers’ Compensation liabilities administered

by the Department of Labor—$211 million; and

Judgment Fund reimbursements due the Department of

the Treasury—$128 million.
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Fe d e ral Buildings Fund G e n e ral Supply Fund
I n fo r m ation 

Te ch n o l o gy Fund

U. S. General Services A dministration

Supplemental Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

O perating Revenues (Note 1):

B uilding Rents and Services $ 6,668 $ 6,321 $ - $ - $ - $ - 

S a les of Supplies - - 1 , 5 7 4 1,742 - - 

I nformation Technology Services - - - - 4 , 9 8 6 4,178 

M otor Vehicle Services - - 9 5 3 908 - - 

R eimbursements - - - - - - 

O ther 7 36 2 1 2 156 2 6 - 

To tal Operating Revenues 6,675 6,357 2 , 7 3 9 2,806 5 , 0 1 2 4,178 

E xpenses (Note 1):

C ost of Supply Sales - - 1 , 3 2 2 1,468 - - 

Personnel Salaries and Benefits 4 8 1 460 2 2 0 210 1 2 7 111 

R ent 2 , 9 0 5 2,648 4 4 47 1 3 12 

I nformation Technology - - - - 4 , 8 4 0 4,011 

M otor Vehicles - - 3 7 3 368 - - 

C ontracted Services 1 , 4 5 9 1,491 1 0 9 93 - - 

D epreciation and A mortization 8 0 4 759 2 6 5 243 2 7 25 

U tilities 2 6 4 255 - - - - 

O perating Supplies 5 5 62 1 6 2 121 3 5 

I nterest 1 9 8 203 - - 1 - 

Travel and Transportation 2 4 23 6 6 6 5 

S hipping Expenses - - 5 4 52 - - 

Workers' Compensation A ctuarial 

E xpense (Note 1-J) 8 6 2 1 1 - 

O ther Expenses 1 0 8 45 5 6 19 6 1 4 

To tal Operating Expenses 6 , 3 0 6 5,952 2 , 6 1 3 2,628 5 , 0 7 9 4,173 

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations 3 6 9 405 1 2 6 178 ( 6 7 ) 5 

O ther Results of Operations :

Appropriations Used (Note 1-C) - 450 - - - - 

N on - E xchange Revenue (Note 1-C, 1-G) - - - - - - 

I mputed Financing Provided By Others 5 1 51 2 5 25 12 11 

Transfers of A ssets and Liabilities, Net ( 5 ) 35 1 7 17 - - 

Transfers and Reclassifications of Earnings - - - ( 4 ) - - 

O ther 1 ( 1 ) - - - - 

N et Results of Operations $  4 1 6 $ 940 $ 1 6 8 $ 216 $ ( 5 5 ) $ 16 
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Other Funds L e s s :I n t ra-GSA Eliminati o n s

GSA Consolidated Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 % of Reve n u e sA m o u n t A mount % of Revenues

$ - $ - $ 83 $ 83 $ 6,585 4 6 . 3 % $ 6,238 47.3 %

- - 2 4 32 1,550 1 0 . 9 1,710 1 3 . 0

- - 1 1 7 78 4,869 3 4 . 2 4,100 3 1 . 1

- - 8 7 945 6 . 6 901 6 . 8

2 3 4 213 2 1 7 170 17 0 . 1 43 0 . 3

1 1 12 - - 256 1 . 8 204 1 . 5

2 4 5 225 4 4 9 370 14,222 1 0 0 . 0 13,196 1 0 0 . 0

- - 2 4 32 1,298 9 . 1 1,436 1 0 . 9

2 1 7 207 - - 1,045 7 . 3 988 7 . 5

2 5 25 8 3 83 2,904 2 0 . 4 2,649 2 0 . 1

- - 1 1 7 78 4,723 3 3 . 2 3,933 2 9 . 8

- - 8 7 365 2 . 6 361 2 . 7

2 2 6 183 2 3 8 188 1,556 1 0 . 9 1,579 1 2 . 0

6 3 - - 1,102 7 . 7 1,030 7 . 8

- - - - 264 1 . 9 255 1 . 9

2 4 - - 222 1 . 6 192 1 . 4

1 - - - 200 1 . 4 203 1 . 5

7 8 - - 43 0 . 3 42 0 . 3

- - - - 54 0 . 4 52 0 . 4

- 1 - - 11 0 . 1 8 0 . 1

1 9 ( 1 1 7 ) 1 7 19 227 1 . 6 ( 6 8 ) (0.5) 

5 0 3 314 4 8 7 407 14,014 9 8 . 5 12,660 9 5 . 9

( 2 5 8 ) ( 8 9 ) ( 3 8 ) ( 3 7 ) 208 1 . 5 536 4 . 1

2 0 9 187 - - 209 1 . 5 637 4 . 8

3 6 62 - - 36 0 . 3 62 0 . 5

1 5 19 3 8 37 65 0 . 5 69 0 . 5

6 ( 3 9 ) - - 18 0 . 1 13 0 . 1

( 3 3 ) ( 6 8 ) - - ( 3 3 ) (0.2) ( 7 2 ) (0.6) 

1 9 - - 2 0 . 0 8 0 . 1

$ ( 2 4 ) $ 81 $ - $ - $ 505 3.6 % $ 1,253 9.5 %



GSA FI N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S96

U. S. General Services A dministration

Supplemental Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2000 and 1999

( DO L L A R SI N MI L L I O N S)

Fe d e ral Buildings Fund G e n e ral Supply Fund

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

C ash Flows from Operating A ctivities :

N et Income From (Cost of) Operations $ 3 6 9 $ 405 $ 1 2 6 $ 178 

A djustments to Net Income From (Cost of) Operations -

D epreciation and A mortization 8 0 4 759 265 243 

N on - E xchange Revenues - - - - 

O ther A djustments and W rite - offs 2 7 4 7 2 

( G a in) Loss on Disposal of Equipment - ( 2 0 ) 19 8 

C hanges in Current A ssets and Liabilities -

( I ncrease ) / D ecrease

A ccounts Receivable, Net 9 117 ( 3 ) 28 

I nventories 1 - ( 9 ) 12 

P repa id Expenses and A dvances to Others ( 5 ) - 1 1 3 

I ncrease / ( D ecrease )

A ccounts Payable and A ccrued Expenses ( 3 6 ) 72 ( 1 2 ) ( 1 7 )

D eposit Fund Liability - - - - 

D eferred Revenue and A dvances From Others 9 ( 1 0 ) 8 2 

O ther Liabilities ( 3 5 ) 36 5 ( 3 )

Total A djustments 774 958 2 9 1 278 

N et Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating A ctivities 1,143 1,363 4 1 7 456 

C ash Flows from Investing A ctivities :

P roceeds from Sales of Property and Equipment - 34 2 0 2 208 

Payments Received from Notes Receivable, Net - 3 - - 

C apital Expenditures ( 1 , 0 7 4 ) ( 1 , 1 7 5 ) ( 6 3 5 ) ( 6 1 6 )

O ther 4 ( 2 ) 1 ( 1 )

N et Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing A ctivities ( 1 , 0 7 0 ) ( 1 , 1 4 0 ) ( 4 3 2 ) ( 4 0 9 )

C ash Flows from Financing A ctivities :

P rincipal Payments Under Capital Lease Obligations ( 7 ) ( 6 ) - - 

A dditional Appropriated Capita l, Net - 466 - - 

P rincipal Payments on Long - Term Debt ( 1 2 4 ) ( 1 1 5 ) - - 

Financing Sources Provided By Others 5 1 51 2 5 25 

R eceipts Transferred Out, Net - - - ( 4 )

N et C ash  Provided by (Used in) Financing A ctivities ( 8 0 ) 396 2 5 21 

N et Increase (Decrease) in Funds with U. S. Treasury ( 7 ) 619 1 0 68 

F unds with U. S. Treasury at Beginning of Year 3 , 3 8 5 2,766 3 8 0 312 

F unds with U. S. Treasury at End of Year $ 3,378 $ 3,385 $ 3 9 0 $ 380 

S upplemen tal Disclosure of Cash Flow Information :

Total Interest Pa id $ 1 8 0 $ 203 $ - $ - 

S upplemen tal Schedule of Financing and Investing A ctivities :

P roperty and Equipment A cquired Under Capital Lease Obligations $ 36 $ 3 $ - $ - 

P roperty A cquired Under Long - Term Financing A rrangements $ 6 $ 26 $ - $ - 
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I n fo r m ation Te ch n o l o gy Fund Other Funds L e s s :I n t ra-GSA Eliminati o n s GSA Consolidated Tota l s

2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

$ ( 6 7 ) $ 5 $ ( 2 5 8 ) $    (89) $ ( 3 8 ) $    (37) $ 208 $ 536 

2 7 25 6 3 - - 1 , 1 0 2 1,030 

- - 3 6 6 2 - - 3 6 6 2

7 1 - - - - 4 1 7 

2 8 - - - - - 4 7 ( 1 2 )

( 3 7 2 ) ( 5 8 ) 1 18 ( 5 ) 848 ( 3 6 0 ) ( 7 4 3 )

2 ( 1 ) - - - - ( 6 ) 11 

( 4 ) 1 1 1 ( 1 2 ) ( 1 1 ) - 2 4 ( 8 )

3 2 2 ( 6 6 ) ( 1 3 ) 9 5 ( 2 1 ) 2 5 6 19 

- - ( 1 ) ( 6 ) - - ( 1 ) ( 6 )

5 4 97 12 1 1 1 - 7 2 90 

5 ( 2 2 ) 1 0 ( 1 4 6 ) - ( 8 2 7 ) ( 1 5 ) 692 

6 9 ( 2 3 ) 6 2 ( 7 1 ) - - 1,196 1,142 

2 ( 1 8 ) ( 1 9 6 ) ( 1 6 0 ) ( 3 8 ) ( 3 7 ) 1 , 4 0 4 1,678 

2 6 - - - - - 2 2 8 242 

- - 1 - - - 1 3 

( 1 9 ) ( 2 8 ) ( 2 ) ( 8 ) - - ( 1 , 7 3 0 ) ( 1 , 8 2 7 )

( 4 ) ( 1 ) ( 1 0 ) 1 - - ( 9 ) ( 3 )

3 ( 2 9 ) ( 1 1 ) ( 7 ) - - ( 1 , 5 1 0 ) ( 1 , 5 8 5 )

- - - - - - ( 7 ) ( 6 )

- - 1 9 8 229 - - 198 695 

- - ( 6 ) - - - ( 1 3 0 ) ( 1 1 5 )

1 2 11 1 9 19 3 8 37 6 9 69 

- - ( 2 7 ) ( 4 6 ) - - ( 2 7 ) ( 5 0 )

1 2 11 184 202 3 8 37 1 0 3 593 

1 7 ( 3 6 ) ( 2 3 ) 35 - - ( 3 ) 686 

4 3 79 420 385 - - 4 , 2 2 8 3,542 

$ 6 0 $ 43 $ 397 $ 420 $ - $ - $  4,225 $   4,228 

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1 8 0 $      203 

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 3 6 $ 3 

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 6 $ 2 6



S u p p l e m e n t a l
I n fo rm at i o n



Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity A ct Report

J anuary 11, 2001

The President

The White House

Washington, DC  20500

D ear Mr. President :

I am pleased to report that the General Services A dministration ’s (GSA’s) management control and financia l

management systems, taken as a whole, provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of the Federal Managers ’

Financial Integrity A ct (FMFIA), Section 2 and Section 4 are being achieved.  The content of the enclosed FMFIA

report is based on information provided by GSA’s managers, as well as on advice provided by the agency ’s

M anagement Control Oversight Council (MCOC).  It is also based on the results of the audit of GSA’s Financia l

S tatements, which produced an unqua lified opinion for the 13th consecutive year.

M anagers have eva luated their programs and have attested that their management controls comply with the Office

of Management and Budget ’s (OMB) Circular A-123, M ana gement A cco un tabi lity and Con trol.  The responsible

systems managers and financial management officia ls have eva luated GSA’s financial management systems in

accordance with OMB Circular A-127, Financial Management Systems.

D uring FY 2000, management control issues surfaced from a variety of sources.  The MCOC, under the

cha irmanship of the Deputy A dministrator, examined a wide range of management issues that were brought to its

attention.  The Inspector Genera l, in his role as an advisory member of the MCOC, continues to provide useful,

constructive suggestions for improving the agency ’s management control and financial management policies and

practices.

D uring the past year, corrective actions were completed to correct a prior- year system non - conformance relating to

automated information systems security controls for three GSA Federal Supply Service (FSS) systems and their

associated IT systems environment. 

The plans and actions to correct our five material weaknesses and two rema ining systems non - conformances are

a ddressed in the enclosure to this letter.  I consider none of the weaknesses reported as critical to the performance

of the agency ’s missions. 

R espectfully,

Thurman M. Davis, Sr.

A ct i ng A dm i ni str ator

E nclosure
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SU P P L E M E N TA L IN F O R M AT I O N

A. STAT I S T I CA L SU M M A RY O F PE R F O R M A N C E

Section 2, Internal Control Systems

N umber of Material Weaknesses

N umber reported For that year, number that For that year, 

for the first time have been corrected number still pending

P rior Years 4 6 4 4 2

1996 Report 1 0 1

1997 Report 2 1 1

1998 Report 1 0 1

1999 Report 0 0 0

2000 Report 0 0 0

Tota l 5 0 4 5 5

Of the total nu m b er corrected, how many were corrected in 2000? 0

B. MAT E R I A L CO N T RO L WE A K N E S S E S

C a lendar Year Target Date for Correction C urrent Target

M aterial Weakness First Reported in FY 1999 Report for Correction

GSA/FPS Control Centers 1 9 9 5 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1

L evel of Federal Protective Police Officers 1 9 9 5 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1

M ultiple Award Schedule Program 1 9 9 6 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 2

R ent Revenue Shortage 1 9 9 7 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 1

S ecurity Enhancements in Federal Buildings 1 9 9 8 1 9 9 9 2 0 0 1

Section 4, Financial Management Systems

N umber of Non - conformances

N umber reported For that year, number that For that year, 

for the first time have been corrected number still pending

P rior Years 8 8 0

1996 Report 0 0 0

1997 Report 1 1 0

1998 Report 2 2 0

1999 Report 2 0 2

2000 Report 0 0 0

Tota l 1 3 1 1 2

Of the total nu m b er corrected, how many were corrected in 2000? 1

100
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GSA/Federal Protective
Service (FPS) Control 
Centers

A study conducted in FY 1995

disclosed significant risks related

to the GSA/FPS control centers.

The study indicated that, due to

budgetary and personnel

constra ints accumulating over

more than a deca de, the control

centers have been degra ded to a

point at which various systems are

functioning, but ra ise risk and

liability concerns about their ability

to provide an acceptable, efficient,

and effective level of performance.

The initial plan was to upgra de all

regional control centers with state -

of - the - art equipment; however, to

ga in economies of sca le, the project

has been redirected to consolidate

some control centers into mega -

centers and establish regiona l

dispatch centers.

Final transfer of alarm accounts

and telecommunication networks

for Regions 4, 5, and 6, is scheduled

for June 2001.  A deta iled review will

be performed by September 2001 to

ensure that the actions taken are

producing the intended positive

results.

Level Of Federal 
Protective Police Officers 

A material weakness in the Law

E nforcement Program relates to the

level of Federal Protective Police

O fficers (FPPOs).  As of September

1995, the level of FPPOs was 401.

This figure did not meet the

requirements that existed at the

time for Section 10 of the Genera l

P rovisions of Public Law 100-440,

which stated, "The A dministrator

of the General Services is

authorized and directed to hire up

to and ma inta in an annual average

of not less than 1,000 (fulltime

equiva lent) positions for Federa l

P rotective Police Officers. "

C ongress repea led the 1,000 FPPO

level requirement under Public Law

105-61, signed by the President on

O ctober 10, 1997.

GSA has developed a resource

a llocation model that established

the proper level of FPPOs at 724.  A s

of July 1, 2000, the number of FPPOs

on board was 547.  The GSA Federa l

P rotective Service (FPS) has

established a new uniformed

position, for which 71 positions have

been filled.  While there has been an

increase in the number of on - board

uniformed personnel, there has

been a decline in the number of

F P P O s.  In recognition of this, FPS

has taken a proactive stance and is

developing a recruitment package

that will extend our hiring efforts for

uniformed officers outside of the

agency and provide added

incentives for employment within

this agency.  Therefore, the new

projected completion date is March

2 0 0 1 .

Multiple Award Schedule
Program

Federal agencies collectively

acquire goods and services va lued

at billions of dollars annua lly

through Multiple Award Schedule

( M AS) contracts.  The MAS

program has several problems,

which were identified by agency

management and cited in Genera l

A ccounting Office (GAO) and GSA

O ffice of Inspector General (OIG)

audits.  First, the information that

GSA receives from vendors to

eva luate prices offered to the

G overnment is not always accurate,

current and complete.  Second, the

heavy workload in the MAS

program may adversely affect the

ability of contracting officers to

award the most favorable prices for

the Government.  Third, agencies

that use the MAS program may not

a lways comply with applicable

ordering procedures.

In previous years, this materia l

weakness was reported as a high -

risk area, because the solutions

necessitated the involvement of the

O ffice of Management and Budget

and, perhaps, the Congress.  A lso,

the Federal A cquisition Streamlining

A ct significantly altered the conduct

of Federal procurement.

I mplementation of this law

continues to be eva luated as to the

effect on the MAS program. 

O ther major milestones ca ll for

GSA to implement several contract

automation data actions.  These

include implementing a Contract

M odification Audit Tra il within the

F S S - O nline system and an Offer

R egistration System within FSS-

O nline by March 2002 and preparing

a revised action plan to establish

goa ls by June 2002.
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GSA Public Buildings 
Service (PBS) Rent 
Revenue Shortage

A ctual Federal Buildings Fund rent

revenues for FY 1996 and FY 1997

were $680.5 million less than the

amount needed to fund spending

authorities provided by the

C ongress.  Immediate action was

taken to identify and correct the

weakness in revenue projection

methodologies and procedures.  A s

a result, GSA notified the Congress

in July 1999 of its revised income

estimates for FY 1997 and FY 1998.

GSA continues to work to improve

its income projection and collection

systems and is streamlining both

these processes and the lines of

accountability for them.  PBS

a dopted a new billing system — the

S ystem for Tracking and

A dministering Real Property

( S TAR ) — with the implementation

of a new billing module in June

1998.  A budget - estimate module

was implemented on line in May

2000 and a rent - forecasting module

is due on line by September 2001. 

Security Enhancements in
Federal Buildings

I mprovements are needed in GSA’s

implementation of security

equipment and structura l

enhancements recommended by

the Building Security Committees.

The lack of programmatic controls

and approaches resulted in

concerns over the implementation

and reported status of security

countermeasures and the use of

designated security upgra de funds

for projects that:  (1) did not involve

a Committee - recommended

countermeasure, and (2) lacked

C entral Office approva l.  Since this

material weakness was identified in

FY 1998, GSA has taken a number

of steps to implement security

countermeasures and accurately

report their costs.  A ll corrective

actions are due to be completed by

June 2001.

C. SYS T E M S

NO N-C O N F O R M A N C E S

As required by Section 4 of the

FMFIA and the Federal Financia l

M anagement Improvement A ct,

GSA conducts an annual eva luation

to determine whether its financia l

management systems comply

substantia lly with Federal financia l

management system requirements,

applicable Federal accounting

standards, and the U. S.

G overnment Standard Genera l

L edger at the transaction level.

B ased on all review work

performed, the following two

reportable non - conformances were

noted.

Entity-wide System Security
Management and Management
Oversight 

D uring the past three years, a

review of several significant GSA

financial management system

applications disclosed control

weaknesses relating to logical and

physical access, access monitoring

and follow up, security awareness,

and related IT security program

implementation and oversight.  In

the absence of such controls and

oversight systems, IT system

resources rema in susceptible to

unauthorized access, modification

or undue risk.

D uring 2000, significant progress

was ma de to complete and issue a

comprehensive IT security policy

for GSA, establish a Center of

I nformation Technology Expertise,

and provide IT security tra ining for

I nformation System Security

O fficers and Security Managers.

H owever, additional remediation

actions are still needed to more

fully address this condition.

The Office of the Chief Information

O fficer (CIO) will take additiona l

and more aggressive actions to

further strengthen our enterprise

security management and

oversight.  Specifica lly, the actions

will be to :

■ E stablish requirements for

S ervices and Staff Offices to

resolve all IT security

v ulnerabilities detected by IT

security audits and reviews within

the minimum amount of time

necessary.  Completion date

M arch 2001.

■ M onitor action plans closely and

provide statistical aging reports

regarding completion of actions

monthly. 

■ C ontinue to provide or

recommend appropriate tra ining

for key IT security personnel with

the agency.  
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O nce all planned actions are

completed, we believe that this

condition will be corrected by

N ovember 2001.

Improved Controls Needed for
Systems Development and
Implementation Processes 

D uring three of the past four years,

a review of several GSA systems

disclosed that better controls were

needed relating to systems

development and implementation

processes within the agency.

S pecific improvements relate to the

need to establish and enforce more

uniform policies and procedures

relating to application development,

implementation and change

control.    

To address this condition, the CIO

plans to :

■ A ssess and report quarterly on

how well the Services and Staff

O ffices follow GSA application

development policies and

procedures.

■ E nsure that a mechanism to

enforce the established

procedures across the entire

agency exists by June 2001.

CIO management is currently

reviewing the existing systems

development policies and

procedures to determine changes

necessary to strengthen and

improve our agency - wide policies

and procedures.  When this review

process is complete, management

will develop and document

a dditional policies and procedures

that all Service and Staff Offices

sha ll follow when creating or

changing applications. The GSA

CIO has also hired a Chief

Technology Officer with direct

responsibility for developing an

agency - wide IT systems

architecture that will strengthen

the planning, configuration and

change management processes.

M anagement will develop

mechanisms for ensuring that all

S ervice and Staff Offices follow the

policies and procedures.  

O nce all planned actions are

completed, we believe that this

condition will be corrected by

N ovember 2001.

Actions Completed To
Remediate 1997 System 
Non-conformance   

D uring 2000, all planned

remediation actions were

completed by FSS management to

improve security controls for three

FSS systems.  This condition ha d

previously been reported as a

system non - conformance since FY

1997.  

A ctions completed by FSS to

improve IT systems security for

their systems included the

development of security plans, the

conduct of system risk

assessments and the completion of

a System Test and Eva luations

(ST&E) for each of these three

systems.  In addition, FSS

completed related actions to certify

and accredit the data center that

supported the latter three FSS

applications, and enhance various

access controls perta ining to all of

their systems.  A ll remediation

actions perta ining to the previously

reported FSS system non -

conformance were completed by

June 30, 2000.

D. SU M M A RY O F

AD D IT I O NA L IS S U E S

I dentified below are five issues that

surfaced during FY 2000 which

merit disclosure in this year ’s

FMFIA report.  However, these

issues were not considered by

G S A’s Management Control

O versight Council to be materia l

weaknesses.

Contract Guard Program

The OIG identified a number of

problems that potentia lly

compromise the safety and

protection of Federal employees.

These included guards on duty

without va lid background suitability

determinations, guards lacking

tra ining to perform their duties,

and armed guards on post without

va lid firearm qua lifications.

C orrective actions have been

initiated to address the concerns

ra ised in the audit report.

C ompleted actions include

issuance of instructions and policy

to regional management for the

establishment of controls to

a ddress the report ’s

recommendations.
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Repairs and Alterations
Program

The GAO concluded that PBS has

ma de little progress in improving

controls in the Repa irs and

A lterations Program since 1991,

when GAO last reported on it.

S pecifica lly, funding limitations,

ina dequate program data, and the

lack of a strategic approach for

meeting repa ir and alteration

requirements are factors that

impede GSA's ability to satisfy the

multi - billion dollar repa ir and

a lteration needs of Federa l

buildings.  The OIG has also

consistently identified the

deteriorating condition of Federa l

buildings and GSA's ability to

provide qua lity workspace as a top

management cha llenge.

GSA has several initiatives underway

to address these problems.  GSA has

selected a software package that

each region will use to assess and

record the condition of each owned

asset and estimate the cost of

repa irs.  The information will then be

incorporated into the present

inventory repa ir and information

system and asset business plans.

GSA is also developing a 3- to 5-year

investment outlook to incorporate

client mission needs, market data,

and repa ir and alteration needs from

asset business plans and regiona l

portfolio plans.

Critical Infrastructure 
Protection Plan

The OIG noted that the effort to

improve security for critical assets

and cyber- based infrastructures

has fa llen short in GSA.  Only ha lf

of the cyber- based systems

identified as mission - critical have

been included in GSA's Critica l

I nfrastructure Protection Plan

(CIPP).  Furthermore, vulnerability

assessments of only 3 of the 52

systems in the CIPP have been

completed.  The audit report did not

conta in any recommendations to

GSA; however, the CIO in his

assurance letter stated that GSA is

working to resolve the issues

identified and is taking a stronger

lea dership role to continuously

strengthen the management

controls over programs.

Multiple Award - Indefinite
Delivery Indefinite Quantity
Contracts 

The OIG issued several audit

reports covering the use of multiple

award Indefinite Delivery Indefinite

Q uantity (IDIQ) contracts in all

three services — the GSA Federa l

S upply Service (FSS), the GSA

Federal Technology Service (FTS)

and PBS.  One common area of

concern the OIG found relates to

insuring that delivery orders placed

under these contract vehicles meet

the requirements for competition.

Within FSS, the OIG found that 19

of 29 delivery orders did not have

a dequate documentation to insure

that the requesting agencies ha d

provided vendors an opportunity to

compete.  Within FTS, the OIG

concluded that FTS must advance

the concepts of fa ir opportunity and

best va lue by moving to

performance - based task order

deliverables with price incentives.

The OIG’s review of PBS IDIQ

contracts found that the

G overnment might not be receiving

the qua lity and economies that

could be achieved through

maximizing the use of multiple

award contracts. 

GSA has either initiated corrective

action or is currently in the process

of developing corrective action

plans for all of the

recommendations identified in the

OIG reports.

Controls over the Integrity of
Rent Data

The OIG has become increasingly

concerned about the reliability of

data in the information systems

used by management.

P ricewaterhouse C oopers (PwC)

identified this issue in both 

FY 1999 and 2000, noting that a

reportable condition exists

regarding controls over the integrity

of rent data used to manage the

Federal Buildings Fund.

PBS is working to further enhance

management and financial systems.

PBS has identified some areas of

concern that need resolution.

D uring FY 2000, corrective actions

were initiated to begin to address

these concerns with internal teams

developing action plans,

implementing system

enhancements, and va lidating

system ’s data.



Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity A ct ReportI nspector General ’s Report on Management Challenges

N ovember 30, 2000

M E M O R ANDUM FOR DAVID J. BAR R AM

AD M I N I S T R ATOR (A)

F R O M : W I L L I AM R. BARTO N

I N S P E C TOR GENERAL (J)

S U B J E C T: G S A’s Most Serious Cha llenges

A ttached is a copy of my office ’s updated assessment of the most serious cha llenges currently facing GSA.  This

reassessment was prepared in response to a joint request from Senator Fred Thompson, Cha irman, Senate

G overnmental A ffa irs Committee; Senator Pete Domenici, Cha irman, Senate Budget Committee; Congressman

R ichard K. A rmey, House Majority Lea der; Congressman Dan Burton, Cha irman, House Government Reform

C ommittee; and Congressman John R. Kasich, Cha irman, House Budget Committee.

In addition, the recently - enacted Reports Consolidation A ct of 2000, S. 2712, requires that Offices of Inspectors

G eneral (OIG) prepare, as part of agency A ccountability Reports, a statement summarizing "what the inspector

general considers to be the most serious management and performance cha llenges facing the agency and briefly

assesses the agency ’s progress in addressing those cha llenges."  The A ct requires that OIGs provide agency hea ds

with the assessment 30 days before the due date of the A ccountability Report.

The Chief Financial Officer has set a goal of forwarding the A ccountability Report to OMB by January 17, 2001.  We

are hereby providing you with our assessment to afford you the opportunity to review and prepare any comments

you wish to incorporate in the Report.

If you have any questions or wish to discuss this, I would be happy to meet with you.

A ttachment
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UP D AT E D AS S E S S M E N T O F G S A’S MO S T SE R I O U S CH A L L E N G E S

This document presents the Office of Inspector General's most recent assessment of the six general issues that we

believe present major cha llenges to GSA management.  We have included descriptions of each issue, accompanied

by pertinent references to related audit activities, as well as actions taken by management as a result of the audit

recommendations.  We do not have any information that would suggest specific GSA programs may not be

achieving their goa ls.

MA NAG E M E N T CO N T RO L S

Issue

M ultiple management controls have

been replaced, through reinvention

initiatives, by fewer and broa der

controls, making it essential that

the rema ining controls be

emphasized and consistently

followed.  

GSA has been aggressive in

empowering staff to look for ways

to reduce administrative barriers to

promptly respond to customer

needs.  In simplifying existing rules,

operating procedures, and

guidelines, management eliminated

many of the checks and ba lances

previously part of the control

system, and now relies on a few

broad controls for documentation

and review of actions taken.  From

recent audits performed, it appears

that management is not adequately

ensuring implementation of the

controls that will help deter fraud,

waste and abuse.

Procurement

M anagement has been

emphasizing the use of credit cards

as a means of streamlining the

procurement process.  Individua ls

can charge any amount up to their

spending authority.  A warranted

contracting officer may have a

single purchase transaction limit

for the credit card corresponding to

the level of that person ’s purchasing

authority of up to $100,000.  The

majority of transactions are by non -

warranted persons at the micro -

purchase level of $2,500 or less.  The

A gency encouragement to use

credit cards whenever possible

significantly heightens the

importance of adequate controls for

credit card transactions.

The A gency has been empowering

staff to reduce administrative

barriers to promptly respond to

customers’ needs, regardless of the

method of procurement.  Concerns

encompass whether speedy

procurement is being atta ined at

the expense of appropriate

regulatory requirements and good

internal controls, and whether GSA

is getting the best price.  These

concerns take on more significance

when considering that GSA has a

direct impact on over $52 billion of

direct Federal purchases annua lly.  

Data Integrity

When passing the Government

Performance and Results A ct of

1993, Congress emphasized that the

usefulness of agencies’ performance

data depends, to a large degree, on

the reliability and va lidity of those

data.  Past audit work has shown

that data integrity has been

problematic within GSA’s financia l

and operational data systems.

G AO issued a letter to Senator Fred

Thompson on June 30, 2000

concerning its O bservat ions on the

G ener al Services A dm i ni str at ion’s

Fi scal Year 1999 Perf orman ce Report

and Fi scal Year 2001 Perf orman ce

P l an.  In that letter, GAO pointed

out that GSA did not provide, in its

performance report, reasonable

assurance that its performance

information was credible.  GAO

found that PBS and FTS addressed

data qua lity issues, but neither

attested to the overa ll credibility of

the data used to measure results.

G AO went on to say that FSS and

OGP did not directly address data

credibility.  In March 2000, GAO

issued a report that sa id, among
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other things, that GSA’s repa ir and

a lteration data were problematic.

G AO testified in June 1998 that

G S A’s security upgra de tracking

system had incorrect data, and in

O ctober 1999 testified that GSA’s

information system still lacked

completely accurate data on the

number and cost of completed

security upgra des.  Our own work

in this area corroborated GAO ’s

statements.  

OIG Work Done

In our R eview of the Phoenix Fleet

M ana gement Cen ter, Feder al Supply

S ervice, Pacific Rim Region, report

dated September 29, 2000, we found

that improvements were needed to

protect fleet service cards from

misuse, to ensure destruction of

license plates from vehicles removed

from service, and to have a more

efficient use of purchase cards. 

The Aud it of PBS’s Mana gement of

B ui ld i ng A cco unt A ct ivit ies report

dated September 15, 2000 showed

that in cases where the A gency

cannot rea dily assign costs to a

specific building, it uses holding

accounts to capture these costs in

the accounting system.  We found

that entries were incorrectly posted

to these holding accounts and were

not distributed to the appropriate

accounts.  Thus, controls do not

ensure that management decisions

are based on sound financia l

information.

O ur M ana gement Con trol Review of

P ublic Bui ld i ngs Service Office of

P rop erty Disposal, Con trols Over

P roceeds From the Sale of Surplus

R eal Prop erty, report dated August

21, 2000, showed that the Office of

P roperty Disposal cannot be

assured that transactions are

properly recorded and Government

assets are adequately protected.

C ontrols over transaction

recording, documentation,

separation of duties, access to and

accountability for resources, and

employee supervision are deficient.  

On January 28, 2000, we issued

R eview of Con trols Over Feder al

S upply Service Pay men t s.  We found

that management controls over

purchases ma de using GSA’s

purchase card are not adequate to

provide reasonable assurance that

payments are for va lid purchases.

We also noted that, in GSA’s current

management control environment,

payment can be ma de more than

once for the same purchase.

On September 28, 1999, we issued

M ana gement Con trols for Non -

R ec urri ng Reim bursable Work

Au thoriz at ions.  This was a follow -

on audit to our review of P B S ’s

I nit iat ives to Impro ve Space

A lter at ions, a report dated March

24, 1999, in which we identified

specific reasons for untimely and

inaccurate customer billings, and

G S A’s inability to recover some of

its costs.  We found that regiona l

management in PBS had not

consistently recorded or reconciled

transactional data, and was not

consistently reviewing ava ilable

performance data that identified

red flags. 

O ur review of PBS Oper at ions and

M ai n tenan ce Con tr act s, dated

S eptember 7, 1999, showed that

controls are not adequate to assure

that the services GSA pays for are

received and are needed.  This is a

nationwide problem, based on our

review of four regions. 

IN F O R M AT I O N TE C H N O L O G Y

SO L U T I O N S

Issue

As the application of information

technology (IT) becomes

increasingly preva lent within the

G overnment and impacts all

aspects of business operations,

G S A’s cha llenges in this area have

increased exponentia lly.  GSA relies

on its automated information

systems to perform its mission and

manage its operations.  Many of

these systems store sensitive

information such as persona l

employee data and contractors ’

proprietary information. 

Clinger/Cohen Act

The Information Technology Reform

A ct of 1996 (Clinger / C ohen )

changed the way information

systems are managed and

developed within the Federa l

G overnment.  A gencies are now

required to link all information

technology investments to their
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mission through the Capita l

P lanning Process.  The A ct also

requires Federal agencies to

appoint a Chief Information Officer

(CIO) responsible for developing,

ma inta ining, and implementing an

information technology

architecture.  Information

technology architecture ensures

that the requirements for an

agency ’s information systems

support the agency ’s overa ll

mission and goa ls; provide

a dequate interoperability,

redundancy and security; and are

consistent with standards by which

the agency eva luates and acquires

new systems.  

In implementing Clinger / C ohen, the

GSA CIO faces cha llenges in

coordinating with individua l

S ervices to:  (1) develop a GSA-

wide information technology

architecture; (2) ensure that

a dequate cost - benefit and

business - case ana lysis supports

new systems development; (3)

monitor each Service ’s compliance

with the GSA-wide information

technology architecture; and (4)

carry out Clinger / C ohen

requirements in performing centra l

management of GSA’s information

systems.

Systems Development

GSA is in the process of replacing a

number of its old systems, in

keeping with technologica l

a dvances. The National Electronic

A ccounting and Reporting (NEAR )

system, which records, classifies

and summarizes financia l

information and produces reports

on annua l, multiple - year and no -

year appropriations and revolving

funds, is being replaced with

Pegasys.  The Public Buildings

S ervice is in the process of

consolidating a number of systems

to improve their functiona lity under

a new client - server based system

ca lled the System for Tracking and

A dministering Real Property

( S TAR).  

M any of the IT projects are

designed to go beyond automating

current business functions and

create real change in the way that

GSA does business.  However, GSA

has experienced recurring difficulty

in deploying and ma inta ining

structured system development

practices that ensure the proper

development of requirements as

well as implementation of

prescribed system processes

through approved systems

development life cycles.  As a result,

GSA systems development projects

commonly experience schedule

delays and cost overruns, need

frequent redesign, have difficulty

sharing usable data between

systems, and spend a prolonged

period of time in development.  In

conjunction with the A gency ’s

financial statement audits

performed by an independent public

accounting firm (IPA), three

recently implemented applications,

ITO M S, STAR, and FEDPAY Version

3 were reviewed.  Development and

implementation weaknesses

associated with each of these

applications were identified.  These

were cited as a reportable condition

in the IPA’s FY 1999 Management

L etter and will aga in be cited in the

FY 2000 Management Letter as a

reportable condition.

COTS Solutions

M any GSA IT projects attempt to

minimize development cost and

deployment schedules by

developing systems based on

a lrea dy existing Commercia l - O ff -

The - S helf (COTS) software.  COT S

solutions appear to offer agencies

the ability to forgo lengthy

development of core system

functiona lity, and the ability to

a dhere to industry information

processing standards.  However,

the majority of COTS solutions:  (1)

require extensive modifications to

meet Federal agency needs; (2)

provide only a partial solution; and

(3) require interfaces with existing

systems that are difficult to

implement.  To that end, several OIG

audits, including audits of STAR

and Pegasys, showed that GSA

C OTS development efforts lacked a

formal risk management program

that would help identify cha llenges

associated with extensively

modifying and integrating COT S

products with many custom legacy

systems, as well as potentia l

solutions to mitigate those risks.

In light of the cha llenges and

complexity of successfully

modifying and integrating COT S

software packages into GSA’s
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current legacy systems

environment, GSA needs to more

effectively identify and manage

development cha llenges.  Because

no COTS product is specifica lly

designed to meet requirements

unique to an individual agency ’s

needs, it is imperative that

organizations fully understand the

requirements "gap" well before

implementation begins and ensure

that this gap can be accepted by

the organization without reducing

performance.  Later addition of

modifying capabilities initia lly

thought to be included in the COT S

product often requires expensive

custom development and usua lly

results in cost and schedule

overruns.  The implementation of

structured, verifiable systems

development and configuration

management activities would have

a significant impact in reducing

schedule delays, cost overruns, and

the number of redesigns.

Information Technology

Security

G ood IT security practices are

increasingly important in today ’s

business environment as GSA

interconnects its systems with

networks such as the INTERNET

AND INTRAN E T, which

significantly increase security risks.

F urther, system security plans and

features are needed to protect

G overnment IT resources aga inst

unauthorized access, to restrict

access by users and systems

personnel, and to guard aga inst

accidental modification or deletion

of data applications.  GSA’s

computer- based critica l

infrastructure area is also at

increasing risk due to threats such

as computer hackers, other

attempts at unauthorized access,

and viruses.  GSA needs to ensure

that complete risk assessments are

developed to eva luate

v ulnerabilities and determine what

security is needed.

The most effective way to protect

information and systems is to

incorporate security into the

architecture of each system.  This

approach ensures that security

supports agency business

operations, thus facilitating those

operations, and that plans to fund

and manage security are built into

life - cycle budgets for information

systems.  Management must ensure

that critical IT infrastructure is

identified and that adequate

security is in place to protect

business operations that rely on it.  

G S A’s independent public

accounting firm did penetration

testing during FY 1998, FY 1999, and

FY 2000, and found control

weaknesses over both the physica l

and logical access to GSA’s

financial systems.  These

weaknesses constituted a

reportable condition in the FY 1998

and FY 1999 Management Letters

and will be reported aga in in the FY

2000 Management Letter.

Contractor Performance

With decreasing staff levels and

increased specia lization within the

field of IT, GSA increasingly relies

on contractors to perform the

entire range of its IT tasks,

including development, testing,

ma intenance and administration.

S ound project management

practices are essential to (1) ensure

that contractor- performed IT

efforts fully support GSA’s vision of

an Integrated Information

A rchitecture and meet mission

critical information system needs,

and (2) assess vendor- completion of

tasks.  Control mechanisms are

essential to ensure that contractor

developed solutions function

properly.

OIG Work Done

O ur R eview of GSA’s Crit ical

I nfr astru cture Protect ion Plan,

report dated September 29, 2000,

disclosed that GSA has not yet

successfully implemented the

requirements of Presidentia l

D ecision Directive 63 in its Critica l

I nfrastructure Protection Plan.  The

C hief Infrastructure A ssurance

O fficer has not been fully

empowered to direct Information

technology security policies and

procedures necessary to implement

the Plan.  A dditiona lly, vulnerability

assessments and risk mitigation

plans for GSA’s mission critica l

information systems have not been

developed.  This report conta ined

no formal recommendations.  
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O ur September 29, 2000, A l ert Report

on GSA’s Impl emen tat ion of the

New Pegas ys Fi nan cial Mana gemen t

S ystem disclosed that ina dequate

planning and testing led to a

significant lack of progress in

implementing the Pegasys system.

S ince 1999, the Pegasys

development schedule has grown

from 3 to 6 years, and estimated

total development and life cycle

costs have increased from $34

million to $135 million.  To date,

approximately $39 million has

a lrea dy been obligated with only

part of Phase 1 of 4 currently

planned phases operationa l.  This

report conta ined no forma l

recommendations.

In our S ystems Aud it of Integ r ated

Task Order Mana gement System ,

Feder al Tec hnology Service, report

dated September 18, 2000, we found

that the scope and functiona lity of

the system have evolved rather

than being defined as a part of

system development life cycle

processes.  Ina dequate testing has

caused processing delays and

inaccurate financial records, which

may adversely affect GSA, client

agencies and industry partners.  

O ur R eview of Smart Card Init iat ives,

report dated September 11, 2000,

revea led that, while emphasizing

the award of the Government - wide

contract for acquiring smart card

services, GSA neglected its own

card implementation.  

We issued PBS Needs to Com pl ete

STAR Development and Impl emen t

M ana gement and System Con trols

to Fully Realize Impro ved

C ap abi lit ies on March 31, 2000.  This

report disclosed that despite being

operational since October 1997,

development is still on - going and

significant modifications are

needed to respond to numerous

user concerns, resolve software

problems, and provide additiona l

key capabilities.  A dditiona lly, as a

result of difficulties in

implementing system control

processes, weaknesses exist in

configuration management, testing,

database and system

a dministration, and system

security.  

O ur report of September 30, 1999,

Aud it of GSA’s Sec urity Con trols

O ver Local A rea Networks, cited

weaknesses in access controls and

configuration management. 

O ur September 25, 1998 report,

G S A’s Inf ormat ion Systems Sec urity

H as Not Kept Pace With Increasi ng

I n ternet and Intr anet Risks,

disclosed that security resources

are dispersed and controls are

lacking.  A dditiona lly, risk

assessments are needed to ensure

controls applied are adequate, and

GSA is lacking policies and

procedures on IT security to

a dequately manage the

development of Internet and

I ntranet capabilities.

PRO C U R E M E N T AC T I V IT I E S

Issue

GSA provides Federal agencies

with products and services va lued

in the billions through various types

of contracts, two of the most

preva lent types being the Multiple

Award Schedule (MAS) Program

and the multiple award task and

delivery order contracts, also

known as Multiple Award Indefinite

D elivery Indefinite Quantity

C ontracts (MACs).  

The MAS Program provides Federa l

agencies with a simplified

procurement process for the

purchase of a diverse range of

commercial supplies and services

from multiple vendors.  GSA

a dministers over 110 schedules that

produced sa les in FY 2000 alone of

$13.8 billion; and the volume is

expected to continue to grow.  

The MAS Program was modified in

August 1997, in part to implement

the Federal A cquisition

S treamlining A ct (FASA) and the

C linger / C ohen A ct.  These changes

eliminated both vendor

certifications of pricing information

submitted for negotiation purposes

and the contractual right to audit

such pricing information on a post

award basis.  Prior OIG MAS

contract audits reflected systemic

problems with MAS contractors ’

submissions of reliable pricing

information for purposes of

negotiating MAS contract prices.

These findings were ma de during
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periods when safeguards, including

audits and certifications, were still

in place.  Elimination of these

safeguards will likely lead to similar,

if not more serious, findings.

G S A’s Federal Supply Service (FSS)

ma de additional changes to the

M AS Program that now permits

contracting officers to extend

existing 5-year MAS contracts for

an additional 5-year period when

vendors provide assurances of price

reasonableness and assurances

that their pricing practices have not

changed since contract

negotiation.  FSS has been making

5 - year extensions routinely without

seeking preaward audits, although

significant MAS contract

modifications, such as extending

the contract term or adding

substantial new products to a

contract, should be the subject of

an audit in accordance with FSS’s

own Procurement Information

B ulletins.

This problem may be exacerbated

by FSS’s recent institution of an

E vergreen contracting program,

under which FSS awards MAS

contracts for 20-year periods (5-

year base contract, plus three 5-

year options).  With contracts of

this length, FSS needs to be

particularly vigilant in periodica lly

collecting updated commercia l

information and auditing that

information.

A dditiona lly, in July 2000, FSS

initiated Corporate Contracting

within the MAS Program.  This

initiative allows contractors to

consolidate some or all of their

individual GSA MAS contracts

under one contract.  The theory is

that, through consolidation, there

will be administrative cost savings

to both GSA and the contractors,

and that FSS should also be able to

leverage more favorable discounts,

terms and conditions due to the

larger contract volume.  However, it

appears that here, too, FSS has

ma de little provision for collecting

updated commercial pricing

information, with preawards on

significant dollar contracts at the

time FSS consolidates the

individual contracts into a

corporate contract.  Consequently,

FSS may not be able to make an

effective price reasonableness

determination on the new

corporate contract.  In addition,

FSS may be missing an opportunity

to negotiate prices under these

contracts that are, in fact, reflective

of the Government ’s total buying

power. 

F urthermore, the industrial funding

mechanism used to support the

M AS Program may have an adverse

impact on the prices negotiated.

FSS charges MAS contractors a

one percent (1%) fee on all sa les

ma de under the contracts.  This

mechanism constitutes a structura l

disincentive for contracting

personnel to negotiate lower prices,

or not to award a contract, since

doing so would reduce FSS’s

revenues. 

M ACs are appropriate when the

G overnment cannot predetermine,

above a specified minimum, the

precise quantities of supplies or

specific services that will be

required during the contract period.

GSA competitively awards, using

source selection procedures,

multiple contracts covering the

same scope of work and then, as

needs are identified for specific

tasks and products, the agencies

compete the task / delivery orders

among the contract holders.  The

use of multiple award contracts is

encouraged by the Federa l

A cquisition Streamlining A ct of

1994 to promote best va lue and the

fa ir opportunity for contract

awardees to compete among

themselves.  The competition is

intended to lower prices, obta in

better qua lity, reduce delivery time,

and improve customer service.

OIG Work Done

On September 17, 2000, we issued

Aud it of Orders Placed by the Public

B ui ld i ngs Service A gai nst Mult i pl e

Award Constru ct ion Con tr act s.  In

this review, we found that the use of

M ACs for construction work was

inconsistent and opportunities to

provide less costly and higher

qua lity services were not being

maximized.
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This review has been closed by

G S A’s Office of Finance, Office of

the Controller, the A gency ’s

resolution tracking office.

Management Action

PBS has drafted and circulated a

revision to the Management

A na lysis Review System  requiring

a dherence of ordering officia ls to

laws and regulations governing the

use of multiple award construction

contracts.

D uring our Aud it of FTS’ Use of

M ult i ple Award, Indefi nite Delivery

I ndefi nite Quan t ity Con tr act s, report

dated September 19, 2000, we

concluded that FTS must advance

the concepts of fa ir opportunity and

best va lue by moving to

performance - based task order

deliverables with price incentives.

C hanges are also needed for

several operational  processes and

strategies that inhibit fa ir

opportunity and the selection of a

procurement vehicle that offers the

best ava ilable solution to meet

client needs.  In addition, there

were opportunities for FTS to

improve its oversight function,

revenue collection techniques, and

contract administration. 

In the Aud it of Feder al Supply

S ervice ’s Use of Mult i ple Award

I ndefi nite Delivery Indefi nite

Q uan t ity Con tr act s, report dated

July 26, 2000, we found over 65

percent of the delivery orders

sampled were not supported by

documentation reflecting that

vendors were provided a fa ir

opportunity to compete for these

orders.  A dditiona lly, the orders

were not being reported to the

Federal Procurement Data System.

If the data in this system is

inaccurate, the information

provided by the Federa l

P rocurement Data Center is not a

useful tool for measuring and

assessing the impact of Federa l

procurements on the nation ’s

economy, nor the extent to which

sma ll and sma ll disa dvantaged

business firms are sharing in

Federal procurements.  

In the Aud it of FTS Wirel ess

Tel ecommunicat ions Services

P rog r am report dated July 27, 2000,

we noted that FTS is in the midst of

implementing many new wireless

program initiatives, but

procurement - related vulnerabilities

may impede program success.

There is no cohesive acquisition

plan or sufficient deta il to ensure a

proper and complete procurement

design.  

O ur Aud it of Consult i ng Services

P ro vi ded by the Public Bui ld i ngs

S ervice Thro ugh Reim bursable Work

Au thoriz at ions, report dated July 5,

2000, showed that while providing

financial and consulting services,

PBS did not fulfill procurement

requirements for full and open

competition, and facilitated the

award of task orders to consultants

at the customers’ request. 

O ur audit of Feder al Supply Service ’s

I ndustrial Fund i ng Fee for the

S c hedul es Prog r am, report dated

M ay 28, 1999, showed that the

current fee no longer approximates

a break - even position, generating

nearly twice the revenue needed to

cover program costs in the past

two fiscal years.  The excess

revenue is significant,

approximately $30 million each

fiscal year, and is expected to

continue.  We also noted that the

controls over fee collection,

including the verification of

contractors’ sa les reports and

management reports, need to be

improved.  

HU M A N CA P ITA L

Issue

As a result of organizationa l

downsizing and restructuring,

major program streamlining, and

personnel reductions through

attrition and buyouts, much of

G S A’s corporate knowledge and

expertise have been lost or

displaced.  A dditiona lly, GSA is

aggressively promoting speedier

and less burdensome ways to

purchase supplies and services,

extending its initiative to be more

responsive to its customers by

empowering employees with

greater responsibilities and

authorities.  Many employees have

been transferred or promoted into

procurement and contract

management positions of

responsibility without adequate
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tra ining and / or experience, and

have limited job knowledge.  

The loss of institutional memory

has fostered the notion of

knowledge sharing.  Federa l

spending for services related to the

business management concept

ca lled "Knowledge Management" is

expected to explode from $400

million per year to nearly $6.3 billion

over the next 5 years.  GSA has

created a position, known as the

C hief Knowledge Officer, to

promote knowledge sharing and

enhance GSA’s workforce skills.

S ome of the expected initiatives

will be in the form of changing

promotion criteria and funding

bonuses based on cost savings

attributable to knowledge sharing

practices or programs.

R ecognizing that the average age of

the employee in GSA is 47 years,

that less than 1,000 employees are

under 30 and nearly as many are

over 60, and that nearly ha lf of

G S A’s employees will be eligible to

retire in the next 5 years, GSA

launched an initiative ca lled the

" World - C lass Workforce."  A mong

its most prominent

accomplishments to date are the

promotion of a nationwide

recruitment and orientation effort ;

use of GSA’s University - O n - L ine for

a ll employees without requiring

prior permission or funding from

supervisors; and development of a

website that serves as an employee

portal on workforce issues.

The phased closing of the A gency ’s

distribution centers and forward

supply points was to begin in

O ctober 1999 and be completed

within 18 months.  Because of

continuing discussions with the

U nion, the A dministrator

announced that he was turning

back the clock and would treat all

operations as going concerns as

they were in mid - M ay 1999.  In

O ctober 2000, the case was

presented to the Federal Service

I mpasses Panel.  A final ruling is

anticipated by March 31, 2001.

S hould the closure proceed,

approximately 2,000 GSA employees

nationwide would be displaced.  A

number of the displaced employees

will be placed in other positions

within GSA.  Our concern is that

these individua ls may not have any

experience in the area in which they

are placed and may not receive the

proper tra ining and guidance

commensurate with their new

responsibilities.  

OIG Work Done

Follow-up Review of Contract
Workload Management

In our report of March 30, 1998, we

concluded that the A gency still

does not have a system to measure

the MAS contract workload to

ensure that there is a fa ir ba lance

of work among the contract

officia ls.  Some contracting officers

were carrying a much larger share

of the work than others were. 

AG I N G FE D E R A L

BU I L D I N G S

Issue

GSA is being cha llenged to provide

qua lity space to Federal agencies

with an aging, deteriorating

inventory of buildings and critica l

budgetary limitations in a

competitive environment.

It is estimated that it would take

several billion dollars to bring the

building inventory up to standard.

S ince the Federal Building Fund

generates annual revenue between

$4.5 and $5 billion, most of which is

committed to leased space costs,

operating expenditures, and

construction of new courthouses,

finding funds for needed repa irs is a

major problem.

GSA needs to determine which

buildings represent the greatest risk

from a safety and operationa l

perspective, which buildings will

yield the best return on investment,

what the Government ’s future

space requirements are, and how to

fund the highest priority projects in

a timely manner.

OIG Work Done

On February 16, 2000, we issued

Aud it of PBS’ Environ men tal

M ana gement Prog r am.  We

concluded that the A gency should

become more proactive in how it

views and acts on environmenta l

issues.  It needs to address issues

such as property contamination,

compliance with Federal and state

113
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environmental laws and

regulations, and liability for tenant

activities.  

Management Action

M anagement is in the process of

developing a nationa l

E nvironmental Management

S ystem.

PROT E C T I O N O F FE D E R A L

FAC I L IT I E SA N D PE R S O N N E L

Issue

G S A’s Federal Protective Service

(FPS) is responsible for developing

and coordinating national practices

to safeguard life and property in

GSA controlled facilities.  In light of

concerns ra ised by violent terrorist

acts, the Department of Justice

(DOJ) assessed the vulnerability of

Federal office buildings, and

C ongress appropriated funds for

GSA to implement DOJ security

enhancement recommendations.

S uch improvements included

a dditional security personnel and

the purchase, insta llation, and

operation of new security detection

devices.

GSA faced short timeframes to

rapidly expand FPS operations and

improve security measures over

Federal personnel and property.

R ecent OIG reviews identified

deficiencies in security measure

implementation and the reliability of

the related management

information tracking system.  GSA

is in the process of implementing

recommendations designed to

improve the security enhancement

effort.  Once federal facilities are

brought up to minimum safety

standards, FPS will need to ensure

that adequate personnel are

ava ilable to carry out its

responsibilities.  A lso, GSA must

establish an integrated security

program that will gather

intelligence, ma inta in technology,

and keep a physical presence

throughout the Federal and loca l

law enforcement community.

OIG Work Done

On March 28, 2000, we issued Aud it

of the Feder al Protect ive Service ’s

C on tr act Guard Prog r am.  During

the course of this review, we

became aware of conditions that

warranted management ’s

immediate attention.  We provided

three A lert Reports to management

on significant issues.  These issues

are incorporated into our overa ll

P rogram report.  We noted, among

other things, that hundreds of

guards were on post without va lid

suitability determinations; guards

lacked the tra ining necessary to

perform their duties; armed guards

were on post without va lid firearm

qua lifications; and contract

enforcement and oversight were not

consistent. 

In our R eview of FPS Eff orts to

R esolve Con tr act Guard Deficien cies

in New Jersey, report dated May 16,

2000, we found that only limited

improvements have resulted.  The

contractor is still largely non -

compliant with critical contractua l

requirements such as tra ining,

testing, and supervision.  In

a ddition, due to difficulties in

obta ining weapon permits, the

contractor continues to staff

unarmed guards at posts that

should be armed.  Since

management asked us to conduct

this follow - up review, our report did

not conta in forma l

recommendations. 

In our March 24, 1999 report, Aud it

of Sec urity Measures for New and

R eno vated Feder al Faci lit ies, we

concluded that GSA was applying

enhanced standards where

possible; however, the standards

were too new to have been applied

to every phase of all current

building projects.  We did note that

GSA had not used assessment

standards when considering

commercial properties for new

leases of space.  In addition, certa in

regional personnel were unclear

regarding which PBS work units

should have lead responsibility for

ensuring that security

considerations are factored into

each phase of project development.  

Management Action

PBS has drafted an instructiona l

letter that establishes the A gency ’s

policy on the posting of sensitive,

but unclassified, information on the

I nternet relating to the security of

owned or leased Federal facilities.

We reported, on September 14,

1998, that our review of the Feder al

P rotect ive Service ’s Prog r am for

U pg r ad i ng Sec urity at Feder al
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Faci lit ies disclosed that the

database used for reporting

regional status of security

enhancement countermeasures to

C entral Office was unreliable.

D uring the course of that review,

we issued two A lert Reports, dated

February 11 and June 29, 1998,

informing management of

significant audit concerns that

warranted immediate attention. 

Management Action

FPS has developed a new security

countermeasure tracking system,

intended to capture critica l

information elements lacking from

the original system, such as actua l

costs, excess inventory, and

enhanced editing capabilities.

Aud it of Clear an ce Procedures for

C hi ld Care Cen ter Employees, report

dated November 14, 2000, shows

that while there have been

measurable improvements in the

processing of background checks

over the past few years, too much

time elapses before the background

check process for new employees is

initiated, causing serious safety

concerns.  Providers do not have a

clear understanding of the

necessary requirements in the

process and licensing agreements

lack sufficient deta il in this regard.

GSA personnel are not always

enforcing policies, and FPS is not

processing the paperwork as early

as possible.  Fina lly, there are delays

in submitting the paperwork and

scheduling of appointments.  

We conducted a R eview of GSA’s

B ui ld i ng A ccess Con trols at a Major

Feder al Install at ion, and issued our

report on September 19, 2000.

B ecause of a variety of security

ba dges currently being used by

GSA and the other tenant agencies

within the insta llation, it is difficult

for the security personnel to

discern the va lidity of the ba dges

and, genera lly, anyone is allowed to

enter the building if they display any

kind of identification ba dge.  A lso,

GSA has no formal procedure to

ensure that card keys are

deactivated or security ba dges are

returned when a holder no longer

has a va lid need for routine access

to buildings at the facility.

M egacen ter Prog r am, Feder al

P rotect ive Service, was reviewed

and our report was issued on

J anuary 30, 1998.  Because of

personnel shortages and a lack of

financial resources, the A gency

was planning to consolidate

regional security control centers

into four megacenters.  We

concluded that the megacenters

could be used effectively to

perform the functions of severa l

control centers.  To ensure that the

concept is implemented as planned,

we offered some suggestions,

including: accessing crimina l

justice information systems in

other states; developing

contingency plans in case of a

natural disaster; and ensuring

technological upgra des and

preventive ma intenance of alarm

systems. 

On December 1, 1998, we reported

on our Aud it of the Avai l abi lity of

Feder al Bui ld i ng Design Plans.  We

found that these design plans were,

in many cases, ava ilable to the

general public through severa l

sources and were under

consideration for inclusion on

I nternet web sites.  We concluded

that GSA needed to reeva luate

current policy to determine when

public access to plans represents a

security threat, and decide if policy

changes should be ma de, in light of

the A gency ’s responsibility to

safeguard property and lives.  

Programs Not Achieving

Intended Results

We are not aware of any GSA

program that is completely fa iling

to meet its intended results. 
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February 14, 2001

The Reports Consolidation A ct of 2000 requires each agency head to assess the completeness and

reliability of the performance and financial data used in the report.  I am pleased to deliver this

assessment :

1 ) The financial data used in the report are complete and reliable.  I base this assessment on the

unbroken series of 13 unqua lified opinions GSA has received on its financial statements.  However,

three non - material weaknesses in GSA’s financial reporting and operations are identified in this

year ’s Independent A ccountants’ Report.  We intend to follow their guidance in addressing these

issues.

2 ) The performance data used in this report are genera lly complete and reliable.  However, in

conformance with recommendations ma de by the Office of the Inspector Genera l, improvements

are underway to increase our confidence in the data.  Briefly, we are taking the following actions :

■ We are reviewing the procedures used to collect performance data and the basis on which an

assertion of va lidity can be ma de at the program activity level.  In some cases this review may lea d

to an enhancement of the written documentation for the procedures or systems being used.

S imilarly, there must be current, clear designations of responsibility for data collection and review.

■ O ne of the areas identified as non - material weaknesses by the Independent A ccountants involved

the STAR system in the Public Buildings Service.  STAR is a source of both financial and

performance data.  Improvements to the STAR system will have a favorable impact on the

completeness and reliability of both financial and performance data.

We are committed to continuously improving our ability to measure our work and to use these

measurements to continuously enhance the qua lity of our service to our Federal customers and,

through them, to all taxpayers.

Thurman Davis

A ct i ng A dm i ni str ator

M anagement A ssesment of Performance Measures
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I nspector General ’s Semiannual Reports to the Congress

EX E C U T I V E SU M M A RY F O RT H E

PE R I O D OC TO B E R 1, 1999–
MA R C H 31, 2000

This period we continued to provide

our wide variety of tra ditiona l

services, including program

eva luations, contract and financia l

auditing, management control

reviews, investigative coverage,

litigation support in contract

cla ims, civil fraud and enforcement

actions, and criminal prosecutions.

In addition, we provided

professional assistance through

enhanced consulting services

designed to quickly inform

management of potentia lly serious

deficiencies or other concerns prior

to completion of all ana lytical work

and formal report issuance.  We

a lso continued our work in

a ddressing what we believe are the

major issues facing GSA.

Major Issues

In this report, we have highlighted a

number of reviews that address

major management issues facing

GSA.  These reviews cover a variety

of areas from information

technology to protection of Federa l

facilities.  In December 1999, we

identified to members of the

C ongressional lea dership the most

serious management cha llenges

currently facing the A gency.  For

this period, some of these

cha llenges are in the areas of

Federal facilities and personnel

protection, information technology,

management controls, and aging

Federal buildings.  Other major

issues are being addressed through

ongoing and planned reviews.

Protection of Federal Facilities
and Personnel

As part of our ongoing review of

G S A’s efforts to improve the safety

and security of Federal employees

and buildings, we performed an

ana lysis of GSA’s Contract Security

G uard Program.  We found severa l

conditions that warranted

management ’s immediate attention

including:  hundreds of guards were

on post without va lid clearances or

background checks; guards were

not tra ined in the proper use of

security equipment; armed guards

did not have va lid firearms

qua lifications; unarmed guards

were stationed at posts requiring

armed guards; and, approximately

one - ha lf of all guard applicants

fa iled the new National Contract

G uard Examination.  We reported

that improvements in

programmatic controls and

oversight are needed to ensure that

guards are properly tra ined and

qua lified to perform their duties.

We also concluded that the

C ontract Guard Program lacks

sufficient controls to ensure that all

guards have been properly cleared

and have received sufficient

tra ining to enable them to properly

perform their duties.  We reported

that these conditions warrant a

material weakness designation and

should be reported under the

Federal Managers’ Financia l

I ntegrity A ct in FY 2000.

Information Technology 

G S A’s cha llenges are increasing as

the application of information

technology becomes universa l

within the Government and impacts

a ll aspects of business operations.

The A gency relies on its automated

information systems to perform its

mission and manage its operations.

O ne such system, the System for

Tracking and A dministering Rea l

P roperty (STAR), was designed to

help GSA more effectively manage

over 8,000 Federal properties and

over $5.5 billion in annual renta l

billings.  A lthough significant

progress has been ma de in

implementing STAR, we found that

S TAR users are still facing many

technical and operationa l

difficulties.  For example, system

requirements and capabilities are

constantly changing, GSA has

limited day - to - day control over the

contractor- managed system, and

system controls are ina dequate to

protect aga inst disruption of

system functions.  Several of these

problems exist because of the lack

of an overa ll systems development

plan deta iling software, hardware,

and functional requirements.

M anagement needs to develop a

project plan with sufficient project

staff and lea dership to ensure

successful system performance. 
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Management Controls

We issued several reports this

period addressing management

controls, centering on payments to

credit card vendors, purchase card

transactions by GSA employees,

and administration of performance -

based contracts.  The use of GSA’s

purchase cards for procuring

products and services has

increased dramatica lly in recent

years.  Payments to credit card

vendors for 9 months ending June

1999 tota led about $99 million.

Federal procurement reform has

ma de using the card simple,

convenient, and fast.  However, in

our control reviews, we found that

controls over card purchases do not

provide reasonable assurance that

payments are for va lid purchases,

that approving officia ls are notified

of all purchases, and that duplicate

payments are prevented.  We also

noted that refresher- tra ining

requirements are insufficient to

keep card holders current and

updated on proper card use.  We

a lso found that some card users did

not keep records of products or

services ordered or received, and

credit card billings had not been

verified for accuracy.  We

recommended that controls over

card purchases be improved to

strengthen the overa ll purchase

card programs.  These

improvements include ensuring

approving officia ls monitor and

verify card charges and ensuring

card holders keep accurate

purchase records and perform

required reconciliations with card

statements.

M anagement requested that we

eva luate the procedures they

established to monitor certa in

credit card transactions for its fleet

vehicle operations and

ma intenance.  We concluded that

there was not a high degree of

assurance that credit charges were

va lid and reasonable under a

recently adopted program

permitting the use of VISA cards.

We found this was primarily due to

the system ’s lacking the capability

to monitor such transactions online.

S uch a vulnerability was exhibited

in our investigation and indictment

of a GSA employee for making

fraudulent purchases using a credit

card.  Management is working to

correct this problem.  Once

corrected, this should improve

G S A’s ability to monitor card

charges and help to improve

assurance levels.

We also concluded that

management practices for

a dministering performance - based

custodial contracts were not

effective in one region and resulted

in service delivery deficiencies

exceeding acceptable levels.

D espite customer compla ints, GSA

continued to renew contracts rather

than enforce remedies ava ilable

under the terms of the contract.  

Aging Federal Buildings

In our last semiannual report, we

a lerted management to significant

hea lth and safety concerns at

several Federal facilities identified

during our review of a regiona l

P roperty Management Center.  We

completed our review this period,

and reported additional concerns

with repa ir and ma intenance of

buildings, and a need to strengthen

controls to ensure that all service

contract employees have security

clearances.  We also referred

questionable procurement actions

to investigative authorities for

further assessment.  

Other Program/Operational
Reviews

The OIG continued its ongoing

reviews of major programs and

operations throughout GSA’s

various components.  One of these

reviews involved an assessment of

the A gency ’s ability to provide a

safe and hea lthful work

environment in GSA-controlled

space and properties.  Tra ditiona lly,

G S A’s major environmenta l

concerns focused on asbestos and

polychlorinated biphena ls related

hazards in Federal buildings.  We

concluded that the A gency needs

to address issues such as property

contamination, compliance with

Federal and state environmenta l

laws and regulations, and liability

for tenant activities.  A lso noted

were the program ’s need to

eva luate regional activities, such as

managing asbestos in place, and

sharing information on a

nationwide basis.
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We reviewed the accuracy and

timeliness of real property reporting

for the Worldwide Inventory Report

and concluded that GSA has no

assurance that the inventory

reports provide accurate, timely,

and complete information on rea l

property assets owned and leased

throughout the world.  This has

resulted from communications

problems between agencies due to

system changes, agency

reorganizations, and staff

reductions.   Further, we noted that

GSA has no legislative authority to

enforce accurate data submissions,

and must depend on agencies to

voluntarily submit current rea l

property data in a timely manner.

In conducting a review of

contracting activities, we surfaced

discrepancies in data accuracy on

procurement actions.  Federa l

agencies are responsible for

collecting and reporting

procurement data to GSA’s Federa l

P rocurement Data Center.  We

found that GSA misclassified

certa in procurement actions that

resulted in one type of procurement

activity being understated by $196

million in Fiscal Year (FY) 1999.  We

suggested that more meaningful

contract action codes could be

helpful to Federal agencies.  We

noted that accurate information

would enhance the ability of both

the Office of Management and

B udget (OMB) and GSA to enact

sound procurement  policies.

Procurement Integrity

An important part of the OIG’s work

is to support the A gency ’s

contracting officers and to protect

the integrity of GSA’s procurement

programs and operations by

detecting and preventing fraud,

waste, and abuse.  Based on our

audit and investigative work this

period, the Government entered

into nine settlement agreements in

which companies agreed to pay

over $3.4 million to resolve potentia l

civil liabilities under the Fa lse

C la ims A ct.  These contractors

provided library lending services,

computer furniture, miniature

digital recorders, shredders, and

leased warehouse space.  The

settlements involved allegations

that the companies ha d

misrepresented their commercia l

discount practices, had fa lsified

certifications on construction

projects, and had conspired to

substitute inferior products in

violation of the Fa lse Cla ims A ct

and other statutory and contractua l

provisions.

We reviewed the two contractua l

arrangements used by GSA to

compete for the Federa l

information technology (IT) market.

O ne is the Multiple Award Schedule

which provides agencies an easy

way of ordering standard

commercial products and services

direct from vendors.  The other

arrangement involves multiple

award contracts that norma lly

require GSA assistance in

acquiring and administering

contracts for IT products and

services.  Our review originated

from a concern that costs of

duplication, if any, between the two

procurement options could

outweigh any benefits.  However,

we concluded that even though

similar IT products and services are

being offered under both

contractual arrangements, they do

satisfy specific needs of customers

and that clients, depending on their

needs, can select either option for

procuring their IT needs.

Criminal Investigations

An investigation conducted during

this period resulted in eight

debarment actions aga inst a

janitorial contractor.  It was

revea led that the company violated

employment provisions of the

I mmigration and Nationa lity A ct by

employing illegal aliens on a Federa l

contract.

A dditiona lly, we investigated the

conversion of Government surplus

property to personal use by a state

representative and her associate.

We apprehended a GSA employee

misusing credit cards and had a

contracting officer plead guilty to

ma il fraud.  A lso in this reporting

period, we completed an

investigation which resulted in an

employee plea ding guilty to

workers’ compensation fraud, and

performed an investigation into an

assault by a Federal Protective

S ervice Officer.
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Value-Added Assistance
Services

The OIG continued to provide va lue -

a dded professional assistance to

GSA through participation in

A gency improvement task forces,

committees, and working groups.

O ur representatives participated in

teams addressing the replacement

of GSA’s financial system (NEAR )

and assisted in establishing a

system of management and

information security controls.  We

a lso continued to participate in a

GSA task force established to

facilitate the construction of a

courthouse by responding to

requests for information on cost

a llowability and other contract

provisions.  In addition, the OIG

participates in a number of

committees and working groups

that directly affect our ability to add

va lue to the A gency, e. g., the

I nformation Technology Council.

We also participated in GSA’s Data

Warehousing Pilot working group to

test and direct data warehousing

for the A gency.  We met with the

P resident ’s Council on Integrity and

E fficiency (PCIE) Information

Technology Roundtable, PCIE

S ecurity and Audit working groups,

and the PCIE Government

Performance and Results A ct

working group. 

Summary of Results

The OIG ma de over $43 million in

total financial recommendations,

including more than $39 million in

recommendations that funds be put

to better use and over $4 million in

questioned costs; ma de 220

referra ls for criminal prosecution,

civil litigation, and administrative

actions; reviewed 227 legislative

and regulatory actions; and

received 890 Hotline ca lls and

letters.  This period, we achieved

savings from management

decisions on financia l

recommendations, civil

settlements, and investigative

recoveries tota ling over $46 million.

EX E C U T I V E SU M M A RY F O R

T H E PE R I O D AP R I L 1, 2000-
SE P T E M B E R 30, 2000

This period, we continued to

provide a variety of tra ditiona l

services, including program

eva luations; contract and financia l

auditing; management control

reviews; investigative coverage and

litigation support in contract

cla ims, civil fraud and enforcement

actions, and criminal prosecutions.

In addition, we provided

professional assistance through

enhanced consulting services and

the use of alert reports designed to

quickly inform management of

potentia lly serious deficiencies or

other concerns prior to completion

of all ana lytical work and forma l

report issuance.  We also continued

our work in addressing what we

believe are the major issues facing

G S A .

Major Issues

We have highlighted a number of

reviews that address major

management issues facing GSA.  In

D ecember 1999, we identified to

members of the Congressiona l

lea dership the most serious

management cha llenges facing the

A gency.  Some of these cha llenges

are in the areas of Federal facilities

and personnel protection,

information technology, and

management controls.  Significant

reports issued this period address

many of these critical areas.  Still

others are being addressed through

ongoing and planned reviews.  Our

efforts during this period focused

on the following: 

Protection of Federal Facilities

and Personnel

As part of our ongoing review of

G S A’s efforts to improve the safety

and security of Federal employees

and buildings and at the request of

the Federal Protective Service

(FPS), we performed a follow - up

review of a contract security guard

contract origina lly reported on in

our last report to the Congress.  We

found that only limited

improvements have been ma de.

The contractor rema ins largely non -

compliant with critical contractua l

requirements such as tra ining,

testing, and supervision.  In

a ddition, the contractor continues

to staff unarmed guards at armed

posts.  We strongly urged FPS

management to quickly consider

finding alternative contracting

sources.  We also performed a

review concerning physical access
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controls in a regional office

complex.  We noted that the

complex conta ined multiple entry

points, which can be accessed by a

card key system and / or security

ba dge.  Because of a variety of

security ba dges being used by

complex tenants, it is difficult for

security personnel to discern the

va lidity of ba dges; therefore, anyone

displaying some type of

identification ba dge is allowed

entry.  We noted that there is no

formal procedure to ensure card

keys are deactivated or security

ba dges returned when a holder no

longer needs access to the complex.

C onsequently, former employees

still have access to the complex.

Information Technology

GSA is in the process of replacing

its aging National Electronic

A ccounting and Reporting (NEAR )

system with a new financia l

management system known as

Pegasys, which is based on a

commercial off - the - shelf product

currently being used by 18

G overnment agencies.  Since 1999,

project cost estimates have

esca lated from $34 million to $134

million and implementation dates

have gone from 3 to 6 years. To

date, approximately $39 million has

a lrea dy been obligated, with only

part of Phase 1 operational on a

currently planned four- phased

project.  Continual changes to the

project scope, lack of deta iled plans

and tasks, insufficient project staff,

and contractor payments based on

hours worked rather than

completed tasks will make it

difficult for GSA to accurately

project and control Pegasys’ tota l

costs for both the development and

G S A - wide integration.  We advised

management to implement control

mechanisms to direct, monitor, and

accurately assess the contractor ’s

performance in developing

Pegasys.  A lso, an independent

oversight and verification and

va lidation process should be

instituted to review progress and

proposed system changes needed

as development continues.

We performed a review of GSA’s

C ritical Infrastructure Protection

P lan (CIPP) for implementing

P residential Decision Directive 63

(PDD 63), which is concerned with

the security of cyber- based

infrastructures of the United

S tates.  Our review was part of the

P resident ’s Council on Integrity and

E fficiency / E xecutive Council on

I ntegrity and Efficiency (PCIE/ECIE)

G overnmentwide review of Federa l

agencies’ infrastructure assurance

programs.  With respect to GSA,

we found the A gency has not

clearly defined operational roles

and responsibilities for protecting

G S A’s critical infrastructure, does

not include protection planning for

a ll GSA critical infrastructure

assets, nor provide for critica l

infrastructure security planning

into the design of new systems.

M oreover, GSA has not established

an A gency - wide process for

completing vulnerability

assessments and risk mitigation

plans for its cyber- based

infrastructure, as required by 

PDD 63.

We examined GSA’s efforts to

promote and assist Federa l

agencies in implementing the use of

a single "smart card" which Federa l

employees can use to acquire a

range of services including travel,

sma ll purchases, and building

access.  GSA established the

O ffice of Smart Card Initiatives

within the Federal Technology

S ervice (FTS) to provide

G overnmentwide implementation

and internal GSA coordination

across its Services.  A lack of

coordination of GSA’s interna l

smart card efforts has led to a lack

of standardization across GSA’s

S ervice lines.  We recommended

that the office responsible for

internal smart card implementation

have clear and measurable

standards to gauge its efforts.

F urthermore, GSA needs to clearly

communicate its specific

responsibilities and guidance for

coordinating, monitoring, and

standardizing the smart card pilots

and for full Governmentwide

implementation. 

In addition, we performed a review

of the FTS Wireless

Telecommunications Services

P rogram.  A lthough GSA is

currently planning new initiatives

a imed at improving wireless service

to Federal agencies, we noted the

need for a clear acquisition plan
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and the need to ensure adequate

competition.

Management Controls

We reviewed management controls

over proceeds from real property

sa les.  We performed this review to

eva luate if management controls

provide assurance that revenue

generated from the sa le of rea l

property and reimbursable services

provided to customer agencies are

properly accounted for,

appropriately monitored, and

safeguarded.  We found GSA

cannot be assured that

transactions are properly recorded

and Government assets are

a dequately protected.  In addition,

controls over transaction recording,

documentation, separation of

duties, access to and accountability

for resources, and employee

supervision are deficient.  We

recommended a periodic review of

the Property Disposal Revenue

P rogram and transactions,

development of more meaningful,

user- friendly reports, and better

guidelines to zonal offices.

D uring our review of a GSA Fleet

M anagement Center, we

determined that, while the A gency

did a creditable job of implementing

management controls over its

vehicles, improvements were

needed to protect fleet services

charge cards, a $411 million

program, from misuse.  We also

found that GSA should ensure

destruction of license plates from

vehicles removed from service.  We

recommended that fleet

management:  improve controls

over the approval for replacement

fleet services charge cards,

separate ordering and receiving

duties for the cards, verify the

deactivation of the cards for sold

vehicles, and ensure proper

notification and verification of

license plate destruction.

In order to make sound financia l

decisions regarding more than 8,300

owned and leased buildings, GSA

must continuously assess and

ana lyze the revenues and expenses

for each property.  We initiated a

review to determine if the A gency

has effective controls to ensure

that all operating costs and

revenues associated with a building

are properly assigned to that

building.  In some cases, when

costs or revenues are not rea dily

assigned to a building, GSA uses

holding accounts, which GSA

refers to as "dummy" accounts, to

capture these costs until they can

be properly assigned in the

accounting system.  In our review,

we found that entries were

incorrectly posted to dummy

building accounts and were not

redistributed from these numbers

to the appropriate accounts.  While

there was no material impact on

the financial statements, asset

management decisions could be

influenced.  For example, we found

over $345 million in new building

construction costs, repa ir and

a lteration projects, and project

costs associated with multiple

buildings that were not reassigned

to appropriate buildings.  We also

found that other capita lized and

depreciated costs were being

improperly passed through dummy

accounts.  We recommended

actions to strengthen controls to

ensure that costs are properly

a llocated.

OT H E R PRO G R A M/
OP E R AT I O NA L RE V I E W S

G S A’s Federal Supply Service (FSS)

is developing performance

measures for its acquisition centers

and linking them to its budget

justification, as required by the

G overnment Performance and

R esults A ct.  Based on a request

from the Commissioner, FSS, we

conducted a best practices review

of performance measures for

acquisition centers.  We met with

12 private sector companies and a

state acquisition agency.  We found

that FSS is using many of the same

key performance measures as the

private sector to help achieve

excellence in purchasing goods and

services.  FSS is also currently

refining its performance measures

to improve its management

practices and service delivery. 

Procurement Integrity

An important part of the OIG’s work

is to support the A gency ’s

contracting officers and to protect

the integrity of GSA’s procurement

programs and operations by

detecting and preventing fraud,
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waste, and abuse.  Based on our

audit and investigative work this

period, the Government entered

into six settlement agreements in

which companies agreed to pay

over $35 million to resolve potentia l

civil liabilities under the Fa lse

C la ims A ct.  In one settlement, we

obta ined over $33 million from a

company that sold defective laptop

computers to Government agencies.

O ther settlements involved

contractors who provided office

products, cushioning and packing

materia ls, and computers.  The

settlements involved allegations

that the companies ha d

misrepresented their commercia l

discount practices and ha d

conspired to substitute inferior

products in violation of the Fa lse

C la ims A ct and other statutory and

contractual provisions.

GSA has adopted the use of

multiple award task and delivery

order contracts (MACs) to aid

Federal agencies in selecting

contractors when the Government

cannot determine the precise

quantities of goods or services it

will need for specific tasks.  These

contracts, referred to as indefinite

delivery indefinite quantity

contracts, are designed to promote

competition among contractors,

lower prices, improve qua lity, and to

better meet agency requirements.

E ach of GSA’s Services developed

M ACs to meet customer

requirements and to promote

competition.  At the request of GSA

management, we reviewed GSA’s

use of these contracts.  Overa ll, we

found that each of GSA’s Services

used MACs but with mixed results.

For example, our review showed

that FTS clients have increased

their use of MACs when procuring

information technology services.

This has resulted in greater

flexibility and speed in meeting

customer needs.  However, only a

sma ll percentage of these

contracts complied with Federa l

regulations that require contracts

to be performance - based and

conta in pricing incentives.  The

P ublic Buildings Service (PBS)

P roperty Management Centers

used MACs to improve cost -

effective delivery of qua lity

construction services.  However,

their use was inconsistent

throughout PBS, resulting in

missed opportunities for less costly

services and better qua lity.  We also

reviewed the use of MACs under

the FSS Multi - Vendor Program.  We

noted that over 65 percent of the

delivery orders we sampled were

not supported by documentation

showing that vendors were provided

a fa ir opportunity to compete for

these orders, and that acquisitions

were not reported to the Federa l

P rocurement Data System.  We

ma de several recommendations to

GSA management to improve the

overa ll use of MAC s, by

documenting contractor selection,

ensuring vendors have a fa ir

opportunity to compete, and

strengthening controls over the

ordering and delivery processes.

GSA awarded national real estate

services contracts in four

geographic areas for a wide variety

of services, from administrative

lease functions to the full

acquisition of space.  We noted that

the service contracts are meeting

customer and A gency requirements.

H owever, we could not determine

the cost - effectiveness of these

services because there is no

mechanism in place to measure the

internal cost of operations.  We

concluded that GSA needs to

implement a cost accounting

system to help determine the

a dvantage of providing leasing

services in - house versus purchasing

leasing services through

commercial real estate firms. 

We reviewed the award of severa l

contracts used to provide financia l

and consulting services to two

Federal agencies and concluded

that GSA did not fulfill the

C ompetition in Contracting A ct

requirement to use competitive

procedures in all non - exempt

procurements for goods and

services.  We recommended that

officia ls provide for competition as

required by regulations and

contract clauses.

Criminal Investigations

The OIG is a participant in the New

York Electronic Crimes Task Force

that investigates

telecommunications fraud primarily
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involving Federal facilities within

the New York metropolitan area.  A s

a result of our involvement with this

task force, we completed

investigations that resulted in two

arrests, two indictments, and five

convictions this period.

A dditiona lly, we investigated the

fraudulent acquisition and disposa l

of Federal surplus property.

A nother investigation resulted in a

GSA employee plea ding guilty to

accepting a bribe from a

G overnment contractor.  We

performed investigations regarding

G S A’s $411 million fleet charge

card program and $157 million

sma ll purchase charge program.

We arrested a GSA employee for

misusing a VISA Internationa l

M erchant Purchase Authorization

C ard (IMPAC) and had another

employee plead guilty to

G overnment charge card fraud.  

Value-Added Assistance
Services

The OIG continued to provide

va lue - a dded professiona l

assistance to GSA through

participation in A gency

improvement task forces,

committees, and working groups.

We continued to participate in a

GSA task force established to

facilitate a troubled courthouse

construction project by responding

to requests for information on cost

a llowability and other contract

provisions.  In addition, the OIG

participates in a number of

committees and working groups

that directly affect our ability to add

va lue to the A gency.  For example,

we participate in the Procurement

E xecutives Council, the Information

Technology (IT) Council, and the

PCIE IT Roundtable.  We also take

part in the following working

groups:  GSA’s Data Warehousing

P ilot, PCIE IT Security and Audit

Workforce, and the PCIE

G overnment Performance and

R esults A ct.  Our Inspector Genera l

for Auditing is a member of the

C ost A ccounting Standards Board.  

Summary Statistics

The OIG ma de over $338 million in

financial recommendations to

better use Government funds; ma de

255 referra ls for crimina l

prosecution, civil litigation, and

a dministrative actions; reviewed

331 legislative and regulatory

actions; and received 1,124 Hotline

ca lls and letters.  This period, we

achieved savings from

management decisions on financia l

recommendations, civil

settlements, and investigative

recoveries tota ling over $119

million.

FI S CA LYE A R 2000 RE S U LT S

D uring Fiscal Year 2000, OIG

activities resulted in :

■ O ver $383 million in

recommendations that funds be

put to better use and in

questioned costs.  If adopted,

these recommendations

ultimately result in savings for the

taxpayer.

■ M anagement decisions to put

funds of $113.3 million to better

use based on OIG

recommendations.

■ 211 audit reports that assisted

management in making sound

decisions regarding A gency

operations.

■ 2 implementation reviews that

tracked the progress of actions in

response to internal audit reports.

■ $53 million recovered as a result

of management decisions to

recover funds, civil settlements,

court - ordered and investigative

recoveries.

■ 244 new investigations opened

and 185 cases closed.

■ 48 case referra ls (72 subjects )

accepted for criminal prosecution

and 21 case referra ls (28 subjects )

accepted for civil litigation.

■ 42 criminal indictments /

informations and 32 successful

prosecutions on criminal matters

referred.

■ 15 civil settlements.

■ 11 referra ls to other Federa l

agencies for further investigation.

■ 29 employee actions taken on

a dministrative referra ls involving

GSA employees. 

■ 26 contractor suspensions and 61

contractor debarments.

■ 508 legislative matters and 50

regulations and directives

reviewed.  

■ 2,014 Hotline ca lls and letters

received of which 192 warranted

further GSA action.
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EX E C U T I V E SU M M A RY

CO M B I N I N GT H E

SE M I A N N UA L RE P O RT S

F O R FI S CA L YE A R 2 0 0 0

In accordance with the Inspector

G eneral A ct A mendments of 1988,

the A dministrator of Genera l

S ervices reports directly to

C ongress on management

decisions and final actions taken

regarding audit recommendations

issued by GSA's Office of Inspector

G eneral (OIG).  The A dministrator

must also provide an explanation

when final action has not been

taken within one year of an audit ' s

management decision date.  

The A dministrator's reports are

statutorily required on a

semiannual schedule for periods

ending March 31 and September 30

of each fiscal year.  The information

below represents a compilation of

summary statistics from the two

reports issued for fiscal year 2000.

Where appropriate to be consistent

with this A nnual Report

presentation, six months tota ls

have been combined to reflect full

fiscal year performance.  

For a fuller understanding of the

statistics presented below, it

should be known that the OIG

identifies audit recommendations

for cost avoidance as "funds to be

put to better use" and distinguishes

whether the funds have or do not

have an impact on the agency ' s

budget.  Funds categorized as

having budget impact involve the

obligation process, and audit -

related savings of this category

may be ava ilable for

reprogramming.  Funds identified

as having no budget impact do not

involve obligated monies and,

therefore, do not have a materia l

effect on the agency's appropriated

funds.

D uring the fiscal year ending

S eptember 30, 2000, management

decisions were issued on 231 audit

reports.  Of this tota l, 136 audit

reports represented $13,553,055 in

disa llowed costs and $113,291,702

in funds to be put to better use.

The latter category is comprised of

estimated and actual cost

avoidance determined to have no

impact on the agency's budget.  

By the fiscal year's end, final action

was achieved for 134 audits with

management decisions identifying

disa llowed costs or funds to be put

to better use.  These audits

represent the recovery of $3,268,059

and the implementation of

$34,114,388 of actual cost avoidance

determined to have no impact on

the agency's budget.  

As of March 31, 2000, 84 audit

reports rema ined open without fina l

action a year after management

decision, with 16 of this total under

formal administrative or judicia l

appea l.  As of September 30, 2000,

108 audits rema ined open without

final action a year after

management decision, with 19

under appea l.  The full reports for

each semiannual period cite the

reasons final actions were not yet

taken on the open audits that were

not under appea l.

C opies of the sem iannual report s

may be obtai ned direct ly from GSA's

O ffice of the Chief Fi nan cial Officer,

U.S.  Gener al Services

A dm i ni str at ion, 1800 F Street, NW,

Was hi ngton, DC 20405.

A dministrator ’s Semiannual Management Reports to the Congress
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This chart sets forth GSA’s

performance goa ls and measures,

the baseline performance in 

FY 1999, the FY 2000 target and the

actual performance in FY 2000

aga inst the targets for the year.   

In addition, the symbols in the far

right column offer a quick at - a -

glance indicator of performance on

each goa l.   For example :

▲ indicates that GSA’s

performance exceeded its FY

2000 target for that goa l.

✔ indicates that GSA met the

target.

▼ indicates that GSA did not

meet its target on that goa l.

N / A indicates that GSA’s

performance aga inst that

goal could not be measured,

either because a target ha d

not been established or

because measurement ha d

not been completed.

In many cases, goa ls, measures,

baselines or targets have been

revised since the GSA FY 1999/2000

Performance Plan, as the agency ’s

program managers learn how best

to use performance measurement

in their operations.  Some goa ls

were changed in the course of the

year; some were discontinued ;

others were added.  The 52

performance measures reported in

the A nnual Report are consistent

with the results reported in the

GSA A nnual Performance Report

for FY 2000, which are summarized

here.  The full text of this report will

be submitted to Congress in a

separate document.

FY 2000 GSA Performance A gainst Performance Goals
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GSA Strategic Goal #1:  Promote Responsible Asset Management

C onserve Government resources and the assets in GSA's care and provide policies and best practices for

G overnmentwide asset management.

Generate a capital investment 
contribution of 2.5% to 4.5% of 
the functional replacement value 
of the owned (buildings) inventory. (revised)

Reduce the amount of non-revenue 
producing space in Government-owned 
buildings to maximize rental income.

Reduce indirect costs as a percentage 
of revenue in PBS.

Reduce the amount of non-revenue
producing space in the leased-space
inventory.

Maintain building operations costs in
office and office-like space to 12%
below private sector benchmarks.

Complete construction projects on
time.

Minimize cost escalations on
construction projects (revised)

Improve the percent of repair and 
alteration projects completed on schedule.
(revised)

Minimize the cost escalation rate for
repairs and alterations.

Improve the dollar-returned-to-dollar-
invested ratio for the real property
disposal process.

Contribution to capital as a of
functional replacement value of the
owned inventory. (revised)

Percent of Government-owned
inventory not producing revenue

Indirect costs as a percent of PBS 
revenue.

Percent of Government-leased
inventory not producing revenue.

Percentage difference between GSA's
operating cost/rentable square foot for
office space and private sector costs.

Percent of construction projects
delivered on time (weighted by cost).

Total cost of projects over $10 million
completed during the year as percent of
the total appropriation for those projects.

Percent of repair and alterations
projects delivered on time (Weighted
by cost).

Total cost of projects over $10 million
completed during the year as percent of
the total appropriation for those projects.
(revised)

Ratio of dollar-returned-to-dollar-
invested.

4.1%

13.5%

10.3%
(revised)

3.7%

13%

59%

0.8%
(revised)

69%

-2%

15:1
(revised)

4.0%

12.2%

10.7%

3.3%

17%

46%

5.7%

80%

1%

16:1

2.5%-4.5%

13.0%

10.7%

3.6%

12%

80%

2%

83%

2%

15:1

FY 2000 
Performance 

Performance Goal Performance Measure FY 1999 Actual FY 2000 Actual FY 2000 Target vs. Target

▲

▲

✔

▲

▲

▼

▼

▼

▲

▲
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GSA Strategic Goal #1:  Promote Responsible Asset Management (continued)

Hold costs at current levels while
expanding supply and procurement
support to Federal agencies, thereby
reducing cost per $100 sales.

Hold annual increases in cost-per-
mile for GSA Fleet operations at or
below the inflation rate.

Achieve an average 20% savings over
commercial "Black Book" prices for 4-
cylinder compact sedans.

Save taxpayers money by consolidating
additional vehicles into GSA's fleet.

Maximize cost avoidance through
reutilization and donation of excess
Federal personal property.

Provide increased opportunities for
employee development and respond
to employee needs. (new)

Organize, lead and collaborate with
Federal agencies to implement
requirements of Federal laws and
Executive Orders and address
Governmentwide issues.

Maintain up-to-date policies and
guidelines for those areas in OGP's
responsibility.

Identify and publish best practices for
those areas within OGP's responsibility.

Develop and promote performance
measurement systems for
Governmentwide use.

Establish and maintain a core curriculum 
of Internet-based courses and increase 
the number of training instances.

Improve the professional skills of
present and future Federal IT leaders.

Cost per $100 of sales

Increase in overall cost-per-mile
(CPM) compared to inflation rate.

Percent saved compared to "Black Book"
Invoice Price.

Average savings per vehicle
consolidated into the fleet.

New expenditures avoided through
reutilization and donations of excess
personal property.

Percent of the average FTS score on the
quality culture and organizational
climate survey.

Number of areas with interagency
committees

Percent of planned regulatory
changes completed.

Percent of processes completed.

Number of 12 OGP areas with
performance measurement systems

Number of Internet courses
developed.
Number of training instances.

Number of Federal IT professionals in:
1,000 by the Year 2000 
Trail Boss round-up
IRMCO
STAR seminars
CIO University

$2.85

0.7% CPM vs,
1.9% inflation

20%

$971

$1.9 billion

N/A

12 of 12

58%

92%

7 of 12

3 (revised)
11,157

857
140
460

N/A (new)
N/A (new)

$2.35

7.8% CPM vs.
8.6% inflation

27%

$689

$3.2 billion

74%

12 of 12

93%

100%

11 of 12

2
21,551

1,038
110
414
51
40

$2.66

2.4%CPM
vs.

inflation

20%

$717

$1.6 billion

70%

12 of 12

85%

100%

11 of 12

1
2,750

1,000
100
350
40
30

FY 2000 
Performance 

Performance Goal Performance Measure FY 1999 Actual FY 2000 Actual FY 2000 Target vs. Target

▲

▲

▲

▼

▲

▲

✔

▲

✔

✔

▲

▲

▲

▲

▲

▲
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GSA Strategic Goal #2:  Compete Effectively for the Federal Market

Be the preferred provider of space, products, services, technology and telecommunications for all Federal agencies, 

by efficiently and economica lly delivering consistently high qua lity and best va lue.

Improve the percentage of annual
lease costs for new leases that are
at or below the cost of equivalent
space obtained by the private
sector from 98.8%.

Increase Federal agencies'use of
GSA sources of supply by
providing additional products and
services and by making it easier to
access FSS products and
services.

Increase GSA's share of Federal
fleet.

Maintain savings of 45% to 47%
compared to commercial rates for
shipment of freight and household
goods and for small-package
express delivery services.

Assist Federal agencies in
achieving significant savings by
providing high quality products and
services at competitive prices that
the demand for IT Solutions
increases our overall business
volume to obtain 15% of the
Federal IT market.

Achieve and maintain an appropriate 
level of full cost recovery to maximize 
service to Federal agencies and effect 
the greatest advantage to the Government.

Acquire FTS2000/2001 prices that
are lower than and remain
competitive with average
commercial prices.

Reduce average monthly local line rate.

Maintain/increase the number of children 
of Federal employees who receive care at
GSA child care centers.

Percent of annual cost for new leases at
or below private sector.

Dollar volume of GSA Supply and
Procurement programs.

Percent of Federal fleet operated by GSA.

Percent savings from commercial rates.

Total business volume as a percent  of
the Federal IT Market.

Excess revenue as a % of total
revenues.

Percent FTS2000/FTS2001 prices lower
than commercial prices

Average monthly line rate

Number of children from Federal
families as percent of total children
receiving care in each GSA child
care center.

98.7%

.

$12.7 billion

44%

Freight 46%
Household goods

47%
Small Pkg. Exp.
Delivery 45%

13.7%

1 .67%

4.3%

$19.74

56%

98.8%

$16.3 billion

46%

Freight 46%
Household
goods 52%

Small Pkg. Exp.
Delivery 45%

14.2%

0.25%

25.7%

$18.81

55%

98.8%

$14.1 billion

46%

Freight 46%
Household
goods 47%
Small Pkg.

Express 45%

15.8%

-0.2%

15.0%

18.81

50%

FY 2000 
Performance 

Performance Goal Performance Measure FY 1999 Actual FY 2000 Actual FY 2000 Target vs. Target

✔

▲

✔

✔

▲

✔

▼

▲

▲

✔

▲
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GSA Strategic Goal #3:  Excel at Customer Service

Thrill our customers and agency partners by developing and delivering creative solutions to meet their 

needs for space, products and services, technology and telecommunications, and policy guidance.

Improve customer satisfaction for
security services. (new)

Improve overall customer satisfaction.

Improve the percentage of customer 
satisfaction for leased space.

Maintain a 90% customer satisfaction 
rating in newly constructed buildings.

Promote socioeconomic goals by maintain-
ing the current proportion of Schedules
contracts awarded to small businesses

Increase customer satisfaction with Supply
and Procurement programs.

Meet or exceed customer
expectations (Vehicle Acquisition
and Leasing).

Increase customer satisfaction with FSS
travel and transportation programs.

Increase customer satisfaction
with Personal Property
Management services.

Be customer-centric -Increase customer
satisfaction with FTS representatives and
products/services by 2.8%.

In response to the goals of customer agen-
cies and the Federal Government, achieve
and maintain an appropriate business
volume with small business as a percent of
prime contracts.

Be customer centric - Reduce
acquisition cycle times.

Improve accessibility to shared
databases and information on best
practices and policies for
Government, industry and the
public's use.

Percent of tenants that rate GSA's 
protective services satisfactory

Percent of tenants that rate GSA-owned
space as satisfactory or better

Percent of tenants that rate leased space
and services as satisfactory or better

Percent of satisfied customers

Percent of Schedule contracts awarded 
to small business

Percent of responses in the category
"highly satisfied"

Percent of respondents giving a "highly
satisfied" rating.

Customer satisfaction survey results 
(on a scale of 1 to 5).

Percent of respondents who report being
"highly satisfied."

Percent of customers indicating 
s a t i s faction with FTS re p re s e n t a t ives 
and pro g ra m s, p roducts and services on
annual FTS surveys by responding 4 or 5
on a scale of 1 to 5.

Percent of prime contracts awarded to
small business.

Average calendar days from request
for quotation to award.
Average calendar days from notice to
proceed to award. (revised)

Number of information systems
accessible via the Internet

85%

85%

85%

91%

77%

63%

78%

4.5

65%

79%

35%

12

16

7 of 9

N/A

82%

80%

N/A

77%

72%

N/A

N/A

68%

76%

36%

11

N/A

9 of 9

81%

81%

81%

90%

77%

63%

78%

4.5

65%

80%

25%

10

16

9 of 9

FY 2000 
Performance 

Performance Goal Performance Measure FY 1999 Actual FY 2000 Actual FY 2000 Target vs. Target

N/A

▲

▼

N/A

✔

▲

N/A

N/A

▲

▼

▲

▼

N/A

✔
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GSA Strategic Goal #4:  Anticipate Future Workforce Trends

D esign, develop and model future Federal work environments with state - of - the - art technology, innovation, and best

practices in use of space, furniture, equipment, telecommunications, contracts and other tools.

Increase the number of services and
products available to Federal customers
via electronic systems and Internet
connectivity.

Fill 100% of requests for alternative fuel
vehicles.

Increase the percent of audits performed
electronically.

Provide state-of-the-art equipment and
workplace environments to meet the needs
of the mobile Federal worker by making
available new and enhanced service
offerings and increasing the number of
actions awarded by 2%.

Establish policies, standards and best
practices to help develop an interoperable,
single face for government electronic
business transactions.

Provide a “single face”for industry to find
opportunities to do business with the
Federal Government.

Provide a prototype Federal gateway to the
Internet to make Government information
more accessible to the public.

Achieve 100% accreditation of all eligible
GSA child care centers.

Percent of Schedule contracts accessible
through GSA Advantage!™

Percent of requests filled.

Percent of audits performed
electronically.

Number of contracts and modifications
awarded,including all actions that
exceed $100,000.

Number of solutions developed and best
practices recognized
Number of guidelines developed
Number of industry collaboative efforts
Number of information-sharing initiatives

Number of agencies using the EPS
System (FedBizOpps.gov)

Number of links by WebGov (FirstGov.gov)
to other Web sites.

Percent of eligible child care centers
accredited by the National Association 
for the Education of Young Children.

23%

100%

25%

601

4

3
4
7

12

1,000 links

77%

35%

100%

40%

355

4

3
5
5

19

1,000 links

88%

50%

100%

40%

607

(revised)

4

3
5
5

20

2,000 links

85%

FY 2000 
Performance 

Performance Goal Performance Measure FY 1999 Actual FY 2000 Actual FY 2000 Target vs. Target

▼

✔

✔

▼

✔

✔
✔
✔

▼

▼

▲
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AC E S A ccess Certificates for Electronic Services (ACES) 

AD R A lternative Dispute Resolution 

A F V A lternative Fuel Vehicle

A N S W E R Applications ‘n’ Support for Widely - diverse End
U ser Requirements 

A R N et A cquisition Reform Network 

B PA B lanket Purchase A greement

C F O C hief Financial Officer 

C I N E M A E lectronic Commerce, Internet, 
and E-ma il A ccess 

C I O C hief Information Officer

C ITA C enter for Information Technology A ccommodation 

C KO C hief Knowledge Officer 

C P O C hief People Officer

C S C C lient Support Center

E B T E lectronic Benefits Transfer 

E F T E lectronic Funds Transfer 

E P S E lectronic Posting System 

FA I Federal A cquisition Institute 

FA R Federal A cquisition Regulation 

FAS T Federal A cquisition Services for Technology 

Fed B iz O pps Federal Business Opportunities

F E D CAC Federal Computer A cquisition Center 

Fed C I R C Federal Computer Incident Response Capability 

F E D S Federal Disposal System 

F E D S I M Federal Systems Integration and 
M anagement Center 

F E M A Federal Emergency Management A gency 

F F O F unds From Operations 

F I D N et Federal Intrusion Detection Network 

F I R M Foundation Information for Real Property
M anagement 

F I S S P Federal Information Systems Support 

F M F I A Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity A ct

F P P O Federal Protective Police Officer

F P S Federal Protective Service 

F R S Federal Relay Service 

F S S Federal Supply Service 

F T S Federal Technology Service 

G AO G eneral A ccounting Office 

G O R E G overnment - owned Real Estate 

G P R A G overnment Performance and Results A ct 

G R P I S G overnmentwide Real Property 
I nformation Sharing 

G S A U. S. General Services A dministration 

I D 3 I nternational Direct Distance Dia ling 

I D I Q I ndefinite Delivery, Indefinite Quantity

I F M S I nteragency Fleet Management System

I G I nspector General 

I R M C O I nteragency Resources Management 
C onference 

IT I nformation Technology 

IT S S I nformation Technology Solutions Shop 

L A N L ocal A rea Network

L M I L ogistics Management Institute 

M A A M etropolitan A rea A cquisition

M AS M ultiple Award Schedule

M C O C M anagement Control Oversight Council

M O B I S M anagement, Organizationa l, and Business
I mprovement Services 

N C R N ational Capital Region 

N E A R N ational Electronic A ccounting and Reporting
S ystem

O G P O ffice of Governmentwide Policy 

O I G O ffice of Inspector Genera l

O M B O ffice of Management and Budget

O I S O ffice of Information Security 

P B S P ublic Buildings Service 

P D D 6 3 P residential Decision Directive 63 

RWA R eimbursable Work Authorization

R & A R epa ir and A lterations 

S D C S olutions Development Center

S TA R S ystem for Tracking and A dministering Rea l
P roperty

S TA R S trategic and Tactical A dvocates for Results 

T M S Technical and Management Support 

T S C 2 Telecommunications Support Contract 2 

W IT S Washington Interagency Telecommunications
S ystem 

Y 2 K Year 2000

Acronyms Used in This Annual Report
A c ronyms and A bbreviations Used in This A nnual Report
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